World Journal of *Gastroenterology*

World J Gastroenterol 2023 December 14; 29(46): 6022-6094





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

WJG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Contents

Weekly Volume 29 Number 46 December 14, 2023

EDITORIAL

Emerging space for non-polyethene-glycol bowel preparations in inflammatory bowel disease-related 6022 colonoscopy: Veering toward better adherence and palatability

Pellegrino R, Gravina AG

REVIEW

6028 Frailty in end-stage liver disease: Understanding pathophysiology, tools for assessment, and strategies for management

Elsheikh M, El Sabagh A, Mohamed IB, Bhongade M, Hassan MM, Jalal PK

MINIREVIEWS

6049 Surgical complications after pancreatic transplantation: A computed tomography imaging pictorial review D'Alessandro C, Todisco M, Di Bella C, Crimì F, Furian L, Quaia E, Vernuccio F

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Basic Study

Exosome-mediated transfer of circRNA563 promoting hepatocellular carcinoma by targeting the 6060 microRNA148a-3p/metal-regulatory transcription factor-1 pathway

Lyu ZZ, Li M, Yang MY, Han MH, Yang Z

SCIENTOMETRICS

6076 Hotspots and frontiers of the relationship between gastric cancer and depression: A bibliometric study Liu JY, Zheng JQ, Yin CL, Tang WP, Zhang JN

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

- 6089 Albumin-bilirubin score in non-malignant liver diseases should be properly validated Pasta A, Calabrese F, Plaz Torres MC, Bodini G, Furnari M, Savarino EV, Savarino V, Giannini EG, Marabotto E
- Paying attention to the value of thrombelastography and the impact of postreperfusion syndrome on 6092 outcomes of liver transplantation

Wu YL, Che L, Weng YQ



Contents

Weekly Volume 29 Number 46 December 14, 2023

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Gastroenterology, Diego García-Compeán, MD, MSc, Professor, Faculty of Medicine, University Hospital "Dr. José E. González", Universidad Autónoma de Nuevo León, Monterrey 64700, Nuevo León, Mexico. digarciacompean@prodigy.net.mx

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Gastroenterology (WJG, World J Gastroenterol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of gastroenterology and hepatology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online. WJG mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of gastroenterology and hepatology and covering a wide range of topics including gastroenterology, hepatology, gastrointestinal endoscopy, gastrointestinal surgery, gastrointestinal oncology, and pediatric gastroenterology.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJG is now abstracted and indexed in Science Citation Index Expanded (SCIE), MEDLINE, PubMed, PubMed Central, Scopus, Reference Citation Analysis, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2023 edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2022 impact factor (IF) for WJG as 4.3; Quartile category: Q2. The WJG's CiteScore for 2021 is 8.3.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Ying-Yi Yuan, Production Department Director: Xu Guo; Editorial Office Director: Jia-Ru Fan.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS			
World Journal of Gastroenterology	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204			
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS			
ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287			
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH			
October 1, 1995	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240			
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS			
Weekly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288			
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT			
Andrzej S Tarnawski	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208			
EXECUTIVE ASSOCIATE EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	POLICY OF CO-AUTHORS			
Xian-Jun Yu (Pancreatic Oncology), Jian-Gao Fan (Chronic Liver Disease), Hou- Bao Liu (Biliary Tract Disease)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/310			
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE			
http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242			
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS			
December 14, 2023	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239			
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION			
© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com			
PUBLISHING PARTNER	PUBLISHING PARTNER'S OFFICIAL WEBSITE			
Shanghai Pancreatic Cancer Institute and Pancreatic Cancer Institute, Fudan University Biliary Tract Disease Institute, Fudan University	https://www.shca.org.cn https://www.zs-hospital.sh.cn			
© 2022 Paishidana Dublishina Carava Lag. All rights accounted 7041 Kall Contra Padrupar Suite 160. Plasanter - CA 04566 USA				
© 2025 Daisnideng i ublishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. A	741 Kon Center 1 arkway, Suite 100, 1 leasanton, CA 94500, USA			

E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



WJG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 December 14; 29(46): 6022-6027

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6022

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

EDITORIAL

Emerging space for non-polyethene-glycol bowel preparations in inflammatory bowel disease-related colonoscopy: Veering toward better adherence and palatability

Raffaele Pellegrino, Antonietta Gerarda Gravina

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B, B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Tu J, China; Wang YD, China; Hasan Ozen, Turkey

Received: October 11, 2023 Peer-review started: October 11, 2023 First decision: November 6, 2023 Revised: November 6, 2023 Accepted: December 1, 2023 Article in press: December 1, 2023 Published online: December 14, 2023



Raffaele Pellegrino, Antonietta Gerarda Gravina, Department of Precision Medicine, Hepatogastroenterology Division, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Naples 80138, Italy

Corresponding author: Raffaele Pellegrino, MD, Department of Precision Medicine, Hepatogastroenterology Division, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Via L. de Crecchio, Naples 80138, Italy. raffaele.pellegrino@unicampania.it

Abstract

Patients with inflammatory bowel diseases (IBDs) require repeated endoscopic evaluations over time by colonoscopy to weigh disease activity but also for different and additional indications (e.g., evaluation of postoperative recurrence, colorectal cancer surveillance). Colonoscopy, however, requires adequate bowel preparation to be of quality. The latter is achieved as long as the patient takes a certain amount of product to have a number of bowel movements suitable to clean the colon and allow optimal visualization of the mucosa during endoscopy. However, significant guidelines recommend preparations for patients with IBD not excelling in palatability. This recommendation originates from the fact that most of the studies conducted on bowel preparations in patients with IBD have been done with isosmolar preparations based on polyethylene glycol (PEG), for which, therefore, more safety data exist. As a result, the low-volume non-PEG preparations (e.g., magnesium citrate plus picosulphate, oral sulphate solutions) have been set aside for the whole range of warnings to be heeded because of their hyperosmolarity. New studies, however, are emerging, leaning in overall for a paradigm shift in this matter. Indeed, such non-PEG preparations seem to show a particularly encouraging and engaging safety profile when considering their broad potential for tolerability and patient preference. Indeed, such evidence is insufficient to indicate such preparations in all patients with IBD but may pave the way for those with remission or well-controlled disease. This article summarizes the central studies conducted in IBD settings using non-PEG preparations by discussing their results.

Key Words: Inflammatory bowel disease; Crohn's disease; Ulcerative colitis; Bowel preparation; Colonoscopy; Polyethylene glycol; Low-volume

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: Preparations based on polyethylene glycol (PEG) are most recommended for patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) undergoing colonoscopy. However, these solutions are not always palatable because they often require the intake of large volumes of solution, making it difficult for the patient to complete the entire preparation. This leads to a reduction in the quality of the endoscopic examination. Low-volume non-PEG-based, although excluded in the major guidelines for patients with IBD, are emerging as potentially safe in this setting, especially in remission or mild disease conditions.

Citation: Pellegrino R, Gravina AG. Emerging space for non-polyethene-glycol bowel preparations in inflammatory bowel diseaserelated colonoscopy: Veering toward better adherence and palatability. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(46): 6022-6027 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i46/6022.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6022

INTRODUCTION

Quality colonoscopy in the inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) patient has adequate bowel preparation as an essential prerequisite. Colonoscopy is, in fact, an imperative examination of IBD and encompasses a long list of indications, among which initial diagnosis, patient follow-up to weigh response to therapy, and colorectal cancer surveillance are recognized [1-4]. Bowel preparation requires the patient to take an oral formulation of varying constitution and volume to obtain a functional number of bowel movements to determine the cleanliness of rectal, colonic and ileal segments that can be explored by colonoscopy [5]. However, new retrograde modalities are emerging (*i.e.* colonic lavage) [6]. The pharmacodynamics of bowel preparations require patient compliance so that the patient ingests the entire formulation and follows any complementary indications (i.e. a low-fiber diet).

As a result, it tends to follow that patients' preferred preparations are those with lower volume, good taste (palatable), suitable dose dilution over time (e.g., split dose), and good safety profile such that they do not experience symptoms while taking the product[7].

However, the widely recommended preparations for patients with IBD are low (< 3 L) or high volume (at least 3 L) polyethylene glycol (PEG)-based preparations^[5]. This choice, while not axiomatically pursuing the goal of palatability, is necessary because most studies in IBD are available for this type of preparation and because safety studies have shown a significantly better safety profile for PEG solutions than for non-PEG-based solutions (e.g., magnesium citrate plus picosulphate, oral sulfate solutions)[8].

This paradigm, which has been going on for several years, has the potential to change the view of the new studies that are increasingly emerging on non-PEG-based and low-volume solutions.

WHAT PROFILE DO NON-PEG SOLUTIONS HAVE IN IBD?

Non-PEG preparations ordinarily have osmotic power, which partly affects their safety profile compared to isosmolar PEG solutions, especially for electrolyte disturbances [5,9] and mucosal damage [5]. PEG preparations are based on the principle that they, being nonabsorbable and isosmolar fluids, result in minimal electrolyte and fluid absorption or secretion by the gastrointestinal wall. Therefore, to achieve a purgative effect, they must generally be used in large volumes^[10]. The opposite principle applies to non-PEG preparations in that their cleansing effect is based precisely on osmotic potency rather than on accumulating nonabsorbable fluids[10]. Despite this, in a general sense, low-volume non-PEG preparations have several potential advantages for the patient employing them for colonoscopy.

First and foremost, these preparations do not have the disadvantage of requiring large volumes of preparation associated with lower adherence and patient preference or gastrointestinal overload symptoms (e.g., nausea, vomiting, abdominal pain) that often prevent completion of the preparation[11]. Additionally, PEG solutions are often poorly palatable due to their salty taste^[12]. The more excellent tolerability of non-PEG low-volume solutions compared with PEG-based preparations has also been demonstrated in a large meta-analysis of more than 20 randomized placebocontrolled trials in which, in terms of efficacy, these were also found to be non-inferior to PEG solutions^[13].

However, several studies are already available for non-PEG low-volume preparations in IBD (Table 1). These studies have produced compelling results in both clinical trial settings and real-world ones on such bowel preparation efficacy/ effectiveness rates and safety.

For example, the prospective CLEAN study in 2019 provided some results about sodium, magnesium and potassium sulphate (trisulphate solutions), sodium phosphate and sodium picosulphate preparations in 119 IBD patients[14]. In all the above regimens, patients had followed a split regimen and a low-fiber diet before colonoscopy in more than half of the cases. In only 18 cases, however, the indication was a flare-up of IBD, and, as a result, most of the patients had a Mayo endoscopic subscore[15] of less than 2 (*i.e.* endoscopically inactive IBD). Picosulphate preparation showed, in this study, a higher mean Boston bowel preparation scale [16] than 2 or 4 L PEG solutions (*i.e.* increased cleaning capacity). The safety profile, within the limit of low numbers, was acceptable in comparison with PEG preparations. Regarding tolerability, however, sodium picosulfate showed substantially more excellent palatability as well as less nausea, vomiting, and bloating.



Table 1 Summary of studies that examined non-polyethylene glycol-based bowel preparations in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases

Ref.	Bowel preparation	IBD sample size	IBD type, <i>n</i>	Sample age	IBD duration	Disease activity trend	Split regimen as Y/N or %	Clear diet as Y/N or %
Briot <i>et al</i> [<mark>14</mark>], 2019	MPS, NaP, PicoS	12 (MPS), 26 (NaP), 80 (PicoS)	CD: 8 (MPS), 14 (NaP), 57 (PicoS); UC: 4 (MPS), 11 (NaP), 21 (PicoS); Undetermined IBD: 1 (NaP), 2 (PicoS)	Median: 42.9 (MPS), 41 (NaP), 40.8 (PicoS)	13.9 yr (MPS), 12.9 yr (NaP), 10.6 yr (PicoS)	Remission, mild	58.3% (MPS), 84.6% (NaP), 55.6% (PicoS)	100% (MPS), 100% (NaP), 95.1% (PicoS)
Mohsen <i>et</i> <i>al</i> [17], 2021	PicoS + magnesium citrate + PEG	61	N/A	Mean: 39.7	N/A	Unknown	Y	Y
Rueda García <i>et al</i> [18], 2023	PicoS	31	CD: 18, UC: 12: Undetermined IBD: 1	Mean: 51.7	N/A	Mild	Y	Y
Kim <i>et al</i> [19], 2022	OST	55	CD: 18, UC: 37	Mean: 44.4	93.2 mo	Remission, mild	Y	Y
Lee <i>et al</i> [20], 2023	OSS	92	UC: 92	Mean: 47.9	7 yr	Remission, mild	Y	Υ

CD: Crohn's disease; IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease; MPS: Sodium, magnesium, and potassium sulphates; N: No; N/A: Not applicable; NaP: Sodium phosphate; PEG: Polyethylene glycol; PicoS: Sodium picosulphate; OSS: Oral sulphate solution; OST: Oral sulphate tablet; UC: Ulcerative colitis; Y: Yes.

Mohsen et al[17] also later weighed the efficacy and safety of an osmotically active solution of sodium picosulphate and magnesium citrate (with PEG added) in 56 patients with IBD. These determined less abdominal pain than the PEGascorbate comparison, albeit with a greater serum increase in magnesium and no significant differences in efficacy and safety between the groups. This study, however, did not operate a particular stratification by colonoscopy indication type and IBD activity. Another trial (i.e. EII-PREP) showed promising results regarding sodium picosulphate but, unfortunately, in only 31 IBD patients[18].

In a subsequent trial targeting patients with inactive IBD, Kim et al[19] reported a lower bubble score rate in the novel oral sulphate table preparations and higher palatability (including a willingness to reuse the preparation for subsequent colonoscopy) than the PEG-ascorbate comparison. The problem of bubbles is another technical aspect to consider when discussing mucosal visibility, so much so that the use of simethicone for this purpose is bleached out by European guidelines and also found beneficial for IBD[5,8].

The safety and efficacy profile was comparable. Lee et al[20] also reported a similar efficacy and safety profile (even considering changes in serum electrolytes) between novel oral sulphate solution and PEG-ascorbate in 92 patients with inactive ulcerative colitis.

WHAT PROBLEMS PLAGUE NON-PEG PREPARATIONS, AND WHAT IS THE MISSING PIECE OF THE PUZZLE TO ALLOW THEM FULL USE IN IBD?

Studies evaluating non-PEG preparations, specifically in the population with IBD vs the counterpart PEG preparations, have shown some homogeneity in reporting good palatability, tolerability, and safety results.

However, there are some drawbacks to consider. Such studies are generally conducted in low sample size settings. This phenomenon poses the problem of requiring more and more evidence from studies with larger samples and, therefore, greater statistical power and generalizability. The absence of recommendations for non-PEG preparations by major guidelines also limits the use of these preparations in clinical practice and thus counteracts the conduct of real-world studies weighing the real-life effectiveness of these preparations by adding new data[5].

In addition, in the available studies, the different disease activity IBD subgroups are not well represented, sometimes unreported and not always weighted by scores widely recognized as usable in IBD (e.g., partial and total Mayo scores, Crohn's disease index of severity, Harvey-Bradshaw index[15]).

Moreover, most available studies enrolled patients with mild or no endoscopic activity. This severely limits interpretation in cases of moderate and moderate-severe endoscopic activity. Indeed, the problem does not arise for severe acute activity since, in those cases, at most, rectoscopy is enough to perform endoscopic evaluation and exclude over-infections (e.g., cytomegalovirus).

One of the reasons for European guidelines to deny the indication of non-PEG solutions in IBD is that they have been described to be associated with a risk of mucosal damage about ten times higher than PEG solutions^[5].

However, this recommendation, although seemingly supportable, encapsulates in the definition of IBD the broad spectrum of different degrees of endoscopic activity. Therefore, a conditional stratification of recommendations that





DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6022 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Stratification hypothesis on the indication of non-polyethylene glycol-based bowel preparations in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases. ^aDisease activity should be determined by instruments explicitly designed for inflammatory bowel diseases (*e.g.*, partial Mayo score, Crohn's disease index of severity, Harvey-Bradshaw index). PEG: Polyethylene glycol.

considers a balance of the efficacy/safety profile for individual indications for colonoscopy should probably be advocated. In other words, one cannot treat an indication for assessment of disease activity (perhaps in a patient with moderate-severe clinical and biochemical activity) and an oncologic surveillance colonoscopy performed in a long-term remission setting in the same way. In the former case, safety weighs more than efficacy since the primary purpose of the endoscopist is to consider disease activity to select treatment, and the mucosal status is already objectively compromised variably. In the second case, where the disease is already well controlled, and the patient has a colon much closer to that of the healthy population, it is undoubtedly efficacy a parameter to observe (especially in patients without safety concerns) as a colonoscopy with a lower quality of bowel preparation may significantly reduce the adenoma detection rate[21]. This evaluation becomes even more relevant compared to high-volume centers performing high-quality chromoendoscopy for surveillance colonoscopy in IBD patients.

A large proportion of patients with IBD receive the diagnosis at a young age and are largely destined for repeated endoscopic evaluations over time. The most recent treat-to-target strategies[22] place endoscopic outcomes among the pillars for eventual IBD treatment discontinuation or switch. For such patients, therefore, under conditions where there are no particular safety red flags, palatable bowel preparations should be reserved, and research should move in this direction. The current evidence, even better if evaluated meta-analytically, could potentially argue for a modification of the recommendations in future guideline updates, probably by including those with IBD in stable remission, or at most in already known mild endoscopic activity, in the pool of patients who can take advantage of low-volume non-PEG preparations. These evaluations are tentative and need to be weighed by *ad hoc* meta-analyses that consider the efficacy-safety ratio of non-PEG low-volume solutions against the current standard of care to assess whether the formulation of recommendations (even with low evidence level) is possible.

CONCLUSION

New evidence has emerged regarding using non-PEG-based bowel preparations for colonoscopy in patients with IBD. Although limited by initial data, these preparations appear to possess sustainable and potentially safe use in patients with IBD in remission or with mild activity with no particular safety concerns of adverse events or post-colonoscopy flare-ups. However, net of this, major guidelines, including the European ones, indicate and recommend only PEG solutions for patients with IBD, encompassing all patients with IBD in this indication without making stratifications based on disease activity. Future guidelines for bowel preparation should weigh whether the currently available studies allow such stratification (Figure 1) by opening the possibility for patients with well-controlled IBD to the use of more palatable preparations for better patient compliance, greater validity of colonoscopy with adequate bowel preparation, and ultimately for greater patient comfort.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Pellegrino R and Gravina AG collected the literature, wrote the initial manuscript, conceptualized the table and figure, contributed equally to this work, conceptualized the structure of the text, critically revised the manuscript for important intellectual content, and read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Raffaele Pellegrino and Antonietta Gerarda Gravina have nothing to disclose.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

ORCID number: Raffaele Pellegrino 0000-0001-5074-230X; Antonietta Gerarda Gravina 0000-0001-8049-0115.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: United European Gastroenterology

S-Editor: Lin C L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Lin C

REFERENCES

- Kucharzik T, Ellul P, Greuter T, Rahier JF, Verstockt B, Abreu C, Albuquerque A, Allocca M, Esteve M, Farraye FA, Gordon H, Karmiris K, Kopylov U, Kirchgesner J, MacMahon E, Magro F, Maaser C, de Ridder L, Taxonera C, Toruner M, Tremblay L, Scharl M, Viget N, Zabana Y, Vavricka S. ECCO Guidelines on the Prevention, Diagnosis, and Management of Infections in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. J Crohns Colitis 2021; 15: 879-913 [PMID: 33730753 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjab052]
- Maaser C, Sturm A, Vavricka SR, Kucharzik T, Fiorino G, Annese V, Calabrese E, Baumgart DC, Bettenworth D, Borralho Nunes P, Burisch 2 J, Castiglione F, Eliakim R, Ellul P, González-Lama Y, Gordon H, Halligan S, Katsanos K, Kopylov U, Kotze PG, Krustinš E, Laghi A, Limdi JK, Rieder F, Rimola J, Taylor SA, Tolan D, van Rheenen P, Verstockt B, Stoker J; European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation [ECCO] and the European Society of Gastrointestinal and Abdominal Radiology [ESGAR]. ECCO-ESGAR Guideline for Diagnostic Assessment in IBD Part 1: Initial diagnosis, monitoring of known IBD, detection of complications. J Crohns Colitis 2019; 13: 144-164 [PMID: 30137275 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjy113]
- Sturm A, Maaser C, Calabrese E, Annese V, Fiorino G, Kucharzik T, Vavricka SR, Verstockt B, van Rheenen P, Tolan D, Taylor SA, Rimola 3 J, Rieder F, Limdi JK, Laghi A, Krustiņš E, Kotze PG, Kopylov U, Katsanos K, Halligan S, Gordon H, González Lama Y, Ellul P, Eliakim R, Castiglione F, Burisch J, Borralho Nunes P, Bettenworth D, Baumgart DC, Stoker J; European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation [ECCO] and the European Society of Gastrointestinal and Abdominal Radiology [ESGAR]. ECCO-ESGAR Guideline for Diagnostic Assessment in IBD Part 2: IBD scores and general principles and technical aspects. J Crohns Colitis 2019; 13: 273-284 [PMID: 30137278 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjy114]
- 4 Gordon H, Biancone L, Fiorino G, Katsanos KH, Kopylov U, Al Sulais E, Axelrad JE, Balendran K, Burisch J, de Ridder L, Derikx L, Ellul P, Greuter T, Iacucci M, Di Jiang C, Kapizioni C, Karmiris K, Kirchgesner J, Laharie D, Lobatón T, Molnár T, Noor NM, Rao R, Saibeni S, Scharl M, Vavricka SR, Raine T. ECCO Guidelines on Inflammatory Bowel Disease and Malignancies. J Crohns Colitis 2023; 17: 827-854 [PMID: 36528797 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjac187]
- Hassan C, East J, Radaelli F, Spada C, Benamouzig R, Bisschops R, Bretthauer M, Dekker E, Dinis-Ribeiro M, Ferlitsch M, Fuccio L, Awadie 5 H, Gralnek I, Jover R, Kaminski MF, Pellisé M, Triantafyllou K, Vanella G, Mangas-Sanjuan C, Frazzoni L, Van Hooft JE, Dumonceau JM. Bowel preparation for colonoscopy: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Guideline - Update 2019. Endoscopy 2019; 51: 775-794 [PMID: 31295746 DOI: 10.1055/a-0959-0505]
- Gajera A, South C, Cronley KM, Ziebert JJ, Wrigh CH, Levitan O, Burleson DB, Johnson DA. High-Volume Colonic Lavage Is a Safe and 6 Preferred Colonoscopy Preparation for Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Crohns Colitis 360 2022; 4: otac024 [PMID: 36777430 DOI: 10.1093/crocol/otac024]
- Millien VO, Mansour NM. Bowel Preparation for Colonoscopy in 2020: A Look at the Past, Present, and Future. Curr Gastroenterol Rep 7 2020; 22: 28 [PMID: 32377915 DOI: 10.1007/s11894-020-00764-4]
- 8 Gravina AG, Pellegrino R, Romeo M, Palladino G, Cipullo M, Iadanza G, Olivieri S, Zagaria G, De Gennaro N, Santonastaso A, Romano M, Federico A. Quality of bowel preparation in patients with inflammatory bowel disease undergoing colonoscopy: What factors to consider? World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023; 15: 133-145 [PMID: 37034970 DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i3.133]
- 9 Reumkens A, van der Zander Q, Winkens B, Bogie R, Bakker CM, Sanduleanu S, Masclee AAM. Electrolyte disturbances after bowel preparation for colonoscopy: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Dig Endosc 2022; 34: 913-926 [PMID: 35037327 DOI: 10.1111/den.14237]
- 10 Lichtenstein G. Bowel preparations for colonoscopy: a review. Am J Health Syst Pharm 2009; 66: 27-37 [PMID: 19106342 DOI: 10.2146/ajhp080084]
- Rutherford CC, Calderwood AH. Update on Bowel Preparation for Colonoscopy. Curr Treat Options Gastroenterol 2018; 16: 165-181 [PMID: 29404921 DOI: 10.1007/s11938-018-0165-3]
- Parra-Blanco A, Ruiz A, Alvarez-Lobos M, Amorós A, Gana JC, Ibáñez P, Ono A, Fujii T. Achieving the best bowel preparation for 12 colonoscopy. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 17709-17726 [PMID: 25548470 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i47.17709]
- Jin Z, Lu Y, Zhou Y, Gong B. Systematic review and meta-analysis: sodium picosulfate/magnesium citrate vs. polyethylene glycol for 13



colonoscopy preparation. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2016; 72: 523-532 [PMID: 26818765 DOI: 10.1007/s00228-016-2013-5]

- Briot C, Faure P, Parmentier AL, Nachury M, Trang C, Viennot S, Altwegg R, Bulois P, Thomassin L, Serrero M, Ah-Soune P, Gilletta C, 14 Plastaras L, Simon M, Dray X, Caillo L, Del Tedesco E, Abitbol V, Zallot C, Degand T, Rossi V, Bonnaud G, Colin D, Morel B, Winkfield B, Danset JB, Filippi J, Amiot A, Attar A, Levy J, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Vuitton L; CLEAN Study Group. Efficacy, Tolerability, and Safety of Low-Volume Bowel Preparations for Patients with Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: The French Multicentre CLEAN Study. J Crohns Colitis 2019; 13: 1121-1130 [PMID: 30785181 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjz040]
- 15 Kishi M, Hirai F, Takatsu N, Hisabe T, Takada Y, Beppu T, Takeuchi K, Naganuma M, Ohtsuka K, Watanabe K, Matsumoto T, Esaki M, Koganei K, Sugita A, Hata K, Futami K, Ajioka Y, Tanabe H, Iwashita A, Shimizu H, Arai K, Suzuki Y, Hisamatsu T. A review on the current status and definitions of activity indices in inflammatory bowel disease: how to use indices for precise evaluation. J Gastroenterol 2022; 57: 246-266 [PMID: 35235037 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-022-01862-y]
- 16 Lai EJ, Calderwood AH, Doros G, Fix OK, Jacobson BC. The Boston bowel preparation scale: a valid and reliable instrument for colonoscopy-oriented research. Gastrointest Endosc 2009; 69: 620-625 [PMID: 19136102 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2008.05.057]
- 17 Mohsen W, Williams AJ, Wark G, Sechi A, Koo JH, Xuan W, Bassan M, Ng W, Connor S. Prospective single-blinded single-center randomized controlled trial of Prep Kit-C and Moviprep: Does underlying inflammatory bowel disease impact tolerability and efficacy? World J Gastroenterol 2021; 27: 1090-1100 [PMID: 33776375 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v27.i11.1090]
- Rueda García JL, Suárez Ferrer C, Martín-Arranz E, García-Ramírez L, Sánchez-Azofra M, Poza Cordón J, Noci J, Vergés T, Blanco San 18 Miguel P, Martín-Arranz MD; IdiPAZ Study Group for Immune-Mediated Gastrointestinal Diseases. Randomized clinical trial evaluating three low-volume preparations for colonoscopy in outpatients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease: the EII-PREP trial. Scand J Gastroenterol 2023; 58: 656-663 [PMID: 36519504 DOI: 10.1080/00365521.2022.2153618]
- Kim KO, Kim EY, Lee YJ, Lee HS, Kim ES, Chung YJ, Jang BI, Kim SK, Yang CH. Efficacy, safety and tolerability of oral sulphate tablet 19 for bowel preparation in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: A multicentre randomized controlled study. J Crohns Colitis 2022; 16: 1706-1713 [PMID: 35689818 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjac080]
- Lee JM, Lee KM, Kang HS, Koo JS, Lee HS, Jeong SH, Kim JH, Kim DB. Oral Sulfate Solution Is as Effective as Polyethylene Glycol with 20 Ascorbic Acid in a Split Method for Bowel Preparation in Patients with Inactive Ulcerative Colitis: A Randomized, Multicenter, and Single-Blind Clinical Trial. Gut Liver 2023; 17: 591-599 [PMID: 36588527 DOI: 10.5009/gnl220202]
- Moein HR, Pervez E, Faidhalla S, Habbal H, Khan H, Wadehra A, Khalid M, Kakos D, Naylor P, Mohamad B. Role of Bowel Preparation in 21 Adenoma Detection Rate and Follow-up Recommendations in African American Dominant Patient Population. Cureus 2021; 13: e16065 [PMID: 34345550 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.16065]
- 22 Turner D, Ricciuto A, Lewis A, D'Amico F, Dhaliwal J, Griffiths AM, Bettenworth D, Sandborn WJ, Sands BE, Reinisch W, Schölmerich J, Bemelman W, Danese S, Mary JY, Rubin D, Colombel JF, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Dotan I, Abreu MT, Dignass A; International Organization for the Study of IBD. STRIDE-II: An Update on the Selecting Therapeutic Targets in Inflammatory Bowel Disease (STRIDE) Initiative of the International Organization for the Study of IBD (IOIBD): Determining Therapeutic Goals for Treat-to-Target strategies in IBD. Gastroenterology 2021; 160: 1570-1583 [PMID: 33359090 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.12.031]



WŨ

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 December 14; 29(46): 6028-6048

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6028

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

REVIEW

Frailty in end-stage liver disease: Understanding pathophysiology, tools for assessment, and strategies for management

Mazen Elsheikh, Ahmed El Sabagh, Islam B Mohamed, Megha Bhongade, Manal M Hassan, Prasun Kumar Jalal

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Jiang W, China; Li Z, China

Received: September 13, 2023 Peer-review started: September 13, 2023 First decision: October 17, 2023 Revised: November 8, 2023 Accepted: December 1, 2023 Article in press: December 1, 2023 Published online: December 14, 2023



Mazen Elsheikh, Ahmed El Sabagh, Islam B Mohamed, Megha Bhongade, Prasun Kumar Jalal, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX 77030, United States

Manal M Hassan, Department of Epidemiology, Division of Cancer Prevention and Population Sciences, The University of Texas, MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX 77030, United States

Corresponding author: Mazen Elsheikh, MD, Research Assistant, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Baylor College of Medicine, 1 Baylor Plaza, Houston, TX 77030, United States. dr mazenelsheikh@hotmail.com

Abstract

Frailty and sarcopenia are frequently observed in patients with end-stage liver disease. Frailty is a complex condition that arises from deteriorations across various physiological systems, including the musculoskeletal, cardiovascular, and immune systems, resulting in a reduced ability of the body to withstand stressors. This condition is associated with declined resilience and increased vulnerability to negative outcomes, including disability, hospitalization, and mortality. In cirrhotic patients, frailty is influenced by multiple factors, such as hyperammonemia, hormonal imbalance, malnutrition, ascites, hepatic encephalopathy, and alcohol intake. Assessing frailty is crucial in predicting morbidity and mortality in cirrhotic patients. It can aid in making critical decisions regarding patients' eligibility for critical care and transplantation. This, in turn, can guide the development of an individualized treatment plan for each patient with cirrhosis, with a focus on prioritizing exercise, proper nutrition, and appropriate treatment of hepatic complications as the primary lines of treatment. In this review, we aim to explore the topic of frailty in liver diseases, with a particular emphasis on pathophysiology, clinical assessment, and discuss strategies for preventing frailty through effective treatment of hepatic complications. Furthermore, we explore novel assessment and management strategies that have emerged in recent years, including the use of wearable technology and telemedicine.

Key Words: End-stage liver disease; Frailty; Liver cirrhosis; Malnutrition; Sarcopenia

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: Frailty is a common condition in patients with cirrhosis, and it is associated with increased morbidity and mortality. This review provides a comprehensive overview of the etiology, pathophysiology, assessment, and management of frailty in cirrhosis. It places particular emphasis on the management of frailty during complications, while also delving into the future of managing this condition.

Citation: Elsheikh M, El Sabagh A, Mohamed IB, Bhongade M, Hassan MM, Jalal PK. Frailty in end-stage liver disease: Understanding pathophysiology, tools for assessment, and strategies for management. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(46): 6028-6048

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i46/6028.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6028

INTRODUCTION

Frailty is a complex and ever-evolving syndrome that arises from a combination of deteriorating events across various physiological systems. This results in a reduction in the body's physical ability to withstand stressors, leading to decreased resilience and increased susceptibility to adverse outcomes such as disability, hospitalization, and mortality [1-3]. Half of the patients diagnosed with cirrhosis of any cause exhibit frailty [4]. This condition has been shown to have a significant impact on the health outcomes of individuals with liver diseases, leading to higher rates of morbidity and mortality^[5]. Despite its importance, there is still a lack of knowledge in the field of frailty in liver cirrhosis and an absence of universal assessment and treatment protocols, especially in the presence of decompensation with ascites and encephalopathy. This review offers an analysis of the pathophysiological mechanisms that give rise to the clinical manifestations of frailty, various assessment tools employed to evaluate frailty in patients with cirrhosis, and highlights the management options available for frail cirrhotic patients including future therapeutic options for this condition.

DEFINITION OF FRAILTY

Although frailty, sarcopenia, malnutrition, and cachexia are distinct terms in literature, they are deeply interconnected [6]. All four terminologies can be used to express patients with muscle loss and measures targeting management of any of these conditions can improve the others[7]. Here is a breakdown of each terminology (Table 1).

PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF FRAILTY IN END-STAGE LIVER DISEASE

The precise reason for frailty in liver disease is not known, but it is thought to result from the failure of several organ systems, including the neuromuscular, endocrine, immune, and skeletal muscle systems[17] (Figure 1). In this section, we outline a brief overview of different factors that have been cited in literature as potential causes of frailty in cirrhosis[17, 18].

Hyperammonemia

Hyperammonemia is a major factor that induces sarcopenia and frailty in patients with liver cirrhosis[19-21]. There are multiple mechanisms through which hyperammonemia can contribute to frailty in individuals with cirrhosis. These mechanisms include upregulation of myostatin expression inhibiting skeletal muscle mass, mitochondrial dysfunction, heightened production of reactive oxygen species that impede protein synthesis, and enhanced proteolysis[22,23].

Hormonal disturbance

Testosterone plays a crucial role in activating the Akt/mTOR pathway, which is responsible for the development and maintenance of muscle tissue^[24]. Individuals with cirrhosis often experience low levels of circulating testosterone. This can be attributed to the detrimental effects of cirrhosis on the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis[25]. Additionally, an increased activity of the hepatic aromatase enzyme converts testosterone into estrogen, further contributing to the decline in testosterone levels and subsequent loss of muscle mass^[26]. Moreover, research has shown that androgens suppress the expression of myostatin, a key inhibitor of muscle mass[27,28]. This explains the elevated levels of myostatin in cirrhosis patients which contributes to their muscle mass loss[29].

Insulin resistance is a common occurrence in individuals with cirrhosis, as supported by the literature[30]. Insulin resistance can lead to muscle loss through several mechanisms. Insulin has anabolic effects on muscle tissue. But, when there is insulin resistance, it reduces its ability to stimulate protein synthesis, resulting in muscle mass loss[31]. Insulin resistance can also impair mitochondrial function, leading to decreased energy availability and further promoting muscle loss[32]. Finally, individuals with insulin resistance may be less physically active, which can cause muscle atrophy and a decline in muscle function[33]. All these factors contribute to the development of muscle mass loss and frailty in patients with cirrhosis.



Table 1 Definition of frailty, different types of sarcopenias, malnourishment, and cachexia			
	Definition		
Frailty	A condition where patients undergo a reduction in their physical abilities and become more vulnerable to health-related challenges, leading to negative health consequences. It is a multifaceted concept that involves different aspects such as physical, psychological, social, and environmental factors[8]		
Malnourishment	An imbalance in the consumption of nutrients, whether it be a deficiency or an excess, can have detrimental effects on the body's tissues and overall physical form[9]		
Cachexia	A metabolic syndrome that is complex and linked to an underlying illness. It is distinguished by the reduction of muscle mass, with or without a decrease in fat mass[10]		
Sarcopenia	A debilitating syndrome that is marked by a gradual and widespread decline in both skeletal muscle mass and strength[11]		
Dynapenia	The pre-sarcopenia stage, in which only muscle strength is reduced[12]		
Primary sarcopenia	The loss of anatomical skeletal muscle mass in the aging population[13]		
Secondary sarcopenia	The loss of skeletal muscle mass in various chronic diseases[14]		
Compound sarcopenia	The combination of primary (<i>i.e.</i> , age-related) and secondary (<i>i.e.</i> , disease-related) sarcopenia. It occurs in older patients with chronic diseases[15]		
Sarcopenic obesity	A state of decreased muscle mass in the setting of increased fat mass. The muscle wasting can be obscured by increased muscle mass, making specialized testing and management necessary [16]		



Figure 1 Pathophysiology of frailty in advanced liver disease.

Leptin and ghrelin are two hormones that play a crucial role in regulating energy balance, appetite, and body weight [34]. Leptin, which is produced mainly by adipose tissue, functions by suppressing hunger and promoting satiety[35]. In individuals with cirrhosis, there is typically an elevation in serum leptin levels, which can contribute to frailty by decreasing appetite, altering energy balance, and causing muscle wasting[36]. Conversely, ghrelin, which stimulates hunger, gastric motility, and gastric acid secretion, is found to be reduced in liver cirrhosis compared to healthy individuals[37,38]. These changes can affect satiety, digestive functions, and muscle mass, which predispose individuals with cirrhosis to frailty.

Proinflammatory mediators

Liver diseases trigger proinflammatory mediators release due to hepatic necrosis and endotoxemia. In advanced liver disease, the death of liver cells triggers the recruitment of immune cells such as macrophages and neutrophils[39]. This



Baishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

leads to an increase in the production of substances promoting inflammation, such as cytokines, resulting in inflammation both locally and systemically[40]. Additionally, patients with cirrhosis have elevated levels of proinflammatory mediators due to endotoxemia[41]. This occurs when bacterial endotoxins circulate in the bloodstream due to impaired gut barrier function[42], portosystemic shunts[43], compromised Kupffer cell function[44], and altered gut microbiota [45]. The presence of endotoxemia triggers the release of tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-6, and reactive oxygen species which promote systemic inflammation, cause oxidative stress, and impair mitochondrial function[43,46]. The presence of these proinflammatory mediators can give rise to various frailty components, including muscle wasting, loss of appetite, fatigue, energy deficiency, and impaired immune function[18].

Gut microbiota dysbiosis

The human gut is a complex ecosystem that harbors a diverse array of microbial species, which engage in multifaceted interactions with our body[47]. One of the key benefits provided by the gut microbiota is their remarkable ability to ferment indigestible substances, such as dietary fibers, yielding short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) like acetate, propionate, and butyrate. Moreover, the gut microbiota plays a pivotal role in generating a wide range of metabolites, including secondary bile acids and indols[48]. These metabolites, along with bacterial components, can circulate throughout the human body, exerting their influence on organs beyond the gut itself[49]. In the context of cirrhosis, there is a notable prevalence of gut dysbiosis, which involves an imbalance in the gut microbiota. This imbalance is marked by a decrease in the diversity of bacterial species and an overall reduction in the number of bacteria present in the gut[50,51].

In cirrhotic patients, dysbiosis plays a significant role in frailty development through various mechanisms[52-55]. Firstly, the presence of a high proportion of harmful bacteria in the gut can lead to systemic inflammation as bacterial lipopolysaccharides translocate through the compromised gut barriers[56,57]. This inflammation can cause muscle wasting and energy deficiency, further contributing to frailty. Secondly, individuals with cirrhosis often have a lower abundance of beneficial gut bacteria, which reduces their capacity to contribute to metabolism. This reduction leads to a decrease in the production of SCFAs, which are not only essential as an energy source but also serve as metabolic mediators in skeletal muscles[58-60]. The decrease in SCFAs may contribute to the observed skeletal muscle loss in cirrhotic patients and further exacerbate the development of frailty[61]. Lastly, small intestinal bacterial overgrowth (SIBO) is common in cirrhosis, and the increased population of gut microbes can lead to heightened competition with the human body for nutrients[62]. This competition can worsen the loss of muscle mass and frailty, as evidenced by the link between SIBO and malnutrition in cirrhosis[63].

Impaired amino acids metabolism

Amino acid metabolism is a crucial process that plays a vital role in maintaining energy balance, promoting muscle growth, and regulating critical processes such as inflammation and insulin sensitivity[64,65]. When this process is disrupted, it can lead to the development of frailty and degenerative diseases[66]. Individuals with liver cirrhosis experience imbalances in body metabolism, resulting in higher levels of fatty acid oxidation and gluconeogenesis. This leads to an imbalance in amino acid metabolism, causing changes in amino acid levels in the blood[67,68]. As a consequence, there are low levels of branched-chain amino acids (BCAAs) in the blood, which are essential for muscle tissue. BCAAs are crucial for protein synthesis in skeletal muscles and serve as a preferred source of energy. Therefore, low levels of BCAAs in the blood can lead to muscle degradation and impaired muscle strength[69]. Moreover, patients with end-stage liver disease (ESLD) have impaired ammonia detoxification in the liver, leading to high levels of ammonia in the blood. To compensate for this, the body breaks down BCAAs stored in skeletal muscles to help eliminate ammonia [70]. This constant consumption of BCAAs further contributes to low levels of BCAAs in the blood, leading to sarcopenia and frailty. Fortunately, supplementing with BCAAs has shown significant benefits for individuals with liver cirrhosis and frailty. In a recent 16-wk randomized controlled trial, BCAA supplementation was found to improve the liver frailty index (LFI), serum albumin levels, and quality of life in frail compensated cirrhotic patients[69]. This finding is consistent with previous studies that have used BCAAs as a therapy for sarcopenia in liver cirrhosis[71,72].

PREDISPOSING FACTORS FOR FRAILTY IN CIRRHOSIS

Malnutrition

Cirrhosis often leads to malnutrition, which is associated with negative consequences[73]. Malnutrition in cirrhosis has various contributing factors, including inadequate oral intake, early satiety caused by ascites, imbalance in ghrelin and leptin levels, maldigestion, malabsorption, gut microbial dysbiosis, and encephalopathy[73,74]. Frailty is strongly associated with malnutrition. Research has shown that malnourished patients have a 3.381 times higher risk of developing frailty compared to well-nourished patients[75].

Ascites

In cirrhotic patients, ascites can cause several symptoms such as loss of appetite, difficulty moving, reduced stomach capacity, and poor digestion[76] (Table 2). These symptoms can ultimately result in malnutrition and frailty. However, therapeutic paracentesis has been shown to effectively counteract these effects and provide several benefits for cirrhotic patients, including improving appetite, decreasing feelings of fullness, enhancing caloric intake, and improving exercise tolerance[77]. Large-volume paracentesis can increase fasting gastric volumes, which leads to better tolerance of nutrient ingestion and improved caloric intake[78]. This could potentially be explained by the procedure providing more space for

Table 2 Pathophysiology, effects, and management recommendations for frailty predisposing factors in cirrhosis

Predisposing factor	Pathophysiology	Morbidity and mortality	Recommendations
Ascites	Loss of appetite; Difficult ambulation; Reduced stomach capacity; Poor digestion	Odds of frailty were higher in ascitic than non-ascitic patients [adjusted odd ratio 1.56, 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.15- 2.14][129]. Ascitic patients identified as frail had a 29% waitlist mortality rate, higher than the 17% rate for non-frail patients[129]	Large volume paracentesis with iv albumin; Salt intake not < 5 g NaCl/d to preserve food palatability
Hepatic enceph- alopathy (HE)	Decreased voluntary oral intake; Decreased capacity for ambulance and exercise	Odds of frailty were higher in HE than in non-HE patients (odd ratio 2.45, 95%CI: 1.80-3.33)[129]. Waitlist mortality was higher for HE patients identified as frail (30%) than non-frail (20%)[129]	Enteral nutrition with precautions to avoid aspiration and hyperglycemia; Parenteral nutrition if indicated; Avoid unnecessary protein restriction
Alcohol intake	Decreased oral intake; Gastrointestinal upset; Vitamin and mineral deficiency; Increased resting energy expenditure; Alcohol direct toxic muscular and neurologic effects	Frail alcoholic liver disease patients had a significantly higher risk of death or liver transplantation compared to non-frail patients ($P < 0.001$)[130]	Alcohol abstinence; Healthy diet with approx- imately 30 kcal/kg to 40 kcal/kg per day; Small and frequent meals; Enteral feeding in severe disease
Sarcopenic obesity	Challenging to diagnose; Physical disability due to decreased muscle size and high muscle fat	MASLD cirrhotic patients have an increased risk of worsening frailty over time and higher waitlist mortality than non-MASLD patients[131]	Structured exercise program to help preserve muscle mass; If caloric restriction is necessary, maintain adequate protein intake (1.2-1.5 g/kg/d)
Prolonged fasting	Accelerated catabolic state with Increased muscle breakdown		Limit fasting period to a maximum of 12 h; Daily calorie intake should be divided into 4-6 meals; Late evening snacks
Loop diuretics	May worsen muscle mass loss	Loop diuretics inversely correlated with skeletal muscle mass in cirrhotic patients ($P < 0.0001$) and high doses were independently associated with mortality [126]	Regular frailty assessments are recommended for patients who have been on prolonged courses of loop diuretics, particularly when the dosage exceeds 20 mg/d; Spironolactone may be a preferable option for long-term use due to its promising efficacy in treating sarcopenia
Aging	Combined muscle loss due to aging and hepatic illness (compound sarcopenia)	Elderly sarcopenic patients with cirrhosis have longer hospital stays, higher hospital- ization costs, and increased risk of in- hospital mortality[15]	Frequent frailty assessment and management in elderly patients with cirrhosis

MASLD: Metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease.

the stomach to relax within the peritoneal cavity with albumin infusion helping relieve gastric wall edema^[78].

Salt restriction is currently a crucial component of ascites treatment at all stages, as it helps prevent sodium overload and promotes the mobilization of fluid retention [79,80]. Previous studies have indicated that a tight restriction of sodium intake (< 5 g salt daily) can result in a reduced need for diuretics, faster resolution of ascites, and shorter hospital stays [81-83]. However, strict sodium restriction may not always be the optimal approach for managing ascites in cirrhotic patients. A study by Gauthier et al[81] provides an example of this. The researchers conducted a trial on patients who were receiving diuretic treatment. They compared the resolution of ascites in a group with strict salt restriction (only 1230 mg salt daily) to a group with no sodium restriction [81]. Surprisingly, despite the rapid resolution of ascites in the restricted salt group at the beginning of the study, there was no significant difference between the two groups after 90 d [81]

While strict sodium restriction has demonstrated short-term benefits, it may increase the risk of sarcopenia and frailty in cirrhotic patients due to the unpleasant taste of food and the additional effort required for food acquisition and preparation, ultimately resulting in a loss of appetite[81,84-86]. This can lead to malnutrition and an increased risk of developing ascites. Two randomized controlled trials have provided strong evidence that adhering to a strict low-salt diet increases the risk of malnutrition and can worsen ascites in cirrhotic patients [87,88]. In a study conducted by Gu et al [87], the disappearance of ascites in cirrhotic patients was compared between a group with restricted salt intake and a group with unrestricted salt intake. The results demonstrated that cirrhotic patients in the unrestricted salt group (8.8 g NaCl/d) consumed more calories than those in the restricted salt group (4.2 g NaCl/d), leading to higher albumin levels with better nutritional status and rapidly resolving ascites [87]. These findings suggest that strict salt restriction may not always be the optimal approach for managing ascites in cirrhotic patients. Instead, individualized dietary recommendations are necessary to ensure adequate patient nutrition and prevent complications[84]. For this reason, leading hepatology scientific societies recommend a daily salt intake of no less than 5 g NaCl/d (equivalent to 2 g Na/d) for cirrhotic patients with ascites [79,89-92]. To meet the recommended salt intake, it is highly recommended to avoid consuming canned foods or pre-packaged meals. Instead, prioritize the consumption of fresh, home-cooked dishes that are rich in fruits, vegetables, and dairy products[93]. Furthermore, to enhance the flavor of meals it is advised to substitute salt with a



variety of herbs and spices[84].

Hepatic encephalopathy

Patients with hepatic encephalopathy are at a high risk of malnutrition and frailty due to a decrease in voluntary oral intake[94]. This can result in longer hospital stays, worsening of their condition, and increased susceptibility to infections [95]. When dealing with such cases, enteral nutrition is advised, but it is important to take precautions to avoid the risk of aspiration and hyperglycemia[7]. Parenteral nutrition, on the other hand, should only be used for patients who are unable to tolerate enteral feeding or cannot meet their caloric and nutrient needs orally[7].

It is important to note that protein intake should not be restricted in patients with encephalopathy[7]. While there used to be a debate about whether protein supplementation could worsen hepatic encephalopathy, recent research has shown that protein does not cause encephalopathy and may even improve cognitive function in the long term[96,97]. On the contrary, restricting protein intake could exacerbate frailty[7]. Therefore, to avoid the risk of worsening frailty, it is generally recommended that patients consume protein from a diverse range of sources, including vegetables and dairy products[98]. The American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases (AASLD) suggests that adults with cirrhosis should consume 1.2-1.5 g of protein per kilogram of ideal body weight daily[7,97]. However, for critically ill cirrhotic patients, the recommended protein intake is slightly higher, ranging from 1.2-2.0 g/kg of ideal body weight daily[7]. For children with cirrhosis, a protein intake of up to 4 g/kg of body weight per day is both safe and successful in improving anthropometric measurements without the development of hepatic encephalopathy[99].

Alcohol intake

Alcohol consumption has a significant and complex impact on nutritional status, affecting both nutrient intake and absorption. Initially, alcohol itself contributes to approximately 50% of daily caloric intake, leading to a decreased intake of other essential nutrients[100]. Moreover, alcohol-induced anorexia, nausea, vomiting, and gastritis exacerbate the situation by further reducing oral intake of nutrients. Alcohol also interferes directly with nutrient absorption by damaging the mucosal lining of the stomach and small intestine[101]. This damage impairs the absorption of important nutrients such as protein, vitamins A, B1, B12, folic acid, and zinc, leading to deficiencies of these micronutrients and vitamins in individuals with alcohol-associated liver disease (ALD)[98,100]. Furthermore, chronic alcohol consumption has been found to increase resting energy expenditure, which over time can lead to significant muscle wasting and frailty [102]. These factors cause malnutrition and frailty in alcohol-related cirrhosis, which has a detrimental impact on survival rates and quality of life, with an increased risk of various complications. These include variceal bleeding, development of ascites and hepatic encephalopathy, susceptibility to infections, longer hospital stays, and occurrence of hepatorenal syndrome[103].

Given the multifaceted impact of alcohol on liver diseases and nutritional status, lifelong abstinence is recommended [104]. Additionally, it is crucial to address nutritional deficiencies and promote a healthy diet in individuals with ALD [105]. This can help to mitigate the negative effects of alcohol on nutrient intake and absorption, as well as prevent muscle wasting and frailty. To prevent these issues, current guidelines recommend approximately 30 kcal/kg to 40 kcal/kg per day for these patients, with an emphasis on small, frequent meals as some patients may not be able to tolerate large meals three times a day[106]. In severe cases of ALD, supplementation in the form of enteral nutrition should be considered to ensure adequate nutrition and prevent complications associated with malnutrition[107].

Metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease and sarcopenic obesity

Sarcopenic obesity is a condition where there is a simultaneous loss of skeletal muscle and gain of adipose tissue, which is a common finding in patients with cirrhosis[108]. This condition is characterized by a decrease in muscle size and an increase in muscular fat, known as myosteatosis. It can be challenging to diagnose, particularly in patients with metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease (MASLD), as the presence of morbid obesity can obscure the signs of sarcopenia, making it difficult to detect[109]. Sarcopenic obesity has detrimental effects on the morbidity and mortality of patients with liver cirrhosis[108]. It poses a greater risk of physical impairment and disability than either sarcopenia or myosteatosis alone, and it is considered a negative prognostic marker for the progression of liver cirrhosis and outcomes of liver transplantation[110]. Additionally, both sarcopenia and MASLD, increasing physical activity and following a healthy diet can be helpful[111].

Currently, there are no specific exercise recommendations available for cirrhotic patients with sarcopenic obesity[112]. However, several studies have indicated that exercise can have positive effects on these patients[113-115]. These studies have shown that exercise can lead to a reduction in body weight and fat mass, as well as an improvement in skeletal muscle mass and physical capacity in patients with cirrhosis. These positive outcomes are particularly advantageous for patients with sarcopenic obesity. In a randomized controlled trial conducted by Román *et al*[114], functional capacity, body composition, and the risk of falls were measured in patients with cirrhosis before and after a moderate exercise program. The results of the study demonstrated that the exercise group experienced significant improvements in functional capacity, increased muscle mass, decreased body fat, and a reduced risk of falls, while no changes were observed in the control group[114]. Studies have also shown that elderly men who engage in moderate-to-vigorous exercise for at least thirty minutes a day have a lower risk of developing sarcopenic obesity[116]. Therefore, it can be concluded that a moderate exercise program can be beneficial for patients with cirrhosis, especially those with sarcopenic obesity. Additionally, while cirrhotic patients with sarcopenic obesity have increased body mass index (BMI) and body fat, it is important to be cautious when recommending weight loss to affected patients, in order not to exacerbate frailty [16]. If caloric restriction is deemed necessary, it is imperative to closely monitor the body composition, muscle strength,

and physical activity levels of these individuals using appropriate assessment tools[117]. Moreover, it is recommended to implement a comprehensive approach that includes ensuring adequate protein intake (1.2-1.5 g/kg/d) and applying a structured exercise program to help preserve muscle mass and promote overall health[7].

Prolonged fasting

Individuals with cirrhosis experience a more rapid breakdown of their body tissues due to starvation than healthy individuals[118]. After an overnight fast, the type of energy sources utilized by cirrhotic patients is comparable to that of healthy individuals who have been fasting for 2-3 d[119]. This implies that cirrhotic patients who undergo medical procedures, such as gastrointestinal endoscopy, with prolonged fasting are at risk of developing a severe catabolic state, which can lead to the breakdown of their body tissues[118]. Therefore, it is recommended that patients with liver cirrhosis limit their fasting period to a maximum of 12 h[120,121]. It is also advised that their daily calorie intake should be divided into 4-6 meals, which can include snacks at night[122,123]. This dietary approach can help maintain stable blood sugar levels and prevent the breakdown of body tissues due to prolonged fasting[118].

Diuretics

The evidence supporting the notion that loop diuretics may worsen sarcopenia and frailty is mounting. For instance, a study discovered that bumetanide and furosemide administration had an adverse effect on myogenic differentiation and exercise-induced muscle hypertrophy [124]. Additionally, loop diuretics have been associated with a decrease in thigh and arm circumference among heart failure patients, regardless of the severity of their disease[125]. Furthermore, a retrospective study involving 266 cirrhotic patients found that high doses of loop diuretics were associated with rapid muscle mass loss and poor survival rates, independent of liver disease severity[126]. This study found that therapeutic dosages of loop diuretics were inversely correlated with skeletal muscle mass in cirrhotic patients, as demonstrated by both simple (r = -0.27, P < 0.0001) and multiple regression analyses (t = -3.07, P = 0.002)[126]. Patients receiving more than 20 mg of loop diuretics per day had lower overall survival rates compared to those receiving < 20 mg (median, 66 mo vs 97 mo; P = 0.002), and higher doses of loop diuretics were independently associated with mortality among cirrhotic patients [hazard ratio, 1.86; 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.03-3.24; *P* = 0.039][126]. Compared to loop diuretics, spironolactone has been suggested to have potential benefits in preventing muscle mass loss, enhancing muscle blood flow, and boosting contractile power[127]. Given these findings, future research needs to investigate the impact of different types of diuretics on muscle health, particularly in patients who are on long-term or high-dose loop diuretic therapy, with regular assessments of frailty.

Aging and compound sarcopenia

The loss of muscle mass due to aging, known as primary sarcopenia, and the loss of muscle mass due to chronic illness, known as secondary sarcopenia, combine to form a health condition called compound sarcopenia [15]. This condition can have a significant impact on the clinical outcomes of older adults with chronic diseases [128]. In patients with hospitalized cirrhotic patients, compound sarcopenia has been associated with increased length and cost of hospital stay with detrimental effects on patient survival^[15]. As a result, it is crucial to regularly assess and provide aggressive treatment for elderly patients with sarcopenia.

INFLUENCE OF FRAILTY ON CIRRHOSIS PATIENTS

Depression and reduced quality of life

Frailty is a condition that is associated with reduced cognitive abilities, increased risk of falls, and lower quality of life [132-134]. Depression is a common occurrence in patients with ESLD and is closely linked to frailty, rather than the severity of liver disease [135]. A prospective cohort study was conducted on 542 patients with ESLD who were referred for liver transplantation to investigate the relationship between frailty, depression, and the severity of liver disease[135]. The study found a significant association between frailty and depression, with an odds ratio of 2.78, P < 0.001. However, no significant association was found between the Model for End-Stage Liver Disease (MELD) score and depression[135]. This highlights the importance of addressing frailty as a potential risk factor for depression in patients with ESLD.

In another study, the relationship between frailty and disability was examined in cirrhotic individuals receiving outpatient care. Disability was evaluated through the measurement of individuals' capacity to carry out essential activities of daily living (ADLs), such as feeding and bathing, as well as more complex tasks known as instrumental ADLs (IADLs), which encompass activities like shopping and managing finances. The study found a strong link between frailty and disability in patients with cirrhosis [136]. The LFI was used to measure frailty, and each point increase in the LFI was associated with a higher likelihood of experiencing difficulty with ADLs and IADLs[136]. The odds of experiencing current difficulty with at least one ADL and IADL were 3.3-fold and 4.6-fold higher, respectively, for each point increase in the LFI[136]. In participants who initially did not have any baseline disability, the study revealed that for every point increase in the LFI, the odds of having trouble with at least one ADL and IADL after 6 mo were 2.6 times and 1.7 times higher, respectively [136]. These findings suggest that even a slight increase in frailty can significantly impact the ability to perform essential tasks and responsibilities, thereby affecting both patients and their caregivers' quality of life.

Increased risk of cirrhosis complications and hospitalization

Frailty is a distinctive risk factor that is independently associated with a range of cirrhosis-related complications, such as



ascites, encephalopathy, hepatorenal syndrome, and sepsis, which often necessitate hospitalization[129,137,138]. Moreover, frailty has been linked to an increased risk of acquiring nosocomial infections[139]. Patients with significant frailty may require prolonged ICU and hospital stays, and they are more prone to respiratory complications and sepsis [140]. In a prospective study involving 373 pre-transplant patients, researchers found that gait speed, a measure of frailty, played a significant and influential role in the risk of hospitalization for various complications related to cirrhosis[138]. The study found that for every 0.1 m/s decrease in gait speed, there was a 22% increase in the number of hospital days (*P* < 0.001), indicating a robust correlation between frailty and the need for hospital care[138].

Increased risk of non-home discharge

Frailty has been identified as a significant risk factor for non-home discharge among hospitalized patients, which can lead to increased healthcare and financial burden[139]. The results of a prospective study conducted on 211 cirrhotic patients from three Liver transplantation centers revealed that frailty was strongly associated with discharge to physical rehabilitation, a skilled nursing facility, or hospice, rather than being discharged to the patient's home[139]. The study's odds ratio indicated that for every one-point increase in the LFI, the likelihood of non-home discharge increased by 1.81 times, (95%CI: 1.14-2.86)[139].

Increased risk of mortality

Frailty is an established factor that significantly increases the likelihood of severe complications and mortality among liver cirrhotic patients, both before and after liver transplantation[141]. In a comprehensive study conducted across nine transplant centers in the United States, researchers assessed frailty in pretransplant patients on the waitlist and found a significant correlation between the presence of frailty, as measured by the LFI, and an increased risk of mortality. Specifically, patients with frailty had an adjusted risk of death that was nearly twice as high as those without frailty (subhazard ratio 1.82, 95%CI: 1.31-2.52)[129]. Furthermore, a systematic review examining the impact of frailty on post-transplant mortality revealed that frailty had a negative effect on post-transplant outcomes. The review suggested that severe frailty was associated with a two-fold reduction in early survival and a 50% reduction in late survival[140].

ASSESSMENT OF FRAILTY IN LIVER DISEASES

The early and prompt assessment of frailty in cirrhotic patients is crucial for healthcare providers to enhance comprehensive care for ESLD patients[142]. Frailty has been observed to be a valuable predictor of outcomes both before and following therapeutic interventions. For instance, frailty has been associated with post-transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt (TIPS) and post-liver transplant morbidity and mortality[143,144]. Additionally, early identification of frailty is also crucial as it is possible to reverse frailty to some extent, and identifying it early on enables healthcare providers to intervene more effectively to enhance the health outcomes of patients with frailty[145]. Therefore, all patients with this ailment need to undergo a frailty assessment to aid in making critical decisions regarding their life and death, including determining their eligibility for critical care and transplantation and prioritizing prehabilitation services such as nutrition, physiotherapy, and psychotherapy[146].

Frailty reassessment is also crucial to monitor the response to treatment of cirrhotic patients who have been diagnosed with frailty. Patients with well-compensated liver cirrhosis should be reassessed at least once a year, while those with decompensated cirrhosis or those receiving active management for these conditions should be reassessed more frequently, every 8 wk to 12 wk[7]. This will help healthcare providers to identify any changes in the patient's condition and adjust their treatment plan accordingly, which can improve the patient's quality of life and overall health outcomes [7].

Assessing frailty in cirrhotic patients requires the use of various assessment tools, each with its own methodology, time requirements, and limitations[146]. It is important to note that clinical interpretation of these tools can also vary among cirrhotic patients. Therefore, healthcare providers should choose the most appropriate assessment tool for each patient and interpret the results accurately. In the following paragraphs, we will summarize the three most used assessment tools for evaluating frailty in cirrhotic patients, including their strengths and limitations.

Fried frailty index

The fried frailty index (FFI) is a commonly used assessment tool for frailty that encompasses both subjective and objective components. It states self-reported fatigue, weight loss, and limited physical activity, along with objective measurements of walking speed and grip strength[8]. It is a quick assessment that can be completed in less than 10 min. The use of FFI has been linked to predicting morbidity and mortality in patients with liver cirrhosis. Higher FFI scores have been associated with elevated MELD scores, reduced albumin levels, ascites, and hepatic encephalopathy[147]. Moreover, the degree of physical weakness observed in individuals on the liver transplant waiting list, as determined by the FFI, is a noteworthy indicator of total hospitalized days per year, regardless of the severity of their liver disease[148]. Additionally, a one-unit increase in FFI leads to a 50% increase in mortality rates among those on the waiting list[149]. Despite these benefits, the accuracy of the FFI may be questionable when assessing frailty in decompensated cirrhosis. In a cohort of 685 pre-transplant patients, the FFI was found to have no association with survival among hepatic encephalopathy patients[147]. This could be attributed to the challenges that HE patients face in reporting subjective FFI components and the suboptimal performance of objective components such as grip strength and walking speed[147].

Zaishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Clinical frailty scale

The clinical frailty scale (CFS) is a 1-min consistent method utilized to evaluate frailty in patients [150]. It is a comprehensive subjective clinical assessment of frailty that is user-friendly and has demonstrated its ability to anticipate mortality or the requirement for institutionalized care[151]. The scale rates individuals' level of comorbidity, function, and dependence on others for daily activities, ranging from 1 (very fit) to 9 (terminally ill)[151]. Frail patients (CFS > 4) were associated with increased rates of unplanned hospitalization or death among outpatient cirrhotic patients[150]. Additionally, CFS has linked frailty to acute kidney injury and hepatorenal syndrome in patients with hospitalized liver cirrhotic patients[137]. However, the CFS provides only a brief overview of frailty and is not detailed enough to track changes in frailty resulting from therapeutic interventions[146].

LFI

The LFI is a valuable tool for assessing frailty in hepatic patients, as it combines three performance-based evaluations: grip strength of the hand, the duration taken to perform five chair stands, and the duration of maintaining three different balance positions[152]. This quick test (3-5 min) is specifically designed to assess frailty in hepatic patients, making it a reliable and efficient tool for healthcare professionals[152]. A higher LFI score indicates a greater degree of frailty, and an LFI cut-off of > 4.62 has been identified as the most effective in distinguishing between cirrhotic patients who are at high risk for rehospitalization within 30 d and those who are not[153]. This makes the LFI a crucial tool for identifying patients who require additional care and support to prevent rehospitalization. Moreover, healthcare professionals can use the LFI to assess a patient's frailty before transplantation, identifying those who are at high risk for waitlist mortality and prolonged hospital stay after transplantation[154]. Incorporating LFI into the subjective clinical evaluation has been demonstrated to correctly reclassify the survival status of 34% of waitlist patients[154].

In addition to assessing frailty in hospitalized patients, the LFI is also employed to diagnose frailty in out-patient individuals with cirrhosis, making it a versatile tool that can be used in a variety of healthcare settings[155]. Compared to the Karnofsky Performance Status scale, which only measures one aspect of frailty, the LFI is a more comprehensive and accurate tool for assessing the risk of mortality as it captures multiple components of frailty [156].

MANAGEMENT OF FRAILTY IN LIVER DISEASES

In the management of frailty in liver cirrhosis, a continuous process is involved, which includes multiple interventions and regular reassessment of the patient to monitor their response and guide the next steps. In this section, we will provide a summary of the interventions for treating frailty in cirrhosis, as depicted in Figure 2.

Exercise

Recent studies have shown that a sedentary lifestyle is linked to lower survival rates among decompensated cirrhotic patients. In fact, low moderate-vigorous activity has been associated with increased mortality among liver transplant wait-listed patients [157]. Conversely, exercise interventions have the potential to safely improve exercise capacity, peak oxygen consumption, muscle mass and function, and quality of life, while decreasing the hepatic venous pressure gradient in individuals with cirrhosis [158,159]. This can even reverse the process of frailty in cirrhotic patients.

A study was conducted to evaluate the feasibility and benefits of a 6-wk exercise program for cirrhotic patients who were waiting for a liver transplant [160]. The program involved supervised exercise on a stationary bike three times a week. The results of the study showed that the exercise program was both feasible and beneficial for these patients [160]. Specifically, 56% of the patients (9 out of 16) were able to complete the full 6-wk program, and the exercise group showed a significant improvement in oxygen consumption compared to the control group[160].

Although exercise has potential benefits for cirrhotic patients, incorporating it into their routine can be challenging due to the risk of complications. This is especially true for decompensated patients, for whom there have been few studies on the safety and effects of exercise [161]. Cirrhotic patients, especially those who are decompensated, face numerous challenges in performing exercises, such as muscle wasting, fatigue, fluid retention, risks of falls, bleeding tendency, and portal hypertension[162,163]. To fully benefit from exercise, it is crucial to customize the exercise program to the individual patient's needs and risk of complications^[7]. For instance, patients experiencing muscle mass loss may benefit from incorporating resistance training into their program, while those with a history of falls should exercise with caution when engaging in aerobic activities[7]. Moreover, while regular exercise has been found to decrease chronic portal hypertension, it is important to note that in acute situations, exercise can lead to an increase in portal pressure. Therefore, it is crucial to apply appropriate primary or secondary prophylaxis for variceal rupture to mitigate any potential risks [162].

To enhance the physical frailty and quality of life of both compensated and decompensated cirrhotic patients, it is generally recommended to incorporate a combination of aerobic and resistance exercises into their routine for at least 12 wk[161]. However, to prevent possible complications and maximize the benefits of exercise, an individualized exercise and nutrition plan should be created based on the patient's degree of frailty. This approach involves categorizing patients into one of three groups: absent/mild, moderate, or severe frailty, and creating an individualized plan for each patient accordingly[164]. For patients with severe frailty, an inpatient rehabilitation program is recommended as they are likely to derive the greatest benefit from it[164]. This approach ensures close monitoring of the patient's progress and helps in avoiding complications. Patients with moderate frailty are advised to participate in home-based exercises, with a focus on enhancing ADLs[164]. For patients with mild or no frailty, it is recommended that they engage in moderate-intensity exercise for a minimum of 150 min/wk[164]. These individuals should gradually work on improving their physical





Figure 2 Different strategies for treating frailty in cirrhosis.

capacity and strength. Regular reassessment of all patients is necessary to modify their exercise programs based on their current state[164]. By following these guidelines, cirrhotic patients can safely and effectively improve their physical health and quality of life.

Nutrition

Studies have shown that interventions aimed at improving nutrition, such as providing nutritional education, proteinenergy supplementation, and oral nutritional support, can effectively enhance frailty [165]. The Practice Guidance by the AASLD recommends developing a personalized nutrition plan for all individuals with cirrhosis, considering their current nutritional status[7]. To tailor the nutritional plan for cirrhotic patients, AASLD suggests considering their weight and BMI. For individuals with a BMI between 30-40 kg/m², the recommended energy intake is 25-35 kcal/kg/d, while for those with a BMI \ge 40 kg/m², the recommended energy intake is 20-25 kcal/kg/d[7]. Moreover, AASLD recommends a safe protein intake of 1.2-1.5 g/kg/d for adults with cirrhosis, which should come from a diverse range of sources[7]. A recent randomized controlled trial showed that intensive nutrition therapy administered at home for six months can enhance frailty and sarcopenia in patients with decompensated cirrhosis[166]. The study found that the intervention group showed a greater improvement in the LFI compared to the control group (0.8 vs 0.4; P < 0.001)[166]. AASLD highlights the importance of identifying and overcoming obstacles to proper nutrition for patients with cirrhosis who are frail[7]. This may involve loosening restrictions on salt intake in cases of diet unpalatability, encouragement of enteral feeding in encephalopathy, prevention of prolonged fasting hours, and providing late evening snacks[7].

Prehabilitation

Prehabilitation, also known as preoperative habilitation, involves a range of interventions that are implemented before a medical procedure or treatment to mitigate or prevent any adverse effects that may arise[167]. In the context of liver transplantation, prehabilitation aims to identify high-risk patients as early as possible and enhance their physical capacity before surgery [168]. This is achieved through various interventions, including exercise, nutrition, and psychological stress management^[169]. According to a recent systematic review of eight studies, prehabilitation could potentially boost the aerobic capacity of patients who are awaiting orthotopic liver transplantation and is deemed a safe and feasible approach [170]. The review also revealed notable improvements in several metrics, such as VO2 peak, 6-min walking distance, hand grip strength, LFI, and quality of life[170]. Despite the evidence supporting the role of prehabilitation before liver transplantation, there is limited research on the benefits of prehabilitation for frail cirrhotic patients after liver transplantation. While a single study has demonstrated that an exercise training program can lead to post-transplant short-term benefits, such as reduced 90-d readmission rates and shorter hospital stays[171], further research is needed to confirm the potential long-term benefits of prehabilitation after liver transplantation.

Medications

Although pharmacological interventions are not commonly used in frailty treatment, there is evidence to suggest that testosterone supplementation may be a safe and effective option for enhancing muscle mass and strength in males with cirrhosis and low testosterone levels. A 54-wk randomized controlled trial conducted by Sinclair et al[172] concluded that



testosterone supplementation can safely enhance muscle mass and strength in this population. However, there is limited information regarding the effect of testosterone therapy in treating frailty after liver transplantation. A single retrospective study suggested that short testosterone therapy may be useful in treating frailty after liver transplantation [173]. In this study, administering a single dose of testosterone replacement therapy along with regular exercise has been associated with patient and graft survival rates of 93.8% and 87.5% at one and five years, respectively [173]. Large randomized controlled trials are necessary to validate the safety and potential benefits of administering testosterone as a treatment for frailty following liver transplantation.

FUTURE APPROACHES IN FRAILTY MANAGEMENT

Emerging information technologies for frailty assessment

Frailty assessment tools are now available online, making it easier to assess frailty in the geriatric population. These webbased tools are user-friendly and can be accessed through internet-connected devices [174]. In addition, smartphone applications have shown great potential in evaluating and quantifying physical activity and patient mobility, which are crucial indicators of frailty. For instance, a recent app was used to prehabilitate liver transplant candidates, and it was found that the app's training level matched that of a physical therapist in 89% of cases [175]. The app also motivated patients through videos and gamification features, leading to a 35% increase in physical activity performance among participants [175]. However, these tools require further advancements to fully comprehend the current patient frailty status, especially in cirrhotic patients who require special clinical evaluation. Validation studies are also needed to ensure that these smart tools can be integrated into clinical decision-making for patients.

A novel tool called the tele-liver frailty index (TeLefI) has been proposed for frailty assessment and follow-up in cirrhotic patients [176]. It utilizes telemedicine to virtually measure frailty in liver transplant candidates with cirrhosis. Wang et al[176] introduced this tool by comparing frailty assessment using in-person LFI and then by TelefI assessment tool[176]. The telemedicine-based TeLefI tool has been statistically validated in predicting LFI > 4.4, indicating that it can effectively identify patients who require more frequent follow-up or in-person assessment[176]. This tool has the potential to revolutionize frailty assessment and follow-up in cirrhotic patients, especially those who live in remote or underserved areas. This has the potential to not only decrease healthcare expenses but also enhance patient outcomes. While this tool has shown promising results, more research is necessary to fully understand the benefits and limitations of this novel approach to frailty assessment.

Potential therapeutic targets

Targeting pathways that contribute to the progression of frailty shows promise as a potential treatment approach[17]. In fact, there are several medications that could potentially be used to treat frailty in cirrhosis. Here are some examples (Table 3).

Metformin: In general, the research on the effectiveness of metformin in treating frailty is inconclusive. Although some studies indicate that metformin may not be useful in decreasing the occurrence of frailty [177,178], other studies suggest that it could be advantageous in managing age-related illnesses and ailments including frailty [179-181]. The reason for this protective effect may be attributed to the reduction of insulin resistance, which is involved in the pathophysiology of frailty[182]. Additionally, the correlation discovered between metformin usage and lower levels of proinflammatory cytokines, regardless of blood glucose levels, may also contribute to the mechanism^[183]. However, further investigation is necessary to gain a complete understanding of metformin's potential in treating frailty in cirrhosis.

Rifaximin: Rifaximin is an antibiotic that boasts a highly favorable safety profile. Its primary function is to specifically target and eradicate harmful bacteria in the intestinal tract[184]. Due to its low absorption rate, rifaximin is considered an excellent choice for patients who require a safe and effective treatment option [185]. One of the key benefits of rifaximin is its ability to modify the composition of the gut microbiota, resulting in a notable decrease in harmful bacterial taxa. This, in turn, helps to prevent hyperammonemia, bacterial endotoxemia, and translocation, which have been identified as contributing factors to muscle loss in cirrhosis patients[62]. In a recent uncontrolled study, the long-term use of rifaximin in cirrhosis patients had a positive impact on their nutritional status [186]. Furthermore, the study demonstrated that rifaximin enabled these patients to maintain a consistent amount of muscle mass [186]. These findings shed light on the potential of rifaximin as an intervention for addressing malnutrition and potentially mitigating muscle loss in individuals with cirrhosis. However, further research is needed, specifically randomized controlled trials, to establish the efficacy of rifaximin in treating frailty in liver cirrhosis. Additionally, probiotics and fecal microbial transplantation are being explored as potential therapies for frailty induced by gut dysbiosis in liver cirrhosis[62]. However, their effectiveness in human subjects is still under investigation, and there is a lack of comprehensive studies in this area.

Myostatin antagonists: Myostatin is a type of signaling molecule that falls under the transforming growth factor- β superfamily[187]. It has a crucial function in skeletal muscle metabolism, and it works as an inhibitor of muscle mass, leading to a decrease in muscle size[188]. Higher levels of myostatin are linked to poorer survival rates in cirrhosis patients, and increased serum myostatin levels are associated with decreased muscle mass^[29]. Studies have demonstrated that blocking myostatin can result in muscle hypertrophy and the reversal of muscle atrophy in both young and old mice[189-191], making it a potential solution to prevent muscle wasting in liver cirrhosis patients[192]. There exist various therapeutic interventions that can counteract the impact of myostatin, such as monoclonal antibodies, myostatin propeptide, and follistatin[190,193-196]. Additional studies are needed to ascertain the efficiency and safety of

Suggested medication	Target of action	Side effects	Dose used in clinical trials	Clinical trial results	
Metformin	Insulin resistance; Proinflam- matory cytokines	Gastrointestinal upset; Non responders[209]	-	-	
Rifaximin	Gut dysbiosis	-	1200 mg daily for 24 wk	No significant changes in skeletal muscle index[186]	
Myostatin antagonists	Hyperammonemia; Muscle mass inhibition	Spontaneous bone fractures[210]; Vascular (nasal and gum bleeding, telangiectasia)[211]	-	-	
L-Carnitine	Hyperammonemia; Proinflammatory cytokines (antioxidant)	Gastrointestinal upset	(1000 mg/d) + exercise for 6 mo [201]	No significant changes in muscle mass, leg, and handgrip strength[201]	
L-ornithine L- aspartate	Hyperammonemia	Gastrointestinal upset	6 g three times daily for 2 wk [207]	No significant increase in prealbumin level after use[207]	
Testosterone therapy	Testosterone deficiency	Cardiovascular diseases; Prostate cancer; Erythrocytosis[212]	Intramuscular injection of testosterone undecanoate 1000 mg at 0, 6, 18, 30, 42 wk[172]	The intervention group had increased muscle and bone mass with lower fat mass[172]	

myostatin antagonists in this specific context.

Carnitine: L-carnitine, an endogenous compound with antioxidant properties, has been shown to promote muscle growth by increasing muscle blood flow[197]. Carnitine also has an essential role in fatty acid metabolism, and its deficiency leads to increased hepatic steatosis, hyperammonemia, cardiac and skeletal muscle disease[198]. Despite its potential benefits, there is limited information available on the effectiveness of L-carnitine in treating frail cirrhotic patients. Two retrospective studies have suggested that taking L-carnitine supplements may help prevent the loss of skeletal muscle mass in individuals with liver cirrhosis[199,200]. On the contrary, a clinical trial involving the administration of a daily dose of 1000 mg of L-carnitine for over six months to liver cirrhosis patients did not result in significant changes in muscle mass, handgrip, and leg strength[201]. Further research is necessary to evaluate the potential benefits of L-carnitine in the treatment of frailty in cirrhosis.

L-ornithine L-aspartate: L-ornithine L-aspartate (LOLA) has been proven to be an effective treatment for hepatic encephalopathy as it helps to reduce ammonia levels[202]. It achieves this by stimulating the production of urea in the liver and promoting muscle glutamine synthesis[203,204]. Administering LOLA to mice with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis has been shown to enhance muscle protein function[205]. By decreasing ammonia levels and improving muscle function in mice, LOLA has been suggested as a potential treatment for sarcopenia and frailty in individuals with cirrhosis[206]. However, a randomized controlled trial administering LOLA of 6 g three times daily for 2 wk to a group of 17 liver cirrhotic patients did not produce a significant increase in prealbumin levels[207]. Therefore, future research is necessary to validate the beneficial role of LOLA in treating frailty in patients with decompensated cirrhosis.

Hormonal therapy: Sinclair *et al*[172] conducted a randomized controlled trial that lasted for 12 mo, which showed notable enhancements in muscle mass, bone mineral mass, and a decrease in total fat mass among cirrhotic patients who received testosterone therapy. Nevertheless, further research is required to ascertain the safety and effectiveness of this therapy, particularly due to potential adverse effects such as an increased risk of hepatocellular carcinoma, cardiovascular diseases, and elevated hematocrit levels[208]. Additionally, the efficacy and safety of testosterone therapy after liver transplantation require further investigation.

TIPS and frailty

There is an ongoing debate surrounding the use of TIPS as a potential therapy for sarcopenia and frailty in liver cirrhosis patients. While several studies have shown promising results in terms of improving muscle mass and nutritional status, as well as reducing the risk of hepatic encephalopathy and mortality in sarcopenic patients[213-215], other studies have raised concerns about the use of TIPS as a therapy for sarcopenia and frailty, particularly in severe cases. These studies have demonstrated that these conditions are associated with a higher risk of post-TIPS complications, such as non-home discharge, prolonged hospital stay, hepatic encephalopathy, and even mortality[143,216,217].

Moreover, while all studies conducted have focused on sarcopenic assessment after TIPS, only one novel study has included the effect of TIPS on frailty parameters[218]. In this study, 12 cirrhosis patients showed improvement in skeletal muscle mass six months after TIPS compared to their baseline measurements before the procedure[218]. However, there was no improvement in LFI, handgrip strength, or physical performance measurements[218]. This study adds to the concerns about using TIPS as a potential therapy for cirrhotic frail patients. To address these concerns and obtain more conclusive evidence, we strongly recommend that future studies on this topic prioritize larger sample sizes and control groups.

Boishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

CONCLUSION

Frailty is a complex medical condition that arises from multiple predisposing factors in patients with cirrhosis. It has a significant impact on the morbidity and mortality of cirrhotic patients and can even predict the outcomes of therapeutic interventions. Therefore, it is crucial to properly assess, reassess, and intervene in cirrhotic patients to prevent, treat, or even reverse this hazardous process. Looking ahead, future research should explore the possibility of utilizing telemedicine and smart apps for frailty assessment to make clinical decisions for patient treatment and follow-up. This could potentially improve patient outcomes and reduce healthcare costs. Furthermore, future research must investigate the safety and long-term potential benefits of therapeutic strategies, including TIPS, prehabilitation, and medications for managing frailty in cirrhotic patients, especially after liver transplantation.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Elsheikh M and Jalal PK contributed to the study conception and design; Elsheikh M and El Sabagh A reviewed the literature and wrote the manuscript; Jalal PK, Mohamed IB, Bhongade M and Hassan MM critically reviewed the manuscript; all authors have read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Mazen Elsheikh 0000-0001-6527-086X; Ahmed El Sabagh 0000-0003-1041-1236; Islam B Mohamed 0000-0002-9408-4895; Megha Bhongade 0009-0002-5084-1812; Manal M Hassan 0000-0002-8413-449X; Prasun Kumar Jalal 0000-0001-5353-2324.

S-Editor: Gao CC L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY

REFERENCES

- Doody P, Lord JM, Greig CA, Whittaker AC. Frailty: Pathophysiology, Theoretical and Operational Definition(s), Impact, Prevalence, Management and Prevention, in an Increasingly Economically Developed and Ageing World. Gerontology 2023; 69: 927-945 [PMID: 36476630 DOI: 10.1159/000528561]
- Fried LP, Cohen AA, Xue QL, Walston J, Bandeen-Roche K, Varadhan R. The physical frailty syndrome as a transition from homeostatic 2 symphony to cacophony. Nat Aging 2021; 1: 36-46 [PMID: 34476409 DOI: 10.1038/s43587-020-00017-z]
- Xue QL. The frailty syndrome: definition and natural history. Clin Geriatr Med 2011; 27: 1-15 [PMID: 21093718 DOI: 3 10.1016/j.cger.2010.08.009]
- Karakousis ND, Chrysavgis L, Chatzigeorgiou A, Papatheodoridis G, Cholongitas E. Frailty in metabolic syndrome, focusing on nonalcoholic 4 fatty liver disease. Ann Gastroenterol 2022; 35: 234-242 [PMID: 35599934 DOI: 10.20524/aog.2022.0705]
- Siramolpiwat S, Kiattikunrat K, Soontararatpong R, Pornthisarn B, Vilaichone RK, Chonprasertsuk S, Bhanthumkomol P, Nunanun P, 5 Issariyakulkarn N. Frailty as tested by the Liver Frailty Index is associated with decompensation and unplanned hospitalization in patients with compensated cirrhosis. Scand J Gastroenterol 2021; 56: 1210-1219 [PMID: 34338110 DOI: 10.1080/00365521.2021.1957497]
- Jeejeebhoy KN. Malnutrition, fatigue, frailty, vulnerability, sarcopenia and cachexia: overlap of clinical features. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab 6 Care 2012; 15: 213-219 [PMID: 22450775 DOI: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e328352694f]
- 7 Lai JC, Tandon P, Bernal W, Tapper EB, Ekong U, Dasarathy S, Carey EJ. Malnutrition, Frailty, and Sarcopenia in Patients With Cirrhosis: 2021 Practice Guidance by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatology 2021; 74: 1611-1644 [PMID: 34233031 DOI: 10.1002/hep.32049]
- Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, Newman AB, Hirsch C, Gottdiener J, Seeman T, Tracy R, Kop WJ, Burke G, McBurnie MA; 8 Cardiovascular Health Study Collaborative Research Group. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2001; 56: M146-M156 [PMID: 11253156 DOI: 10.1093/gerona/56.3.m146]
- Lochs H, Allison SP, Meier R, Pirlich M, Kondrup J, Schneider S, van den Berghe G, Pichard C. Introductory to the ESPEN Guidelines on 9 Enteral Nutrition: Terminology, definitions and general topics. Clin Nutr 2006; 25: 180-186 [PMID: 16697086 DOI: 10.1016/j.clnu.2006.02.007
- Evans WJ, Morley JE, Argilés J, Bales C, Baracos V, Guttridge D, Jatoi A, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Lochs H, Mantovani G, Marks D, Mitch WE, 10 Muscaritoli M, Najand A, Ponikowski P, Rossi Fanelli F, Schambelan M, Schols A, Schuster M, Thomas D, Wolfe R, Anker SD. Cachexia: a new definition. Clin Nutr 2008; 27: 793-799 [PMID: 18718696 DOI: 10.1016/j.clnu.2008.06.013]
- Santilli V, Bernetti A, Mangone M, Paoloni M. Clinical definition of sarcopenia. Clin Cases Miner Bone Metab 2014; 11: 177-180 [PMID: 11 25568649 DOI: 10.11138/ccmbm/2014.11.3.177]
- 12 Yoh K, Nishikawa H, Enomoto H, Iwata Y, Ikeda N, Aizawa N, Nishimura T, Iijima H, Nishiguchi S. Grip Strength: A Useful Marker for



Composite Hepatic Events in Patients with Chronic Liver Diseases. Diagnostics (Basel) 2020; 10 [PMID: 32325995 DOI: 10.3390/diagnostics10040238]

- Rahman R, Wilson BP, Paul TV, Yadav B, Kango Gopal G, Viggeswarpu S. Prevalence and factors contributing to primary sarcopenia in 13 relatively healthy older Indians attending the outpatient department in a tertiary care hospital: A cross-sectional study. Aging Med (Milton) 2021; 4: 257-265 [PMID: 34964006 DOI: 10.1002/agm2.12186]
- Bauer J, Morley JE, Schols AMWJ, Ferrucci L, Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Dent E, Baracos VE, Crawford JA, Doehner W, Heymsfield SB, Jatoi A, 14 Kalantar-Zadeh K, Lainscak M, Landi F, Laviano A, Mancuso M, Muscaritoli M, Prado CM, Strasser F, von Haehling S, Coats AJS, Anker SD. Sarcopenia: A Time for Action. An SCWD Position Paper. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 2019; 10: 956-961 [PMID: 31523937 DOI: 10.1002/jcsm.12483]
- 15 Welch N, Attaway A, Bellar A, Alkhafaji H, Vural A, Dasarathy S. Compound Sarcopenia in Hospitalized Patients with Cirrhosis Worsens Outcomes with Increasing Age. Nutrients 2021; 13 [PMID: 33670535 DOI: 10.3390/nu13020659]
- Eslamparast T, Montano-Loza AJ, Raman M, Tandon P. Sarcopenic obesity in cirrhosis-The confluence of 2 prognostic titans. Liver Int 2018; 16 **38**: 1706-1717 [PMID: 29738109 DOI: 10.1111/liv.13876]
- Warner li ER, Satapathy SK. Sarcopenia in the Cirrhotic Patient: Current Knowledge and Future Directions. J Clin Exp Hepatol 2023; 13: 17 162-177 [PMID: 36647414 DOI: 10.1016/j.jceh.2022.06.005]
- Tandon P, Montano-Loza AJ, Lai JC, Dasarathy S, Merli M. Sarcopenia and frailty in decompensated cirrhosis. J Hepatol 2021; 75 Suppl 1: 18 S147-S162 [PMID: 34039486 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.01.025]
- Redman JS, Kaspar M, Puri P. Implications of pre-transplant sarcopenia and frailty in patients with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis and alcoholic 19 liver disease. Transl Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 7: 29 [PMID: 35892054 DOI: 10.21037/tgh-20-236]
- Yang YJ, Kim DJ. An Overview of the Molecular Mechanisms Contributing to Musculoskeletal Disorders in Chronic Liver Disease: 20 Osteoporosis, Sarcopenia, and Osteoporotic Sarcopenia. Int J Mol Sci 2021; 22 [PMID: 33807573 DOI: 10.3390/ijms22052604]
- Chen HW, Dunn MA. Muscle at Risk: The Multiple Impacts of Ammonia on Sarcopenia and Frailty in Cirrhosis. Clin Transl Gastroenterol 21 2016; 7: e170 [PMID: 27228401 DOI: 10.1038/ctg.2016.33]
- Kumar R, Prakash SS, Priyadarshi RN, Anand U. Sarcopenia in Chronic Liver Disease: A Metabolic Perspective. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2022; 22 10: 1213-1222 [PMID: 36381104 DOI: 10.14218/JCTH.2022.00239]
- Qiu J, Tsien C, Thapalaya S, Narayanan A, Weihl CC, Ching JK, Eghtesad B, Singh K, Fu X, Dubyak G, McDonald C, Almasan A, Hazen SL, 23 Naga Prasad SV, Dasarathy S. Hyperammonemia-mediated autophagy in skeletal muscle contributes to sarcopenia of cirrhosis. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2012; 303: E983-E993 [PMID: 22895779 DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.00183.2012]
- White JP, Gao S, Puppa MJ, Sato S, Welle SL, Carson JA. Testosterone regulation of Akt/mTORC1/FoxO3a signaling in skeletal muscle. Mol 24 Cell Endocrinol 2013; 365: 174-186 [PMID: 23116773 DOI: 10.1016/j.mce.2012.10.019]
- Deng N, Mallepally N, Peng FB, Kanji A, Marcelli M, Hernaez R. Serum testosterone levels and testosterone supplementation in cirrhosis: A 25 systematic review. Liver Int 2021; 41: 2358-2370 [PMID: 33966337 DOI: 10.1111/liv.14938]
- Johnson PJ. Sex hormones and the liver. Clin Sci (Lond) 1984; 66: 369-376 [PMID: 6365407 DOI: 10.1042/cs0660369] 26
- Mendler L, Baka Z, Kovács-Simon A, Dux L. Androgens negatively regulate myostatin expression in an androgen-dependent skeletal muscle. 27 Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2007; 361: 237-242 [PMID: 17658471 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.07.023]
- Ma K, Mallidis C, Artaza J, Taylor W, Gonzalez-Cadavid N, Bhasin S. Characterization of 5'-regulatory region of human myostatin gene: 28 regulation by dexamethasone in vitro. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2001; 281: E1128-E1136 [PMID: 11701425 DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.2001.281.6.E1128
- 29 Dasarathy S. Myostatin and beyond in cirrhosis: all roads lead to sarcopenia. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 2017; 8: 864-869 [PMID: 29168629 DOI: 10.1002/jcsm.12262]
- Goswami A, Bhargava N, Dadhich S, Kulamarva G. Insulin resistance in euglycemic cirrhosis. Ann Gastroenterol 2014; 27: 237-243 [PMID: 30 249748781
- Chevalier S, Marliss EB, Morais JA, Lamarche M, Gougeon R. Whole-body protein anabolic response is resistant to the action of insulin in 31 obese women. Am J Clin Nutr 2005; 82: 355-365 [PMID: 16087979 DOI: 10.1093/ajcn.82.2.355]
- 32 Kalyani RR, Corriere M, Ferrucci L. Age-related and disease-related muscle loss: the effect of diabetes, obesity, and other diseases. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2014; 2: 819-829 [PMID: 24731660 DOI: 10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70034-8]
- Yaribeygi H, Maleki M, Sathyapalan T, Jamialahmadi T, Sahebkar A. Pathophysiology of Physical Inactivity-Dependent Insulin Resistance: A 33 Theoretical Mechanistic Review Emphasizing Clinical Evidence. J Diabetes Res 2021; 2021: 7796727 [PMID: 34660812 DOI: 10.1155/2021/7796727]
- Klok MD, Jakobsdottir S, Drent ML. The role of leptin and ghrelin in the regulation of food intake and body weight in humans: a review. Obes 34 *Rev* 2007; **8**: 21-34 [PMID: 17212793 DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2006.00270.x]
- Al-Hussaniy HA, Alburghaif AH, Naji MA. Leptin hormone and its effectiveness in reproduction, metabolism, immunity, diabetes, hopes and 35 ambitions. J Med Life 2021; 14: 600-605 [PMID: 35027962 DOI: 10.25122/jml-2021-0153]
- Rachakonda V, Borhani AA, Dunn MA, Andrzejewski M, Martin K, Behari J. Serum Leptin Is a Biomarker of Malnutrition in 36 Decompensated Cirrhosis. PLoS One 2016; 11: e0159142 [PMID: 27583675 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0159142]
- Elaghori A, Salem PES, Azzam E, Abu Elfotoh N. GHRELIN LEVEL IN PATIENTS WITH LIVER CIRRHOSIS. Acta Endocrinol (Buchar) 37 2019; -5: 62-68 [PMID: 31149061 DOI: 10.4183/aeb.2019.62]
- Diz-Lois MT, Garcia-Buela J, Suarez F, Sangiao-Alvarellos S, Vidal O, Cordido F. Altered fasting and postprandial plasma ghrelin levels in 38 patients with liver failure are normalized after liver transplantation. Eur J Endocrinol 2010; 163: 609-616 [PMID: 20616109 DOI: 10.1530/EJE-10-0508
- Luedde T, Kaplowitz N, Schwabe RF. Cell death and cell death responses in liver disease: mechanisms and clinical relevance. 39 Gastroenterology 2014; 147: 765-783.e4 [PMID: 25046161 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.07.018]
- Dirchwolf M, Ruf AE. Role of systemic inflammation in cirrhosis: From pathogenesis to prognosis. World J Hepatol 2015; 7: 1974-1981 40 [PMID: 26261687 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v7.i16.1974]
- Ghassemi S, Garcia-Tsao G. Prevention and treatment of infections in patients with cirrhosis. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2007; 21: 77-41 93 [PMID: 17223498 DOI: 10.1016/j.bpg.2006.07.004]
- 42 Rao R. Endotoxemia and gut barrier dysfunction in alcoholic liver disease. Hepatology 2009; 50: 638-644 [PMID: 19575462 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23009]



- Sawant P, Vashishtha C, Nasa M. Management of cardiopulmonary complications of cirrhosis. Int J Hepatol 2011; 2011: 280569 [PMID: 43 21994850 DOI: 10.4061/2011/280569]
- Li P, He K, Li J, Liu Z, Gong J. The role of Kupffer cells in hepatic diseases. Mol Immunol 2017; 85: 222-229 [PMID: 28314211 DOI: 44 10.1016/j.molimm.2017.02.018]
- Acharya C, Bajaj JS. Altered Microbiome in Patients With Cirrhosis and Complications. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 17: 307-321 45 [PMID: 30099098 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2018.08.008]
- Lee FY, Lu RH, Tsai YT, Lin HC, Hou MC, Li CP, Liao TM, Lin LF, Wang SS, Lee SD. Plasma interleukin-6 Levels in patients with 46 cirrhosis. Relationship to endotoxemia, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, and hyperdynamic circulation. Scand J Gastroenterol 1996; 31: 500-505 [PMID: 8734349 DOI: 10.3109/00365529609006772]
- Altves S, Yildiz HK, Vural HC. Interaction of the microbiota with the human body in health and diseases. Biosci Microbiota Food Health 47 2020; 39: 23-32 [PMID: 32328397 DOI: 10.12938/bmfh.19-023]
- 48 Su X, Gao Y, Yang R. Gut Microbiota-Derived Tryptophan Metabolites Maintain Gut and Systemic Homeostasis. Cells 2022; 11 [PMID: 35892593 DOI: 10.3390/cells11152296]
- Ohtani N, Kamiya T, Kawada N. Recent updates on the role of the gut-liver axis in the pathogenesis of NAFLD/NASH, HCC, and beyond. 49 Hepatol Commun 2023; 7 [PMID: 37639702 DOI: 10.1097/HC9.00000000000241]
- Woodhouse CA, Patel VC, Singanayagam A, Shawcross DL. Review article: the gut microbiome as a therapeutic target in the pathogenesis 50 and treatment of chronic liver disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2018; 47: 192-202 [PMID: 29083037 DOI: 10.1111/apt.14397]
- 51 Tilg H, Cani PD, Mayer EA. Gut microbiome and liver diseases. Gut 2016; 65: 2035-2044 [PMID: 27802157 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2016-312729]
- Maslennikov R, Ivashkin V, Efremova I, Poluektova E, Shirokova E. Gut-liver axis in cirrhosis: Are hemodynamic changes a missing link? 52 World J Clin Cases 2021; 9: 9320-9332 [PMID: 34877269 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v9.i31.9320]
- Zeng Y, Chen S, Fu Y, Wu W, Chen T, Chen J, Yang B, Ou Q. Gut microbiota dysbiosis in patients with hepatitis B virus-induced chronic 53 liver disease covering chronic hepatitis, liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. J Viral Hepat 2020; 27: 143-155 [PMID: 31600845 DOI: 10.1111/jvh.13216]
- Arab JP, Martin-Mateos RM, Shah VH. Gut-liver axis, cirrhosis and portal hypertension: the chicken and the egg. Hepatol Int 2018; 12: 24-33 54 [PMID: 28550391 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-017-9798-x]
- Bajaj JS, Heuman DM, Hylemon PB, Sanyal AJ, White MB, Monteith P, Noble NA, Unser AB, Daita K, Fisher AR, Sikaroodi M, Gillevet 55 PM. Altered profile of human gut microbiome is associated with cirrhosis and its complications. J Hepatol 2014; 60: 940-947 [PMID: 24374295 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.12.019]
- Casati M, Ferri E, Azzolino D, Cesari M, Arosio B. Gut microbiota and physical frailty through the mediation of sarcopenia. Exp Gerontol 56 2019; 124: 110639 [PMID: 31226349 DOI: 10.1016/j.exger.2019.110639]
- Kaji K, Takaya H, Saikawa S, Furukawa M, Sato S, Kawaratani H, Kitade M, Moriya K, Namisaki T, Akahane T, Mitoro A, Yoshiji H. 57 Rifaximin ameliorates hepatic encephalopathy and endotoxemia without affecting the gut microbiome diversity. World J Gastroenterol 2017; 23: 8355-8366 [PMID: 29307995 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i47.8355]
- 58 Jin M, Kalainy S, Baskota N, Chiang D, Deehan EC, McDougall C, Tandon P, Martínez I, Cervera C, Walter J, Abraldes JG. Faecal microbiota from patients with cirrhosis has a low capacity to ferment non-digestible carbohydrates into short-chain fatty acids. Liver Int 2019; **39**: 1437-1447 [PMID: 30919578 DOI: 10.1111/liv.14106]
- Shimizu Y. Gut microbiota in common elderly diseases affecting activities of daily living. World J Gastroenterol 2018; 24: 4750-4758 [PMID: 59 30479462 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i42.4750]
- Bloemen JG, Olde Damink SW, Venema K, Buurman WA, Jalan R, Dejong CH. Short chain fatty acids exchange: Is the cirrhotic, 60 dysfunctional liver still able to clear them? Clin Nutr 2010; 29: 365-369 [PMID: 19897285 DOI: 10.1016/j.clnu.2009.10.002]
- Walsh ME, Bhattacharya A, Sataranatarajan K, Qaisar R, Sloane L, Rahman MM, Kinter M, Van Remmen H. The histone deacetylase 61 inhibitor butyrate improves metabolism and reduces muscle atrophy during aging. Aging Cell 2015; 14: 957-970 [PMID: 26290460 DOI: 10.1111/acel.123871
- Maslennikov R, Alieva A, Poluektova E, Zharikov Y, Suslov A, Letyagina Y, Vasileva E, Levshina A, Kozlov E, Ivashkin V. Sarcopenia in 62 cirrhosis: Prospects for therapy targeted to gut microbiota. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29: 4236-4251 [PMID: 37545638 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i27.4236
- Yao J, Chang L, Yuan L, Duan Z. Nutrition status and small intestinal bacterial overgrowth in patients with virus-related cirrhosis. Asia Pac J 63 Clin Nutr 2016; 25: 283-291 [PMID: 27222411 DOI: 10.6133/apjcn.2016.25.2.06]
- Le Couteur DG, Solon-Biet SM, Cogger VC, Ribeiro R, de Cabo R, Raubenheimer D, Cooney GJ, Simpson SJ. Branched chain amino acids, 64 aging and age-related health. Ageing Res Rev 2020; 64: 101198 [PMID: 33132154 DOI: 10.1016/j.arr.2020.101198]
- Kelly B, Pearce EL. Amino Assets: How Amino Acids Support Immunity. Cell Metab 2020; 32: 154-175 [PMID: 32649859 DOI: 65 10.1016/j.cmet.2020.06.010]
- Calvani R, Picca A, Rodriguez-Mañas L, Tosato M, Coelho-Júnior HJ, Biancolillo A, Laosa O, Gervasoni J, Primiano A, Santucci L, 66 Giampaoli O, Bourdel-Marchasson I, Regueme SC, Sinclair AJ, Urbani A, Landi F, Gambassi G, Marini F, Marzetti E. Amino Acid Profiles in Older Adults with Frailty: Secondary Analysis from MetaboFrail and BIOSPHERE Studies. Metabolites 2023; 13 [PMID: 37110200 DOI: 10.3390/metabo13040542]
- Kinny-Köster B, Bartels M, Becker S, Scholz M, Thiery J, Ceglarek U, Kaiser T. Plasma Amino Acid Concentrations Predict Mortality in 67 Patients with End-Stage Liver Disease. PLoS One 2016; 11: e0159205 [PMID: 27410482 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0159205]
- 68 Plauth M, Schütz T. Branched-chain amino acids in liver disease: new aspects of long known phenomena. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2011; 14: 61-66 [PMID: 21088568 DOI: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e3283413726]
- Siramolpiwat S, Limthanetkul N, Pornthisarn B, Vilaichone RK, Chonprasertsuk S, Bhanthumkomol P, Nunanan P, Issariyakulkarn N. 69 Branched-chain amino acids supplementation improves liver frailty index in frail compensated cirrhotic patients: a randomized controlled trial. BMC Gastroenterol 2023; 23: 154 [PMID: 37189033 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-023-02789-1]
- 70 Holecek M. Ammonia and amino acid profiles in liver cirrhosis: effects of variables leading to hepatic encephalopathy. Nutrition 2015; 31: 14-20 [PMID: 25220875 DOI: 10.1016/j.nut.2014.03.016]
- Hernández-Conde M, Llop E, Gómez-Pimpollo L, Fernández Carrillo C, Rodríguez L, Van Den Brule E, Perelló C, López-Gómez M, Abad J, 71 Martínez-Porras JL, Fernández-Puga N, Ferre C, Trapero M, Fraga E, Calleja JL. Adding Branched-Chain Amino Acids to an Enhanced Standard-of-Care Treatment Improves Muscle Mass of Cirrhotic Patients With Sarcopenia: A Placebo-Controlled Trial. Am J Gastroenterol



2021; 116: 2241-2249 [PMID: 34074812 DOI: 10.14309/ajg.00000000001301]

- Uojima H, Sakurai S, Hidaka H, Kinbara T, Sung JH, Ichita C, Tokoro S, Masuda S, Sasaki A, Koizumi K, Egashira H, Kako M, Kobayashi S. 72 Effect of branched-chain amino acid supplements on muscle strength and muscle mass in patients with liver cirrhosis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017; 29: 1402-1407 [PMID: 28984678 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000000968]
- Traub J, Reiss L, Aliwa B, Stadlbauer V. Malnutrition in Patients with Liver Cirrhosis. Nutrients 2021; 13 [PMID: 33562292 DOI: 73 10.3390/nu13020540
- Verslype C, Cassiman D. Cirrhosis and malnutrition: assessment and management. Acta Gastroenterol Belg 2010; 73: 510-513 [PMID: 74 212991631
- 75 Liang H, Li X, Lin X, Ju Y, Leng J. The correlation between nutrition and frailty and the receiver operating characteristic curve of different nutritional indexes for frailty. BMC Geriatr 2021; 21: 619 [PMID: 34724908 DOI: 10.1186/s12877-021-02580-5]
- 76 Moore CM, Van Thiel DH. Cirrhotic ascites review: Pathophysiology, diagnosis and management. World J Hepatol 2013; 5: 251-263 [PMID: 23717736 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v5.i5.251]
- Makhlouf NA, Mahran ZG, Sadek SH, Magdy DM, Makhlouf HA. Six-minute walk test before and after large-volume paracentesis in 77 cirrhotic patients with refractory ascites: A pilot study. Arab J Gastroenterol 2019; 20: 81-85 [PMID: 31182343 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajg.2019.05.009]
- Aqel BA, Scolapio JS, Dickson RC, Burton DD, Bouras EP. Contribution of ascites to impaired gastric function and nutritional intake in 78 patients with cirrhosis and ascites. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005; 3: 1095-1100 [PMID: 16271340 DOI: 10.1016/s1542-3565(05)00531-8]
- Biggins SW, Angeli P, Garcia-Tsao G, Ginès P, Ling SC, Nadim MK, Wong F, Kim WR. Diagnosis, Evaluation, and Management of Ascites, 79 Spontaneous Bacterial Peritonitis and Hepatorenal Syndrome: 2021 Practice Guidance by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatology 2021; 74: 1014-1048 [PMID: 33942342 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31884]
- Pedersen JS, Bendtsen F, Møller S. Management of cirrhotic ascites. Ther Adv Chronic Dis 2015; 6: 124-137 [PMID: 25954497 DOI: 80 10.1177/2040622315580069
- Gauthier A, Levy VG, Quinton A, Michel H, Rueff B, Descos L, Durbec JP, Fermanian J, Lancrenon S. Salt or no salt in the treatment of 81 cirrhotic ascites: a randomised study. Gut 1986; 27: 705-709 [PMID: 3522371 DOI: 10.1136/gut.27.6.705]
- Reynolds TB, Lieberman FL, Goodman AR. Advantages of treatment of ascites without sodium restriction and without complete removal of 82 excess fluid. Gut 1978; 19: 549-553 [PMID: 680588 DOI: 10.1136/gut.19.6.549]
- Eisenmenger WJ, Ahrens EH. The effect of rigid sodium restriction in patients with cirrhosis of the liver and ascites. J Lab Clin Med 1949; 83 **34**: 1029-1038 [PMID: 18136205]
- Haberl J, Zollner G, Fickert P, Stadlbauer V. To salt or not to salt?-That is the question in cirrhosis. Liver Int 2018; 38: 1148-1159 [PMID: 84 29608812 DOI: 10.1111/liv.13750]
- Morando F, Rosi S, Gola E, Nardi M, Piano S, Fasolato S, Stanco M, Cavallin M, Romano A, Sticca A, Caregaro L, Gatta A, Angeli P. 85 Adherence to a moderate sodium restriction diet in outpatients with cirrhosis and ascites: a real-life cross-sectional study. Liver Int 2015; 35: 1508-1515 [PMID: 24811138 DOI: 10.1111/liv.12583]
- Salerno F, Guevara M, Bernardi M, Moreau R, Wong F, Angeli P, Garcia-Tsao G, Lee SS. Refractory ascites: pathogenesis, definition and 86 therapy of a severe complication in patients with cirrhosis. Liver Int 2010; 30: 937-947 [PMID: 20492521 DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2010.02272.x]
- Gu XB, Yang XJ, Zhu HY, Xu BY. Effect of a diet with unrestricted sodium on ascites in patients with hepatic cirrhosis. Gut Liver 2012; 6: 87 355-361 [PMID: 22844565 DOI: 10.5009/gnl.2012.6.3.355]
- 88 Sorrentino P, Castaldo G, Tarantino L, Bracigliano A, Perrella A, Perrella O, Fiorentino F, Vecchione R, D' Angelo S. Preservation of nutritional-status in patients with refractory ascites due to hepatic cirrhosis who are undergoing repeated paracentesis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012; 27: 813-822 [PMID: 22142548 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2011.07043.x]
- Singh V, De A, Mehtani R, Angeli P, Maiwall R, Satapathy S, Singal AK, Saraya A, Sharma BC, Eapen CE, Rao PN, Shukla A, Shalimar, 89 Choudhary NS, Alcantara-Payawal D, Arora V, Aithal G, Kulkarni A, Roy A, Shrestha A, Mamun Al Mahtab, Niriella MA, Siam TS, Zhang CQ, Huei LG, Yu ML, Roberts SK, Peng CY, Chen T, George J, Wong V, Yilmaz Y, Treeprasertsuk S, Kurniawan J, Kim SU, Younossi ZM, Sarin SK. Asia-Pacific association for study of liver guidelines on management of ascites in liver disease. Hepatol Int 2023; 17: 792-826 [PMID: 37237088 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-023-10536-7]
- Aithal GP, Palaniyappan N, China L, Härmälä S, Macken L, Ryan JM, Wilkes EA, Moore K, Leithead JA, Hayes PC, O'Brien AJ, Verma S. 90 Guidelines on the management of ascites in cirrhosis. Gut 2021; 70: 9-29 [PMID: 33067334 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-321790]
- Yoshiji H, Nagoshi S, Akahane T, Asaoka Y, Ueno Y, Ogawa K, Kawaguchi T, Kurosaki M, Sakaida I, Shimizu M, Taniai M, Terai S, 91 Nishikawa H, Hiasa Y, Hidaka H, Miwa H, Chayama K, Enomoto N, Shimosegawa T, Takehara T, Koike K. Evidence-based clinical practice guidelines for Liver Cirrhosis 2020. J Gastroenterol 2021; 56: 593-619 [PMID: 34231046 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-021-01788-x]
- European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines on nutrition in chronic liver disease. J Hepatol 2019; 92 70: 172-193 [PMID: 30144956 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.06.024]
- Pavić E, Martinis I, Orec I, Vrdoljak I. Use and importance of salt in hospital nutrition. Acta Med Croatica 2010; 64: 133-142 [PMID: 93 206490801
- 94 Blei AT, Córdoba J; Practice Parameters Committee of the American College of Gastroenterology. Hepatic Encephalopathy. Am J Gastroenterol 2001; 96: 1968-1976 [PMID: 11467622 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2001.03964.x]
- Chadalavada R, Sappati Biyyani RS, Maxwell J, Mullen K. Nutrition in hepatic encephalopathy. Nutr Clin Pract 2010; 25: 257-264 [PMID: 95 20581319 DOI: 10.1177/0884533610368712]
- Maharshi S, Sharma BC, Sachdeva S, Srivastava S, Sharma P. Efficacy of Nutritional Therapy for Patients With Cirrhosis and Minimal 96 Hepatic Encephalopathy in a Randomized Trial. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016; 14: 454-460.e3; quiz e33 [PMID: 26453952 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2015.09.028
- Córdoba J, López-Hellín J, Planas M, Sabín P, Sanpedro F, Castro F, Esteban R, Guardia J. Normal protein diet for episodic hepatic 97 encephalopathy: results of a randomized study. J Hepatol 2004; 41: 38-43 [PMID: 15246205 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2004.03.023]
- 98 Shah ND, Barritt AS 4th. Nutrition as Therapy in Liver Disease. Clin Ther 2022; 44: 682-696 [PMID: 35643886 DOI: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2022.04.012]
- Charlton CP, Buchanan E, Holden CE, Preece MA, Green A, Booth IW, Tarlow MJ. Intensive enteral feeding in advanced cirrhosis: reversal 99 of malnutrition without precipitation of hepatic encephalopathy. Arch Dis Child 1992; 67: 603-607 [PMID: 1599297 DOI: 10.1136/adc.67.5.603]



- Lieber CS. Relationships between nutrition, alcohol use, and liver disease. Alcohol Res Health 2003; 27: 220-231 [PMID: 15535450] 100
- Roggin GM, Iber FL, Kater RM, Tabon F. Malabsorption in the chronic alcoholic. Johns Hopkins Med J 1969; 125: 321-330 [PMID: 5370736
- 102 Jhangiani SS, Agarwal N, Holmes R, Cayten CG, Pitchumoni CS. Energy expenditure in chronic alcoholics with and without liver disease. Am J Clin Nutr 1986; 44: 323-329 [PMID: 3092630 DOI: 10.1093/ajcn/44.3.323]
- Singal AK, Charlton MR. Nutrition in alcoholic liver disease. Clin Liver Dis 2012; 16: 805-826 [PMID: 23101983 DOI: 103 10.1016/j.cld.2012.08.009
- Ayares G, Idalsoaga F, Díaz LA, Arnold J, Arab JP. Current Medical Treatment for Alcohol-Associated Liver Disease. J Clin Exp Hepatol 104 2022; 12: 1333-1348 [PMID: 36157148 DOI: 10.1016/j.jceh.2022.02.001]
- Kamran U, Towey J, Khanna A, Chauhan A, Rajoriya N, Holt A. Nutrition in alcohol-related liver disease: Physiopathology and management. 105 World J Gastroenterol 2020; 26: 2916-2930 [PMID: 32587439 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v26.i22.2916]
- 106 Mitchell MC, Friedman LS, McClain CJ. Medical Management of Severe Alcoholic Hepatitis: Expert Review from the Clinical Practice Updates Committee of the AGA Institute. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017; 15: 5-12 [PMID: 27979049 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2016.08.047]
- 107 Stickel F, Hoehn B, Schuppan D, Seitz HK. Review article: Nutritional therapy in alcoholic liver disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2003; 18: 357-373 [PMID: 12940921 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2036.2003.01660.x]
- Montano-Loza AJ, Angulo P, Meza-Junco J, Prado CM, Sawyer MB, Beaumont C, Esfandiari N, Ma M, Baracos VE. Sarcopenic obesity and 108 myosteatosis are associated with higher mortality in patients with cirrhosis. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle 2016; 7: 126-135 [PMID: 27493866 DOI: 10.1002/jcsm.12039]
- 109 El Sherif O, Dhaliwal A, Newsome PN, Armstrong MJ. Sarcopenia in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: new challenges for clinical practice. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 14: 197-205 [PMID: 32064966 DOI: 10.1080/17474124.2020.1731303]
- Schiavo L, Busetto L, Cesaretti M, Zelber-Sagi S, Deutsch L, Iannelli A. Nutritional issues in patients with obesity and cirrhosis. World J 110 Gastroenterol 2018; 24: 3330-3346 [PMID: 30122874 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i30.3330]
- 111 Wijarnpreecha K, Panjawatanan P, Aby E, Ahmed A, Kim D. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in the over-60s: Impact of sarcopenia and obesity. Maturitas 2019; 124: 48-54 [PMID: 31097179 DOI: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2019.03.016]
- Nishikawa H, Fukunishi S, Asai A, Nishiguchi S, Higuchi K. Sarcopenia and Frailty in Liver Cirrhosis. Life (Basel) 2021; 11 [PMID: 112 33925660 DOI: 10.3390/life11050399]
- Kruger C, McNeely ML, Bailey RJ, Yavari M, Abraldes JG, Carbonneau M, Newnham K, DenHeyer V, Ma M, Thompson R, Paterson I, 113 Haykowsky MJ, Tandon P. Home Exercise Training Improves Exercise Capacity in Cirrhosis Patients: Role of Exercise Adherence. Sci Rep 2018; 8: 99 [PMID: 29311671 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-18320-y]
- 114 Román E, García-Galcerán C, Torrades T, Herrera S, Marín A, Doñate M, Alvarado-Tapias E, Malouf J, Nácher L, Serra-Grima R, Guarner C, Cordoba J, Soriano G. Effects of an Exercise Programme on Functional Capacity, Body Composition and Risk of Falls in Patients with Cirrhosis: A Randomized Clinical Trial. PLoS One 2016; 11: e0151652 [PMID: 27011355 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0151652]
- 115 Zenith L, Meena N, Ramadi A, Yavari M, Harvey A, Carbonneau M, Ma M, Abraldes JG, Paterson I, Haykowsky MJ, Tandon P. Eight weeks of exercise training increases aerobic capacity and muscle mass and reduces fatigue in patients with cirrhosis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014; 12: 1920-6.e2 [PMID: 24768811 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2014.04.016]
- Aggio DA, Sartini C, Papacosta O, Lennon LT, Ash S, Whincup PH, Wannamethee SG, Jefferis BJ. Cross-sectional associations of objectively 116 measured physical activity and sedentary time with sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity in older men. Prev Med 2016; 91: 264-272 [PMID: 27575317 DOI: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.08.040]
- Chalasani N, Younossi Z, Lavine JE, Charlton M, Cusi K, Rinella M, Harrison SA, Brunt EM, Sanyal AJ. The diagnosis and management of 117 nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Practice guidance from the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatology 2018; 67: 328-357 [PMID: 28714183 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29367]
- Nakaya Y, Harada N, Kakui S, Okada K, Takahashi A, Inoi J, Ito S. Severe catabolic state after prolonged fasting in cirrhotic patients: effect of 118 oral branched-chain amino-acid-enriched nutrient mixture. J Gastroenterol 2002; 37: 531-536 [PMID: 12162411 DOI: 10.1007/s005350200082]
- Owen OE, Trapp VE, Reichard GA Jr, Mozzoli MA, Moctezuma J, Paul P, Skutches CL, Boden G. Nature and quantity of fuels consumed in 119 patients with alcoholic cirrhosis. J Clin Invest 1983; 72: 1821-1832 [PMID: 6630528 DOI: 10.1172/JCI111142]
- 120 Plauth M, Cabré E, Campillo B, Kondrup J, Marchesini G, Schütz T, Shenkin A, Wendon J; ESPEN. ESPEN Guidelines on Parenteral Nutrition: hepatology. Clin Nutr 2009; 28: 436-444 [PMID: 19520466 DOI: 10.1016/j.clnu.2009.04.019]
- ASPEN Board of Directors and the Clinical Guidelines Task Force. Guidelines for the use of parenteral and enteral nutrition in adult and 121 pediatric patients. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 2002; 26: 1SA-138SA [PMID: 11841046 DOI: 10.1177/0148607102026001011]
- Hanai T, Shiraki M, Imai K, Suetsugu A, Takai K, Shimizu M. Late Evening Snack with Branched-Chain Amino Acids Supplementation Improves Survival in Patients with Cirrhosis. J Clin Med 2020; 9 [PMID: 32260139 DOI: 10.3390/jcm9041013]
- Yao J, Han W, Ren X, Yuan L, Xu J, Duan Z. Improvement of energy substrate metabolism by late evening snack supplementation in patients 123 with liver cirrhosis: a meta-analysis. Ther Clin Risk Manag 2019; 15: 659-668 [PMID: 31190846 DOI: 10.2147/TCRM.S201564]
- Mandai S, Furukawa S, Kodaka M, Hata Y, Mori T, Nomura N, Ando F, Mori Y, Takahashi D, Yoshizaki Y, Kasagi Y, Arai Y, Sasaki E, 124 Yoshida S, Furuichi Y, Fujii NL, Sohara E, Rai T, Uchida S. Loop diuretics affect skeletal myoblast differentiation and exercise-induced muscle hypertrophy. Sci Rep 2017; 7: 46369 [PMID: 28417963 DOI: 10.1038/srep46369]
- Nakano I, Tsuda M, Kinugawa S, Fukushima A, Kakutani N, Takada S, Yokota T. Loop diuretic use is associated with skeletal muscle wasting 125 in patients with heart failure. J Cardiol 2020; 76: 109-114 [PMID: 32001074 DOI: 10.1016/j.jjcc.2020.01.003]
- Hanai T, Shiraki M, Miwa T, Watanabe S, Imai K, Suetsugu A, Takai K, Moriwaki H, Shimizu M. Effect of loop diuretics on skeletal muscle 126 depletion in patients with liver cirrhosis. Hepatol Res 2019; 49: 82-95 [PMID: 30156741 DOI: 10.1111/hepr.13244]
- Burton LA, McMurdo ME, Struthers AD. Mineralocorticoid antagonism: a novel way to treat sarcopenia and physical impairment in older people? Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2011; 75: 725-729 [PMID: 21699555 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.04148.x]
- Attaway A, Bellar A, Dieye F, Wajda D, Welch N, Dasarathy S. Clinical impact of compound sarcopenia in hospitalized older adult patients 128 with heart failure. J Am Geriatr Soc 2021; 69: 1815-1825 [PMID: 33735939 DOI: 10.1111/jgs.17108]
- Lai JC, Rahimi RS, Verna EC, Kappus MR, Dunn MA, McAdams-DeMarco M, Haugen CE, Volk ML, Duarte-Rojo A, Ganger DR, O'Leary 129 JG, Dodge JL, Ladner D, Segev DL. Frailty Associated With Waitlist Mortality Independent of Ascites and Hepatic Encephalopathy in a Multicenter Study. Gastroenterology 2019; 156: 1675-1682 [PMID: 30668935 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.01.028]



- Skladany L, Molcan P, Vnencakova J, Vrbova P, Kukla M, Laffers L, Koller T. Frailty in Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Cirrhosis: A Comparison 130 with Alcoholic Cirrhosis, Risk Patterns, and Impact on Prognosis. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 2021: 5576531 [PMID: 34095016 DOI: 10.1155/2021/5576531
- Lai JC, Dodge JL, Kappus MR, Dunn MA, Volk ML, Duarte-Rojo A, Ganger DR, Rahimi RS, McCulloch CE, Haugen CE, McAdams-131 DeMarco M, Ladner DP, Segev DL, Verna EC; Multi-Center Functional Assessment in Liver Transplantation (FrAILT) Study. Changes in frailty are associated with waitlist mortality in patients with cirrhosis. J Hepatol 2020; 73: 575-581 [PMID: 32240717 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.03.029]
- Berry K, Duarte-Rojo A, Grab JD, Dunn MA, Boyarsky BJ, Verna EC, Kappus MR, Volk ML, McAdams-DeMarco M, Segev DL, Ganger 132 DR, Ladner DP, Shui A, Tincopa MA, Rahimi RS, Lai JC; from the Multi-Center Functional Assessment in Liver Transplantation (FrAILT) Study. Cognitive Impairment and Physical Frailty in Patients With Cirrhosis. Hepatol Commun 2022; 6: 237-246 [PMID: 34558844 DOI: 10.1002/hep4.1796]
- 133 Deng LX, Bischoff KE, Kent DS, O'Riordan DL, Pantilat SZ, Lai JC. Frailty is strongly associated with self-reported symptom burden among patients with cirrhosis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 33: e395-e400 [PMID: 33731588 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000002113]
- Román E, Parramón M, Flavia M, Gely C, Poca M, Gallego A, Santesmases R, Hernández E, Nieto JC, Urgell E, Alvarado-Tapias E, Vidal S, 134 Ferrero-Gregori A, Vargas V, Guarner C, Soriano G. Frailty in outpatients with cirrhosis: A prospective observational study. Liver Int 2021; 41: 357-368 [PMID: 33030788 DOI: 10.1111/liv.14694]
- Cron DC, Friedman JF, Winder GS, Thelen AE, Derck JE, Fakhoury JW, Gerebics AD, Englesbe MJ, Sonnenday CJ. Depression and Frailty 135 in Patients With End-Stage Liver Disease Referred for Transplant Evaluation. Am J Transplant 2016; 16: 1805-1811 [PMID: 26613640 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.13639
- Lai JC, Dodge JL, McCulloch CE, Covinsky KE, Singer JP. Frailty and the Burden of Concurrent and Incident Disability in Patients With 136 Cirrhosis: A Prospective Cohort Study. Hepatol Commun 2020; 4: 126-133 [PMID: 31909360 DOI: 10.1002/hep4.1444]
- Schleicher EM, Kremer WM, Kalampoka V, Gairing SJ, Kaps L, Schattenberg JM, Galle PR, Wörns MA, Nagel M, Weinmann-Menke J, 137 Labenz C. Frailty as Tested by the Clinical Frailty Scale Is a Risk Factor for Hepatorenal Syndrome in Patients With Liver Cirrhosis. Clin Transl Gastroenterol 2022; 13: e00512 [PMID: 35905416 DOI: 10.14309/ctg.00000000000512]
- Dunn MA, Josbeno DA, Tevar AD, Rachakonda V, Ganesh SR, Schmotzer AR, Kallenborn EA, Behari J, Landsittel DP, DiMartini AF, 138 Delitto A. Frailty as Tested by Gait Speed is an Independent Risk Factor for Cirrhosis Complications that Require Hospitalization. Am J Gastroenterol 2016; 111: 1768-1775 [PMID: 27575708 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2016.336]
- 139 Serper M, Tao SY, Kent DS, Garren P, Burdzy AE, Lai JC, Gougol A, Bloomer PM, Reddy KR, Dunn MA, Duarte-Rojo A. Inpatient Frailty Assessment Is Feasible and Predicts Nonhome Discharge and Mortality in Decompensated Cirrhosis. Liver Transpl 2021; 27: 1711-1722 [PMID: 34018303 DOI: 10.1002/lt.26100]
- Ferreira AP, Machado MV. Impact of pretransplant frailty and sarcopenia on the post-transplant prognosis of patients with liver cirrhosis: a 140 systematic review. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 33: e883-e897 [PMID: 35048655 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000002291]
- Wang S, Whitlock R, Xu C, Taneja S, Singh S, Abraldes JG, Burak KW, Bailey RJ, Lai JC, Tandon P. Frailty is associated with increased risk 141 of cirrhosis disease progression and death. Hepatology 2022; 75: 600-609 [PMID: 34528267 DOI: 10.1002/hep.32157]
- Pradhan F, Narang N, Fallon M. Tale of the Frail: Understanding Frailty in Cirrhosis. South Med J 2021; 114: 186-191 [PMID: 33655314 142 DOI: 10.14423/SMJ.000000000001224]
- Sohal A, Chaudhry H, Kohli I, Arora K, Patel J, Dhillon N, Singh I, Dukovic D, Roytman M. Frailty as a risk-stratification tool in patients 143 undergoing transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt (TIPS). J Frailty Sarcopenia Falls 2023; 8: 83-93 [PMID: 37275658 DOI: 10.22540/JFSF-08-083]
- Chapman B, Goh SK, Parker F, Romero S, Sinclair M, Gow P, Ma R, Angus P, Jones R, Luke J, Muralidharan V, Testro A. Malnutrition and 144 low muscle strength are independent predictors of clinical outcomes and healthcare costs after liver transplant. Clin Nutr ESPEN 2022; 48: 210-219 [PMID: 35331494 DOI: 10.1016/j.clnesp.2022.02.013]
- Montgomery E, Macdonald PS, Newton PJ, Chang S, Wilhelm K, Jha SR, Malouf M. Reversibility of Frailty after Lung Transplantation. J 145 Transplant 2020; 2020: 3239495 [PMID: 32850137 DOI: 10.1155/2020/3239495]
- Williams FR, Milliken D, Lai JC, Armstrong MJ. Assessment of the Frail Patient With End-Stage Liver Disease: A Practical Overview of 146 Sarcopenia, Physical Function, and Disability. Hepatol Commun 2021; 5: 923-937 [PMID: 34141980 DOI: 10.1002/hep4.1688]
- Tapper EB, Konerman M, Murphy S, Sonnenday CJ. Hepatic encephalopathy impacts the predictive value of the Fried Frailty Index. Am J 147 Transplant 2018; 18: 2566-2570 [PMID: 30019835 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15020]
- Sinclair M, Poltavskiy E, Dodge JL, Lai JC. Frailty is independently associated with increased hospitalisation days in patients on the liver 148 transplant waitlist. World J Gastroenterol 2017; 23: 899-905 [PMID: 28223735 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i5.899]
- Lai JC, Feng S, Terrault NA, Lizaola B, Hayssen H, Covinsky K. Frailty predicts waitlist mortality in liver transplant candidates. Am J 149 Transplant 2014; 14: 1870-1879 [PMID: 24935609 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12762]
- Tandon P, Tangri N, Thomas L, Zenith L, Shaikh T, Carbonneau M, Ma M, Bailey RJ, Jayakumar S, Burak KW, Abraldes JG, Brisebois A, 150 Ferguson T, Majumdar SR. A Rapid Bedside Screen to Predict Unplanned Hospitalization and Death in Outpatients With Cirrhosis: A Prospective Evaluation of the Clinical Frailty Scale. Am J Gastroenterol 2016; 111: 1759-1767 [PMID: 27481305 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2016.303]
- Rockwood K, Song X, MacKnight C, Bergman H, Hogan DB, McDowell I, Mitnitski A. A global clinical measure of fitness and frailty in 151 elderly people. CMAJ 2005; 173: 489-495 [PMID: 16129869 DOI: 10.1503/cmaj.050051]
- Lai JC, Covinsky KE, Dodge JL, Boscardin WJ, Segev DL, Roberts JP, Feng S. Development of a novel frailty index to predict mortality in 152 patients with end-stage liver disease. Hepatology 2017; 66: 564-574 [PMID: 28422306 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29219]
- Kaps L, Lukac L, Michel M, Kremer WM, Hilscher M, Gairing SJ, Galle PR, Schattenberg JM, Wörns MA, Nagel M, Labenz C. Liver Frailty 153 Index for Prediction of Short-Term Rehospitalization in Patients with Liver Cirrhosis. Diagnostics (Basel) 2022; 12 [PMID: 35626226 DOI: 10.3390/diagnostics12051069]
- Lai JC, Covinsky KE, McCulloch CE, Feng S. The Liver Frailty Index Improves Mortality Prediction of the Subjective Clinician Assessment 154 in Patients With Cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol 2018; 113: 235-242 [PMID: 29231189 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2017.443]
- Siyu L, Yuan Y, Ran A, Minyan L. Frailty as tested by the Liver Frailty Index in out-patient patients with cirrhosis in China: a cross-sectional 155 study. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2023; 35: 440-444 [PMID: 36538009 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000002502]
- Xu CQ, Yao F, Mohamad Y, Wong R, Kent D, Seetharaman S, Srisengfa Y, Lai JC. Evaluating the Associations Between the Liver Frailty 156 Index and Karnofsky Performance Status With Waitlist Mortality. Transplant Direct 2021; 7: e651 [PMID: 33437866 DOI: 10.1097/TXD.0000000000001097



- Dunn MA, Josbeno DA, Schmotzer AR, Tevar AD, DiMartini AF, Landsittel DP, Delitto A. The gap between clinically assessed physical 157 performance and objective physical activity in liver transplant candidates. Liver Transpl 2016; 22: 1324-1332 [PMID: 27348200 DOI: 10.1002/lt.24506]
- Farrugia MA, Le Garf S, Chierici A, Piche T, Gual P, Iannelli A, Anty R. Therapeutic Physical Exercise Programs in the Context of NASH 158 Cirrhosis and Liver Transplantation: A Systematic Review. Metabolites 2023; 13 [PMID: 36984770 DOI: 10.3390/metabo13030330]
- Duarte-Rojo A, Ruiz-Margáin A, Montaño-Loza AJ, Macías-Rodríguez RU, Ferrando A, Kim WR. Exercise and physical activity for patients 159 with end-stage liver disease: Improving functional status and sarcopenia while on the transplant waiting list. Liver Transpl 2018; 24: 122-139 [PMID: 29024353 DOI: 10.1002/lt.24958]
- Morkane CM, Kearney O, Bruce DA, Melikian CN, Martin DS. An Outpatient Hospital-based Exercise Training Program for Patients With 160 Cirrhotic Liver Disease Awaiting Transplantation: A Feasibility Trial. Transplantation 2020; 104: 97-103 [PMID: 31205265 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0000000000028031
- Williams FR, Berzigotti A, Lord JM, Lai JC, Armstrong MJ. Review article: impact of exercise on physical frailty in patients with chronic 161 liver disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2019; 50: 988-1000 [PMID: 31502264 DOI: 10.1111/apt.15491]
- West J, Gow PJ, Testro A, Chapman B, Sinclair M. Exercise physiology in cirrhosis and the potential benefits of exercise interventions: A 162 review. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 36: 2687-2705 [PMID: 33638197 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.15474]
- Yildirim M. Falls in Patients With Liver Cirrhosis. Gastroenterol Nurs 2017; 40: 306-310 [PMID: 28125428 DOI: 163 10.1097/SGA.00000000000145
- Lai JC, Sonnenday CJ, Tapper EB, Duarte-Rojo A, Dunn MA, Bernal W, Carey EJ, Dasarathy S, Kamath BM, Kappus MR, Montano-Loza 164 AJ, Nagai S, Tandon P. Frailty in liver transplantation: An expert opinion statement from the American Society of Transplantation Liver and Intestinal Community of Practice. Am J Transplant 2019; 19: 1896-1906 [PMID: 30980701 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15392]
- Ni Lochlainn M, Cox NJ, Wilson T, Hayhoe RPG, Ramsay SE, Granic A, Isanejad M, Roberts HC, Wilson D, Welch C, Hurst C, Atkins JL, 165 Mendonça N, Horner K, Tuttiett ER, Morgan Y, Heslop P, Williams EA, Steves CJ, Greig C, Draper J, Corish CA, Welch A, Witham MD, Sayer AA, Robinson S. Nutrition and Frailty: Opportunities for Prevention and Treatment. Nutrients 2021; 13 [PMID: 34371858 DOI: 10.3390/nu13072349]
- Meena BL, Taneja S, Tandon P, Sahni N, Soundararajan R, Gorsi U, De A, Verma N, Premkumar M, Duseja A, Dhiman RK, Singh V. Home-166 based intensive nutrition therapy improves frailty and sarcopenia in patients with decompensated cirrhosis: A randomized clinical trial. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2023; 38: 210-218 [PMID: 36268614 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.16035]
- Santa Mina D, van Rooijen SJ, Minnella EM, Alibhai SMH, Brahmbhatt P, Dalton SO, Gillis C, Grocott MPW, Howell D, Randall IM, 167 Sabiston CM, Silver JK, Slooter G, West M, Jack S, Carli F. Multiphasic Prehabilitation Across the Cancer Continuum: A Narrative Review and Conceptual Framework. Front Oncol 2020; 10: 598425 [PMID: 33505914 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2020.598425]
- 168 Volk ML, Sonnenday C. Patient-centered liver transplantation. Clin Liver Dis (Hoboken) 2016; 8: 24-27 [PMID: 31041058 DOI: 10.1002/cld.564]
- Gurlit S, Gogol M. Prehabilitation is better than cure. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 2019; 32: 108-115 [PMID: 30507681 DOI: 169 10.1097/ACO.000000000000678]
- 170 Jetten WD, Hogenbirk RNM, Van Meeteren NLU, Cuperus FJC, Klaase JM, De Jong R. Physical Effects, Safety and Feasibility of Prehabilitation in Patients Awaiting Orthotopic Liver Transplantation, a Systematic Review. Transpl Int 2022; 35: 10330 [PMID: 36157271 DOI: 10.3389/ti.2022.10330]
- Al-Judaibi B, Alqalami I, Sey M, Qumosani K, Howes N, Sinclair L, Chandok N, Eddin AH, Hernandez-Alejandro R, Marotta P, Teriaky A. 171 Exercise Training for Liver Transplant Candidates. Transplant Proc 2019; 51: 3330-3337 [PMID: 31732200 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2019.08.045]
- Sinclair M, Grossmann M, Hoermann R, Angus PW, Gow PJ. Testosterone therapy increases muscle mass in men with cirrhosis and low 172 testosterone: A randomised controlled trial. J Hepatol 2016; 65: 906-913 [PMID: 27312945 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2016.06.007]
- Jain A, Haussner D, Hranjec T, Butt F, Stine JG, Ankola A, Al Yousif H, Dicristina R, Krok KL, Arenas J. Review of Sarcopenia and 173 Testosterone Deficiency With Chronic Liver Disease and Postoperative Liver Transplant Utility of Short-Term Testosterone Replacement Therapy. Exp Clin Transplant 2022; 20: 1000-1008 [PMID: 36524886 DOI: 10.6002/ect.2022.0132]
- Chang R, Low H, McDonald A, Park G, Song X. Web-based software applications for frailty assessment in older adults: a scoping review of 174 current status with insights into future development. BMC Geriatr 2021; 21: 723 [PMID: 34922466 DOI: 10.1186/s12877-021-02660-6]
- Duarte-Rojo A, Bloomer PM, Rogers RJ, Hassan MA, Dunn MA, Tevar AD, Vivis SL, Bataller R, Hughes CB, Ferrando AA, Jakicic JM, 175 Kim WR. Introducing EL-FIT (Exercise and Liver FITness): A Smartphone App to Prehabilitate and Monitor Liver Transplant Candidates. Liver Transpl 2021; 27: 502-512 [PMID: 33232547 DOI: 10.1002/lt.25950]
- Wang M, Shui AM, Barry F, Verna E, Kent D, Yao F, Seetharaman S, Berry K, Grubbs RK, George G, Huang CY, Duarte-Rojo A, Lai JC. 176 The tele-liver frailty index (TeLeFI): development of a novel frailty tool in patients with cirrhosis via telemedicine. Am J Transplant 2023; 23: 966-975 [PMID: 37061188 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajt.2023.04.012]
- Hazuda HP, Pan Q, Florez H, Luchsinger JA, Crandall JP, Venditti EM, Golden SH, Kriska AM, Bray GA. Association of Intensive Lifestyle 177 and Metformin Interventions With Frailty in the Diabetes Prevention Program Outcomes Study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2021; 76: 929-936 [PMID: 33428709 DOI: 10.1093/gerona/glaa295]
- Soukas AA, Hao H, Wu L. Metformin as Anti-Aging Therapy: Is It for Everyone? Trends Endocrinol Metab 2019; 30: 745-755 [PMID: 178 31405774 DOI: 10.1016/j.tem.2019.07.015]
- 179 Liu P, Pan Y, Song Y, Zhou Y, Zhang W, Li X, Li J, Li Y, Ma L. Association of metformin exposure with low risks of frailty and adverse outcomes in patients with diabetes. Eur J Med Res 2023; 28: 65 [PMID: 36732827 DOI: 10.1186/s40001-023-01017-6]
- Baskaran D, Aparicio-Ugarriza R, Ferri-Guerra J, Milyani R, Florez H, Ruiz JG. Is There an Association Between Metformin Exposure and 180 Frailty? Gerontol Geriatr Med 2020; 6: 2333721420924956 [PMID: 32596419 DOI: 10.1177/2333721420924956]
- Piskovatska V, Stefanyshyn N, Storey KB, Vaiserman AM, Lushchak O. Metformin as a geroprotector: experimental and clinical evidence. 181 Biogerontology 2019; 20: 33-48 [PMID: 30255224 DOI: 10.1007/s10522-018-9773-5]
- Pérez-Tasigchana RF, León-Muñoz LM, Lopez-Garcia E, Gutierrez-Fisac JL, Laclaustra M, Rodríguez-Artalejo F, Guallar-Castillón P. 182 Metabolic syndrome and insulin resistance are associated with frailty in older adults: a prospective cohort study. Age Ageing 2017; 46: 807-812 [PMID: 28338890 DOI: 10.1093/ageing/afx023]
- Perez A, Jacks R, Arora V, Spanheimer R. Effects of pioglitazone and metformin fixed-dose combination therapy on cardiovascular risk 183 markers of inflammation and lipid profile compared with pioglitazone and metformin monotherapy in patients with type 2 diabetes. J Clin



Hypertens (Greenwich) 2010; 12: 973-982 [PMID: 21122063 DOI: 10.1111/j.1751-7176.2010.00389.x]

- Koo HL, DuPont HL. Rifaximin: a unique gastrointestinal-selective antibiotic for enteric diseases. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2010; 26: 17-25 184 [PMID: 19881343 DOI: 10.1097/MOG.0b013e328333dc8d]
- Shayto RH, Abou Mrad R, Sharara AI. Use of rifaximin in gastrointestinal and liver diseases. World J Gastroenterol 2016; 22: 6638-6651 185 [PMID: 27547007 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i29.6638]
- 186 Ishikawa T, Endo S, Imai M, Azumi M, Nozawa Y, Sano T, Iwanaga A, Honma T, Yoshida T. Changes in the Body Composition and Nutritional Status after Long-term Rifaximin Therapy for Hyperammonemia in Japanese Patients with Hepatic Encephalopathy. Intern Med 2020; 59: 2465-2469 [PMID: 33055469 DOI: 10.2169/internalmedicine.5094-20]
- Lee SJ. Myostatin: A Skeletal Muscle Chalone. Annu Rev Physiol 2023; 85: 269-291 [PMID: 36266260 DOI: 187 10.1146/annurev-physiol-012422-112116]
- Abati E, Manini A, Comi GP, Corti S. Inhibition of myostatin and related signaling pathways for the treatment of muscle atrophy in motor 188 neuron diseases. Cell Mol Life Sci 2022; 79: 374 [PMID: 35727341 DOI: 10.1007/s00018-022-04408-w]
- 189 Jang J, Park S, Kim Y, Jung J, Lee J, Chang Y, Lee SP, Park BC, Wolfe RR, Choi CS, Kim IY. Myostatin Inhibition-Induced Increase in Muscle Mass and Strength Was Amplified by Resistance Exercise Training, and Dietary Essential Amino Acids Improved Muscle Quality in Mice. Nutrients 2021; 13 [PMID: 33947024 DOI: 10.3390/nu13051508]
- Latres E, Pangilinan J, Miloscio L, Bauerlein R, Na E, Potocky TB, Huang Y, Eckersdorff M, Rafique A, Mastaitis J, Lin C, Murphy AJ, 190 Yancopoulos GD, Gromada J, Stitt T. Myostatin blockade with a fully human monoclonal antibody induces muscle hypertrophy and reverses muscle atrophy in young and aged mice. Skelet Muscle 2015; 5: 34 [PMID: 26457176 DOI: 10.1186/s13395-015-0060-8]
- 191 Whittemore LA, Song K, Li X, Aghajanian J, Davies M, Girgenrath S, Hill JJ, Jalenak M, Kelley P, Knight A, Maylor R, O'Hara D, Pearson A, Quazi A, Ryerson S, Tan XY, Tomkinson KN, Veldman GM, Widom A, Wright JF, Wudyka S, Zhao L, Wolfman NM. Inhibition of myostatin in adult mice increases skeletal muscle mass and strength. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2003; 300: 965-971 [PMID: 12559968 DOI: 10.1016/s0006-291x(02)02953-4]
- Kim Y. Emerging Treatment Options for Sarcopenia in Chronic Liver Disease. Life (Basel) 2021; 11 [PMID: 33803020 DOI: 192 10.3390/life11030250]
- Suh J, Lee YS. Myostatin Inhibitors: Panacea or Predicament for Musculoskeletal Disorders? J Bone Metab 2020; 27: 151-165 [PMID: 193 32911580 DOI: 10.11005/jbm.2020.27.3.151]
- Rodino-Klapac LR, Haidet AM, Kota J, Handy C, Kaspar BK, Mendell JR. Inhibition of myostatin with emphasis on follistatin as a therapy 194 for muscle disease. Muscle Nerve 2009; 39: 283-296 [PMID: 19208403 DOI: 10.1002/mus.21244]
- 195 Bogdanovich S, Perkins KJ, Krag TO, Whittemore LA, Khurana TS. Myostatin propeptide-mediated amelioration of dystrophic pathophysiology. FASEB J 2005; 19: 543-549 [PMID: 15791004 DOI: 10.1096/fj.04-2796com]
- Bogdanovich S, Krag TO, Barton ER, Morris LD, Whittemore LA, Ahima RS, Khurana TS. Functional improvement of dystrophic muscle by 196 myostatin blockade. Nature 2002; 420: 418-421 [PMID: 12459784 DOI: 10.1038/nature01154]
- Fielding R, Riede L, Lugo JP, Bellamine A. I-Carnitine Supplementation in Recovery after Exercise. Nutrients 2018; 10 [PMID: 29534031 197 DOI: 10.3390/nu100303491
- Magoulas PL, El-Hattab AW. Systemic primary carnitine deficiency: an overview of clinical manifestations, diagnosis, and management. 198 Orphanet J Rare Dis 2012; 7: 68 [PMID: 22989098 DOI: 10.1186/1750-1172-7-68]
- 199 Hiramatsu A, Aikata H, Uchikawa S, Ohya K, Kodama K, Nishida Y, Daijo K, Osawa M, Teraoka Y, Honda F, Inagaki Y, Morio K, Morio R, Fujino H, Nakahara T, Murakami E, Yamauchi M, Kawaoka T, Miki D, Tsuge M, Imamura M, Tanaka J, Chayama K. Levocarnitine Use Is Associated With Improvement in Sarcopenia in Patients With Liver Cirrhosis. Hepatol Commun 2019; 3: 348-355 [PMID: 30859147 DOI: 10.1002/hep4.1309]
- Ohara M, Ogawa K, Suda G, Kimura M, Maehara O, Shimazaki T, Suzuki K, Nakamura A, Umemura M, Izumi T, Kawagishi N, Nakai M, 200 Sho T, Natsuizaka M, Morikawa K, Ohnishi S, Sakamoto N. L-Carnitine Suppresses Loss of Skeletal Muscle Mass in Patients With Liver Cirrhosis. Hepatol Commun 2018; 2: 906-918 [PMID: 30094402 DOI: 10.1002/hep4.1207]
- 201 Hiraoka A, Kiguchi D, Ninomiya T, Hirooka M, Abe M, Matsuura B, Hiasa Y, Michitaka K. Can L-carnitine supplementation and exercise improve muscle complications in patients with liver cirrhosis who receive branched-chain amino acid supplementation? Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 31: 878-884 [PMID: 31150367 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000001368]
- Butterworth RF, Kircheis G, Hilger N, McPhail MJW. Efficacy of I-Ornithine I-Aspartate for the Treatment of Hepatic Encephalopathy and 202 Hyperammonemia in Cirrhosis: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. J Clin Exp Hepatol 2018; 8: 301-313 [PMID: 30302048 DOI: 10.1016/j.jceh.2018.05.004]
- 203 Kumar A, Davuluri G, Silva RNE, Engelen MPKJ, Ten Have GAM, Prayson R, Deutz NEP, Dasarathy S. Ammonia lowering reverses sarcopenia of cirrhosis by restoring skeletal muscle proteostasis. Hepatology 2017; 65: 2045-2058 [PMID: 28195332 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29107]
- 204 Rose C, Michalak A, Pannunzio P, Therrien G, Quack G, Kircheis G, Butterworth RF. L-ornithine-L-aspartate in experimental portal-systemic encephalopathy: therapeutic efficacy and mechanism of action. Metab Brain Dis 1998; 13: 147-157 [PMID: 9699922 DOI: 10.1023/a:1020613314572]
- Pichon C, Nachit M, Gillard J, Vande Velde G, Lanthier N, Leclercq IA. Impact of L-ornithine L-aspartate on non-alcoholic steatohepatitis-205 associated hyperammonemia and muscle alterations. Front Nutr 2022; 9: 1051157 [PMID: 36466421 DOI: 10.3389/fnut.2022.1051157]
- Butterworth RF. L-Ornithine L-Aspartate for the Treatment of Sarcopenia in Chronic Liver Disease: The Taming of a Vicious Cycle. Can J 206 Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 2019: 8182195 [PMID: 31183339 DOI: 10.1155/2019/8182195]
- 207 Ndraha S, Hasan I, Simadibrata M. The effect of L-ornithine L-aspartate and branch chain amino acids on encephalopathy and nutritional status in liver cirrhosis with malnutrition. Acta Med Indones 2011; 43: 18-22 [PMID: 21339541]
- Shin MJ, Jeon YK, Kim IJ. Testosterone and Sarcopenia. World J Mens Health 2018; 36: 192-198 [PMID: 29756416 DOI: 208 10.5534/wjmh.180001
- Florez JC. The pharmacogenetics of metformin. Diabetologia 2017; 60: 1648-1655 [PMID: 28770331 DOI: 10.1007/s00125-017-4335-y] 209
- Suh J, Kim NK, Lee SH, Eom JH, Lee Y, Park JC, Woo KM, Baek JH, Kim JE, Ryoo HM, Lee SJ, Lee YS. GDF11 promotes osteogenesis as 210 opposed to MSTN, and follistatin, a MSTN/GDF11 inhibitor, increases muscle mass but weakens bone. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2020; 117: 4910-4920 [PMID: 32071240 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1916034117]
- Campbell C, McMillan HJ, Mah JK, Tarnopolsky M, Selby K, McClure T, Wilson DM, Sherman ML, Escolar D, Attie KM. Myostatin 211 inhibitor ACE-031 treatment of ambulatory boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Results of a randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial.



Muscle Nerve 2017; 55: 458-464 [PMID: 27462804 DOI: 10.1002/mus.25268]

- Grech A, Breck J, Heidelbaugh J. Adverse effects of testosterone replacement therapy: an update on the evidence and controversy. Ther Adv 212 Drug Saf 2014; 5: 190-200 [PMID: 25360240 DOI: 10.1177/2042098614548680]
- Gazda J, Di Cola S, Lapenna L, Khan S, Merli M. The Impact of Transjugular Intrahepatic Portosystemic Shunt on Nutrition in Liver 213 Cirrhosis Patients: A Systematic Review. Nutrients 2023; 15 [PMID: 37049459 DOI: 10.3390/nu15071617]
- Wu CH, Ho MC, Kao JH, Ho CM, Su TH, Hsu SJ, Huang HY, Lin CY, Liang PC. Effects of transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt on 214 abdominal muscle mass in patients with decompensated cirrhosis. J Formos Med Assoc 2023; 122: 747-756 [PMID: 36868900 DOI: 10.1016/j.jfma.2023.02.007]
- Liu J, Yang C, Yao J, Bai Y, Li T, Wang Y, Shi Q, Wu X, Ma J, Zhou C, Huang S, Xiong B. Improvement of sarcopenia is beneficial for 215 prognosis in cirrhotic patients after TIPS placement. Dig Liver Dis 2023; 55: 918-925 [PMID: 36682922 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2023.01.001]
- 216 Yin L, Chu SL, Lv WF, Zhou CZ, Liu KC, Zhu YJ, Zhang WY, Wang CX, Zhang YH, Lu D, Cheng DL. Contributory roles of sarcopenia and myosteatosis in development of overt hepatic encephalopathy and mortality after transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29: 2875-2887 [PMID: 37274064 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i18.2875]
- Li T, Liu J, Zhao J, Bai Y, Huang S, Yang C, Wang Y, Zhou C, Wang C, Ju S, Chen Y, Yao W, Xiong B. Sarcopenia Defined by Psoas 217 Muscle Thickness Predicts Mortality After Transjugular Intrahepatic Portosystemic Shunt. Dig Dis Sci 2023; 68: 1641-1652 [PMID: 36583804 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-022-07806-z]
- Hey P, Chapman B, Wong D, Gow P, Testro A, Terbah R, Sinclair M. Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt insertion improves 218 muscle mass but not muscle function or frailty measures. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2023; 35: 997-1003 [PMID: 37395688 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000002592]



WJ

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 December 14; 29(46): 6049-6059

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6049

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Surgical complications after pancreatic transplantation: A computed tomography imaging pictorial review

Carlo D'Alessandro, Matteo Todisco, Caterina Di Bella, Filippo Crimì, Lucrezia Furian, Emilio Quaia, Federica Vernuccio

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Gong N, China; Uhlmann D, Germany

Received: August 3, 2023 Peer-review started: August 3, 2023 First decision: October 9, 2023 Revised: October 25, 2023 Accepted: November 27, 2023 Article in press: November 27, 2023 Published online: December 14, 2023



Carlo D'Alessandro, Filippo Crimì, Emilio Quaia, Department of Radiology, University of Padova, Padova 35128, Italy

Matteo Todisco, Department of Radiology 2, University Hospital of Padova, Padova 35128, Italy

Caterina Di Bella, Department of Surgical, Kidney and Pancreas Transplantation Unit, Padova 35128, Italy

Lucrezia Furian, Kidney and Pancreas Transplantation Unit, University of Padua, Padova 35128, Italy

Federica Vernuccio, Department of Biomedicine, Neuroscience and Advanced Diagnostics (BiND), University of Palermo, Palermo 90127, Italy

Federica Vernuccio, Department of Radiology, University Hospital of Padova, Padova 35128, Italy

Corresponding author: Federica Vernuccio, DPhil, Associate Professor, Department of Biomedicine, Neuroscience and Advanced Diagnostics (BiND), University of Palermo, Via del Vespro 129, Palermo 90127, Italy. federicavernuccio@gmail.com

Abstract

Pancreatic transplantation is considered by the American Diabetes Association and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes an acceptable surgical procedure in patients with type 1 diabetes also undergoing kidney transplantation in pre-final or end-stage renal disease if no contraindications are present. Pancreatic transplantation, however, is a complex surgical procedure and may lead to a range of postoperative complications that can significantly impact graft function and patient outcomes. Postoperative computed tomography (CT) is often adopted to evaluate perfusion of the transplanted pancreas, identify complications and as a guide for interventional radiology procedures. CT assessment after pancreatic transplantation should start with the evaluation of the arterial Y-graft, the venous anastomosis and the duodenojejunostomy. With regard to complications, CT allows for the identification of vascular complications, such as thrombosis or stenosis of blood vessels supplying the graft, the detection of pancreatic fluid collections, including pseudocysts, abscesses, or leaks, the assessment of bowel complications (anastomotic leaks, ileus or obstruction), and the identi-



fication of bleeding. The aim of this pictorial review is to illustrate CT findings of surgical-related complications after pancreatic transplantation. The knowledge of surgical techniques is of key importance to understand postoperative anatomic changes and imaging evaluation. Therefore, we first provide a short summary of the main techniques of pancreatic transplantation. Then, we provide a practical imaging approach to pancreatic transplantation and its complications providing tips and tricks for the prompt imaging diagnosis on CT.

Key Words: Diabetes mellitus; Type 1; Pancreas transplantation; Complications; Computed tomography; Diagnostic imaging

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Pancreatic transplantation is a complex surgical procedure and, similarly to any major surgical intervention, may lead to a range of postoperative complications that can significantly impact graft function and patient outcomes. Computed tomography offers non-invasive and accurate visualization of the transplanted pancreas and surrounding structures, providing detailed anatomical information and aiding in the detection of complications.

Citation: D'Alessandro C, Todisco M, Di Bella C, Crimì F, Furian L, Quaia E, Vernuccio F. Surgical complications after pancreatic transplantation: A computed tomography imaging pictorial review. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(46): 6049-6059 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i46/6049.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6049

INTRODUCTION

Pancreatic transplantation is considered by the American Diabetes Association (ADA) and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD) an acceptable surgical procedure in patients with type 1 diabetes (T1D) also undergoing kidney transplantation [i.e. simultaneous pancreas and kidney (SPK) transplant] in pre-final or end-stage renal disease if no contraindications are present^[1]. Pancreatic transplantation has been considered for years the only treatment for T1D that consistently establishes an insulin-independent, normoglycemic state, with 5-year graft survival of 83%, 55% and 70%, in case of SPK, pancreatic transplantation alone (PTA) or pancreas after a kidney transplantation (PAK), respectively [2-4]. The main indication of PTA is presence of T1D and normal or near-normal renal function in patients who suffer from hypoglycemia unawareness, which results in impaired quality of life or with difficulty adhering to the requirement of insulin injection[5]. In few selected cases, transplantation of pancreatic islet - a less invasive procedure consisting in the transplantation of islets of Langerhans in the recipient hepatic portal system - is indicated as an alternative to pancreatic transplantation by ADA and EASD[1]. However, intrahepatic islet transplantation for T1D is limited because of the need of multiple infusions and poor islet viability after transplantation, and more recently intracutaneous transplantation of islets has also been investigated[6]. In a 20-year span from 2000 to 2020, only about 4365 islet allotransplants have been performed according to a recent worldwide survey[7], while the number of pancreatic transplantations in the 10-year span from 2010 to 2019 is of about 23000 procedures[8].

Pancreatic transplantation is a complex surgical procedure and, similarly to any major surgical intervention, may lead to a range of postoperative complications that can significantly impact graft function and patient outcomes[9,10]. The occurrence of postoperative complications may vary depending on factors such as the type of transplantation (SPK, PAK or PTA) and the specific patient population. Cross-sectional imaging - i.e., Doppler ultrasound (US), contrast-enhanced US (CEUS) and computed tomography (CT) - plays a pivotal role in the evaluation of the transplanted pancreas. US is the preferred initial imaging modality for evaluating the transplanted pancreas due to its safe, non-invasive, radiation-free, simple, quick, and repeatable approach. However, US is often affected by factors such as intestinal gas interference and operator proficiency, and partial thrombosis may be easily missed[11]. CT offers non-invasive and accurate visualization of the transplanted pancreas and surrounding structures, providing detailed anatomical information and aiding in the detection of complications. Indeed, CT allows for the identification of vascular complications, such as thrombosis or stenosis of blood vessels supplying the graft as well as bleeding or pseudoaneurysms, the detection of pancreatic fluid collections, including pseudocysts, abscesses, or leaks, the assessment of bowel complications (anastomotic leaks, ileus or obstruction), while it has a limited role in the evaluation of graft rejection [12,13]. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is rarely uncommonly used for examination the assessment of pancreatic graft-related complications, and it is preferred particularly in patients with declining renal function. The main adoption of CT compared to MRI is based on different reasons, including wider availability of CT compared to MRI particularly in the emergency and urgent settings, the lower acquisition time of CT exams compared to MRI which is important in imaging acutely ill and intensively monitored patients, but also to the lower spatial and temporal resolution, creating difficulties in the evaluation of the enteric anastomosis and vascular complications. Contrast medium administration in CT should not be a contraindication in kidney transplant recipients. Fananapazir et al[14] demonstrated that the incidence of acute kidney injury in patients with transplanted kidney submitted to CT scans with low-osmolality iodine-based contrast material was 7% when considering the threshold of ≥ 0.3 mg/dL for the increase in serum creatinine levels. The incidence of contrast induced nephropathy after contrast-enhanced CT was similar (6.1%) in a study by Cheungpasitporn *et al*[15]. However, in a study involving



about 6175 patients, McDonald et al [16] demonstrated lack of significant difference in the onset if contrast induced nephropathy between patients with a solitary kidney, including kidney transplant recipients (4.1%), and those with bilateral kidneys (4.2%). The assessment of serum creatinine for calculating the estimated glomerular filtration rate is recommended before contrast medium administration within 7 d before CT in patients with an acute disease, an acute deterioration of a chronic disease or in hospitalized patients, and preventive hydration protocols need to be considered in at-risk patients as indicated by guidelines [17-19].

This pictorial review is aimed at illustrating CT findings of surgical-related complications after pancreatic transplantation. A comprehensive knowledge of surgical techniques allows understanding the postoperative anatomic changes that are identified on CT images. Therefore, this review will first a short summary of the main techniques of pancreatic transplantation and, then, will discuss imaging tips and tricks for the prompt diagnosis of complications after pancreatic transplantation on CT.

SURGICAL TECHNIQUES

After organ procurement from a deceased donor, a meticulous graft back-table surgery is necessary before pancreatic transplantation. Main steps are: Splenectomy, removal of the excess fat surrounding the pancreas and ligation of small vessels and lymphatics along the inferior margin of the pancreatic tail, coursing anteriorly around the surface of the neck and head of the pancreas to the proximal duodenal staple line. A suture of the vessels at the root of the mesentery and inferior mesenteric vein is performed followed by an oversewing of the mesenteric staple line. A vascular preparation is necessary using a Y conduit of donor iliac artery which is anastomosed to the superior mesenteric and splenic arteries of the graft (Figures 1 and 2). Assessment of blood supply to the entire pancreas graft exclusively via cross-circulation between splenic artery and superior mesenteric artery is mandatory in order to guarantee blood supply to all the pancreas graft. By flushing the superior mesenteric artery and not looking for back-flushing through the gastroduodenal artery is possible to recognize the need for vascular reconstruction of the gastroduodenal artery to guarantee blood supply to head of the pancreas graft and duodenal segment, and possibly reduce the incidence of duodenal complications [20]. A duodenal shortening with stapler and oversewing of the staple line is then completed. At this stage, the graft is ready for implantation.

Through a midline incision, the pancreas allograft is usually placed intraperitoneally, on the right side with the head in a cranial position, and receives arterial inflow from the iliac artery (Figure 1). Venous anastomosis can be performed through systemic vein technique with the graft portal vein (PV) anastomosed to the recipient inferior vena cava or iliac vein, or through the PV technique with the graft PV anastomosed to the recipient inferior vena cava or iliac vein. In the PV technique, the graft PV is connected to the recipient superior mesenteric vein. Systemic drainage theoretically may lead to hyperinsulinemia^[21], while portal drainage could allow a more physiological "first pass" effect through the liver since insulin is immediately extracted by the liver. However, the arterial anastomosis to the iliac artery tends to be more difficult using the PV technique and it requires a very long Y graft. Moreover, obesity, thickened mesentery, or an inadequate caliber of the superior mesenteric vein can make the portal drainage even harder[22]. Long-term studies comparing the two techniques have not demonstrated clear metabolic advantages with portal drainage and the use of the PV has remained marginal over the years [23]. For the exocrine pancreas drainage, anastomosis between the donor duodenum and recipient small bowel loop (*i.e.*, jejunal or an ileal loop) is performed side-to-side with a circular stapler. After firing the stapler (trans-oral anvil delivery system EEA), the end of the donor duodenum is closed using a linear stapler. Alternatively, a bladder diversion can be performed [24]. Bladder drainage can be particularly advantageous in case of PTA, for the assessment of the concentration of urinary amylase as a marker of rejection. Disadvantages of this technique include both urologic complications such as hematuria (16%), leaks (14%), reflux pancreatitis (11%), recurrent urinary infections (10%), urethritis (3%), urethral stricture/disruption (3%), and metabolic complications due to the urinary loss of the bicarbonate-rich pancreatic juice, including hyperchloremic metabolic acidosis and dehydration[23, 25]. When these complications became intractable, conversion from bladder to enteric drainage is often necessary[26]. Enteric drainage is currently the predominant technique in pancreatic transplantation[23].

Usually, recipients start receiving immunosuppression during surgery, consisting in antibody induction and a triple drug immunosuppressive therapy is started immediately postoperatively. Most of the Centers utilize a regimen consisting of tacrolimus, mycophenolate mofetil and steroid.

Heparin prophylaxis is recommended with intravenous heparin administered as a single dose during surgery after pancreas revascularization and it is continued after surgery with low molecular weight heparin or continuous infusion, at the discretion of the Transplant Centre.

Some days after transplantation, a CT scan is advisable to early recognize vascular thrombosis or any signs of vascular alterations, not yet clinically relevant.

COMPLICATIONS AFTER PANCREATIC TRANSPLANTATION

Postoperative surgical complications of pancreatic transplantation are still common despite many improvements in surgical techniques, and may be distinguished based on time of onset[27-28]. Postoperative monitoring of the pancreatic graft by CT is requested in about 89% of cases according to a recent series of 230 pancreatic transplantations and is helpful for optimizing patient management[29].



D'Alessandro et al. Imaging of surgical complications after pancreatic transplantation



Figure 1 Schematic imaging representation of simultaneous pancreas and kidney transplantation.



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6049 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Volume rendering reformat of computed tomography images in the arterial phase demonstrates the Y conduit of donor iliac artery to the superior mesenteric and splenic arteries of the graft.

The main reasons for requesting imaging are related to the indication per protocol even without acute clinical indication, sudden progressive hyperglycemia, persistent or abdominal tenderness^[29]. However, the adoption of CT needs to be patient-tailored particularly in the context of SPK, due to the potentially nephrotoxic effect of contrast agents which is reported to be as low as 5.6% in kidney transplant recipients with the use of hypo-osmolar contrast agent[30].

Initial complications of pancreatic transplantations are largely related to technical factors, including vascular thrombosis, bleeding, enteric anastomotic leak or graft pancreatitis, and urologic complications[8]. Late complications include pseudocyst formation, post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease, pseudoaneurysms, artero-venous fistulas and rejection (Figure 3).

Graft thrombosis is the most common complication after transplant and may lead to graft failure in about 3.7%, 4.1% and 5.9% of SPK, PAK and PTA, respectively[8]. Graft loss due to infection, pancreatitis, bleeding, leaks, and other reasons occur in up to 0.5%, 0.5%, 0.5%, 0.4%, and 0.6%, respectively[8].

Graft thrombosis

Graft thrombosis occurs in 7%-34% of patients after pancreas transplant, with high body mass index being a risk factor, may affect arteries or veins and can be partial or complete[10,12,29,31]. Partial graft thrombosis occurs in about 25% of cases after pancreatic transplantation, is subclinical in the majority of cases, and may resolve spontaneously with medical therapy[29]. Venous thrombosis is far more common than arterial thrombosis, but arterial thrombosis is the most



Zaishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6049 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 A 51-year-old woman, one month after simultaneous kidney-pancreatic transplantation is admitted to the emergency department for abdominal pain; final diagnosis at biopsy of the pancreatic graft was rejection. A: Contrast enhanced computed tomography in the axial plane shows a minimally inhomogeneous pancreatic graft (dotted orange line) with peripancreatic fluid (arrows) posteriorly to the graft; B: Sagittal plane of the same contrast enhanced computes tomography.

dangerous leading to rapid graft loss[29,32]. Acute rejection and CT finding of pancreatitis are risk factors for graft thrombosis^[12].

Contrast-enhanced CT with angiographic phase and venous phase demonstrates thrombosis as a filling defect in a vessel during the vascular phase, and allows to clearly indicate the extension of the filling defect. Arterial thrombosis (Figure 4) may lead to graft dysfunction, pancreatitis, leakage of pancreatic enzymes, sepsis, necrosis and even emphysematous transformation of the graft if it is left untreated. Pancreatic graft venous thrombi (Figure 5) can remain relatively localized possibly maintaining normal graft function, or may propagate into the PV, iliac vein, or vena cava (in case of systemic venous drainage) or superior mesenteric veins (in case of portal venous drainage). In case of vascular thrombosis, a decreased enhancement of the transplanted pancreas usually occurs dure to the organ ischemia, and the main differential diagnosis between arterial and venous thrombosis is made by direct visualization of the thrombus in the vessel.

Percutaneous thrombectomy, followed by anticoagulation, is considered a therapeutical option to remove the thrombus, with low complication rate[33].

Graft thrombosis may be graded on contrast-enhanced CT based on the system proposed by Hakeem et al[12] into: Grade 0 – Lack of thrombosis.

Grade 1 - Peripheral thrombosis: Thrombus is located at the transected margin of the superior mesenteric vein/splenic vein or superior mesenteric artery and it is present only in a single branch.

Grade 2 – Intermediate nonocclusive thrombosis.

Venous: Thrombus extends into parenchymal vessels/main trunk of the superior mesenteric vein or splenic vein to the superior mesenteric vein/splenic vein confluence but not into the PV.

Arterial: Thrombus extends into the main trunk of the superior mesenteric artery/splenic artery to the " Υ " graft but not into the Y graft.

Grade 3 – Central occlusive thrombosis.

Interestingly, despite the diagnosis of vascular thrombosis seems quite straightforward Hakeem *et al*[12] showed some discrepancies among radiologists in the detection with 28 new thrombosis identified on retrospective imaging review, with the grade 1 thrombosis being underestimated at initial diagnosis by the reporting radiologists.

Pancreatitis

Graft pancreatitis is amongst the most frequent complications following pancreatic transplantation, the third most common cause for re-operation following bleeding and pancreas graft thrombosis, and a common histologic feature identified in up to 61% of rejected allografts [34,35]. Graft pancreatitis is distinguished in early if it occurs within 3 mo and later after 3 mo, while physiological acute graft pancreatitis occurs within the first 72 h after reperfusion of the transplanted organ secondarily to an acute inflammatory response related to ischemic reperfusion injury[36].

Common findings in CT include focal or diffuse enlargement of the pancreatic parenchyma, with edematous changes (usually is noted a decreasement in HU value), indistinct pancreatic margins due to inflammation, and surrounding fat stranding (Figure 6). CT imaging allows to differentiate between edematous and necrotizing pancreatitis, to assess the presence of collections and to evaluate long-term evolutions including pseudocyst and walled-off necrosis[37].

Notably, graft pancreatitis and vascular thrombosis may occur simultaneously; indeed, pancreatitis can predispose to vascular thrombosis, and vascular thrombosis can also lead to graft inflammation, thus leading to some overlapping CT imaging features as shown on Figure 7.

Peripancreatic collection and Infection

Infection may occur in the form of peripancreatic fluid collections (Figure 6), pseudocysts (Figure 8), leakage at the level



D'Alessandro et al. Imaging of surgical complications after pancreatic transplantation



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6049 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 4 A 46-year-old woman, few days after surgery had low prothrombin time; final diagnosis was graft arterial thrombosis. A: Contrast enhanced computed tomography in the angiographic phase demonstrated arterial thrombosis of the donor splenic artery. In this patient, the transplanted pancreas was explanted thereafter; B: Coronal plane of the same contrast enhanced computed tomography in the angiographic phase.



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6049 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 5 A 35-year-old woman is admitted to the emergency department for abdominal pain; final diagnosis was venous thrombosis. Contrast enhanced computed tomography in the venous phase demonstrates venous thrombi (orange arrows) in the donor splenic vein and in the donor superior mesenteric vein.

of the enteric anastomosis (Figure 9), or infection of the abdominal wall surgical wound [21,38].

Fluid collections are the most common abnormality after pancreatic transplantation, may occur early or late after transplant, are clinically significant in about 16% of patients, and may lead to superinfection[38,39]. Intraabdominal collections also include seroma, hematoma, lymphocele, urinoma, or pseudocyst[11,38].

CT demonstrates an abnormal fluid collection of low attenuation with surrounding rim-enhancement and possible intralesional gas[38]. Soft tissue edema and fat stranding in the adjacent tissues may also be present. Percutaneous drainage is safe and effective for management of peripancreatic fluid collections after pancreas transplant[38].

Enteric or Pancreatic Leaks

Duodenal leaks represent about 2.5%-2.9% of complications after pancreatic transplantation [40,41] and represent the cause of re-laparotomy in about 2.1% of cases[34]. Enteric leaks after pancreatic transplantation are usually characterized by extravasation of pancreatic juice from the duodenojejunostomy site leading to focal peritonitis and collections (Figure 9), and eventually abscess formation [26]. Duodenal leaks usually occur early in the postoperative course, but may also be seen late post-transplant and increase 6-mo graft loss risk with a hazard ratio of 13.9[40-42]. Pancreatic duct fistula after focal pancreatitis or ischemia leading to duct disruption, may also result in the development of a peripancreatic collection[42].

Bleeding

In the early postoperative period, the occurrence of bleeding is the most common cause of reoperation[29].

The source of bleeding in the early post-operative period may be:

Intra-abdominal: It is usually related to damage of the peripancreatic vessels or vascular anastomosis, enhanced by the antithrombotic prophylaxis or antithrombotic therapy in patients with vascular thrombosis.




DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6049 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 6 A 35-year-old man is admitted to the emergency department presenting hyperpyrexia and abdominal tenderness; final diagnosis was edematous pancreatitis with acute peripancreatic fluid collection. Contrast enhanced computed tomography in the axial plane shows inhomogeneous transplanted pancreas (dotted orange lines) with slightly enlarged Wirsung duct and acute peripancreatic fluid collection (arrow) with thick wall and fat stranding surrounding the transplanted pancreas. A diagnosis of edematous pancreatitis was made.



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6049 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 7 Contrast enhanced computed tomography in four different patients after pancreatic transplantation. A region of interest is drawn in the pancreas in the four patients. A: Normal pancreatic parenchyma; B: Inflammatory pancreatitis; C: Decreased parenchymal enhancement from venous thrombosis; D: Decreased parenchymal enhancement from arterial thrombosis.

Baishidenge WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

D'Alessandro et al. Imaging of surgical complications after pancreatic transplantation



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6049 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 8 A 35-year-old man after four weeks from edematous pancreatitis. Contrast enhanced computed tomography in the coronal plane shows an encapsulated fluid collection (arrow) of homogeneously low attenuation surrounded by a well-defined enhancing wall consistent with pancreatic pseudocyst.



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6049 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 9 A 43-year-old man admitted to the emergency department for hyperpyrexia and abdominal tenderness; final diagnosis was enteric leakage. A: Contrast enhanced CT demonstrated the presence of an enteric leakage as a fistulous tract (arrowhead) from the small bowel at the level of the duodenojejunostomy, which resulted into fluid collections (orange arrows). Abdominal drainage (white arrow) was inserted and the analysis of the fluid was consistent with the diagnosis of enteric leakage; B: Fluoroscopic image demonstrate the presence of an enteric leakage as a fistulous tract (arrowhead) from the small bowel at the level of the duodenojejunostomy. Abdominal drained is also evident (white arrow).

Digestive: It comes from the digestive anastomosis or the staple line of the duodenal ends. Gastrointestinal bleeding after pancreas transplant usually occur at the duodenojejunostomy due to reduced blood flow to the graft or due to ulcers at the anastomosis. Digestive bleeding may resolve after conservative measures such as correction of coagulation abnormalities, heparin withdrawal and transfusion; surgical revision may be indicated if the bleeding does not resolve.

Precontrast CT may indicate the presence of an acute hematoma as a hyperattenuating (usually above 60 UH) collection on preconstrast CT in case of intrabdominal bleeding or hyperattenuating content in the GI lumen in case of gastrointestinal bleeding. In case of active bleeding, contrast-enhanced CT acquired in the arterial and venous phases demonstrates pooling/extravasation of the contrast agent within the hematoma or within the bowel lumen and may allow to identify the culprit vessel in case of intrabdominal hemorrhage.

Bleeding due to other arterial complications (e.g. arterio-venous fistula, pseudoaneurysm, arterioenteric fistula, arteriourinary fistula) have been reported but are infrequent, with occurrence of pseudoaneurysm being more common as a late complication[32,43]. Management can be endovascular or surgical and should be individualized[43].

Pseudoaneurysm may develop particularly at the level of anastomoses as a consequence of chemical damage due to leak of pancreatic enzymes[26]. On CT imaging, pseudoaneurysm appears as a saccular enhancing outpouching from the injured artery, with enhancement similar to other arteries, but does not increase in size on delayed phases and follows the



Baishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6049 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 10 A 42-year-old woman admitted in the hospital for elevation of pancreatic amylase 6 mo after transplant; final diagnosis was venous stenosis. Contrast enhanced computed tomography in the sagittal plane with Maximum Intensity Projection reconstruction demonstrates venous stenosis (arrowhead) at the anastomotic site. The pancreatic graft is enlarged with inhomogeneous enhancement which likely reflects graft dysfunction.

blood pool on all phases. Arterio-venous fistula is a very rare complication of pancreatic transplantation[32,43] which may result from the postoperative or post-biopsy laceration of both arterial and venous walls and may potentially lead to major bleeding or graft loss if untreated [43-45]. On CT, arterio-venous fistula will be demonstrated on arterial phase as enlarged Y-graft arteries with an early opacification of the donor draining vein.

Graft vascular stenosis

Vascular stenosis is relatively uncommon with an incidence of about 2.5% and more commonly occur at the anastomotic level[40]. Early detection of vascular stenosis is critical to avoid complications, including thrombosis, ischemia, and graft dysfunction^[46]. The multiplanar reconstruction of the vascular tree provides a reliable method of visualizing the entire vascular anastomoses, detecting a focal decrease in caliber of the vessel (Figure 10).

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, pancreatic transplantation is a complex surgery with high morbidity often related to postoperative complications, which may occur during hospitalization, early in the first three months or in the late period. Crosssectional imaging with CT plays a critical initial role in the diagnosis and management of postoperative complications in many transplanted patients who present to the emergency department for suspected transplant dysfunction. Therefore, radiologists should be aware of surgical techniques and normal imaging appearance of pancreatic transplantation and should be well-trained to recognize identify acute findings and provide key imaging information to optimize patient management.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: D'Alessandro C, made the literature search, wrote the first draft of the manuscript, and prepared most of the figures; Todisco M conceptualized the manuscript, helped with figures preparation and provided inputs; Di Bella C and Furian L wrote the first draft of the manuscript for the surgical paragraph, provided inputs and revised the draft of the manuscript; Crimì F provided inputs and revised the draft of the manuscript; Quaia E conceptualized the manuscript, provided inputs, and revised the draft of the manuscript; Vernuccio F conceptualized the manuscript, helped with the literature search, wrote the outline of the manuscript, prepared some of the figures and extensively revised the draft of the manuscript.



D'Alessandro et al. Imaging of surgical complications after pancreatic transplantation

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

ORCID number: Federica Vernuccio 0000-0003-0350-1794.

S-Editor: Li L L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY

REFERENCES

- Holt RIG, DeVries JH, Hess-Fischl A, Hirsch IB, Kirkman MS, Klupa T, Ludwig B, Nørgaard K, Pettus J, Renard E, Skyler JS, Snoek FJ, 1 Weinstock RS, Peters AL. The management of type 1 diabetes in adults. A consensus report by the American Diabetes Association (ADA) and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD). Diabetologia 2021; 64: 2609-2652 [PMID: 34590174 DOI: 10.1007/s00125-021-05568-3]
- Gruessner AC, Sutherland DE, Gruessner RW. Long-term outcome after pancreas transplantation. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2012; 17: 2 100-105 [PMID: 22186094 DOI: 10.1097/MOT.0b013e32834ee700]
- 3 Sutherland DE, Gruessner RW, Gruessner AC. Pancreas transplantation for treatment of diabetes mellitus. World J Surg 2001; 25: 487-496 [PMID: 11344403 DOI: 10.1007/s002680020342]
- 4 Lipshutz GS, Wilkinson AH. Pancreas-kidney and pancreas transplantation for the treatment of diabetes mellitus. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 2007; 36: 1015-38; x [PMID: 17983934 DOI: 10.1016/j.ecl.2007.07.010]
- Al-Naseem AO, Attia A, Gonnah AR, Al-Naseem AOAS, Spiers HVM, Gruessner A, Leelarathna L, Thabit H, Augustine T. Pancreas 5 transplantation today: quo vadis? Eur J Endocrinol 2023; 188: R73-R87 [PMID: 36929837 DOI: 10.1093/ejendo/lvad032]
- Rojas-Canales D, Walters SN, Penko D, Cultrone D, Bailey J, Chtanova T, Nitschke J, Johnston J, Kireta S, Loudovaris T, Kay TW, Kuchel 6 TR, Hawthorne W, O'Connell PJ, Korbutt G, Greenwood JE, Grey ST, Drogemuller CJ, Coates PT. Intracutaneous Transplantation of Islets Within a Biodegradable Temporizing Matrix as an Alternative Site for Islet Transplantation. Diabetes 2023; 72: 758-768 [PMID: 36929171 DOI: 10.2337/db21-0841]
- 7 Berney T, Andres A, Bellin MD, de Koning EJP, Johnson PRV, Kay TWH, Lundgren T, Rickels MR, Scholz H, Stock PG, White S; International Islet Transplant Centers. A Worldwide Survey of Activities and Practices in Clinical Islet of Langerhans Transplantation. Transpl Int 2022; 35: 10507 [PMID: 36033644 DOI: 10.3389/ti.2022.10507]
- Gruessner AC, Gruessner RWG. The 2022 International Pancreas Transplant Registry Report-A Review. Transplant Proc 2022; 54: 1918-8 1943 [PMID: 35970624 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2022.03.059]
- 9 Gruessner AC, Gruessner RW. Long-term outcome after pancreas transplantation: a registry analysis. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2016; 21: 377-385 [PMID: 27258580 DOI: 10.1097/MOT.00000000000331]
- Troppmann C. Complications after pancreas transplantation. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2010; 15: 112-118 [PMID: 20009931 DOI: 10 10.1097/MOT.0b013e3283355349
- Hameed M, Hameed S, Harvey C, Moser S, Muthusamy A. Imaging in whole organ pancreatic transplants and a multimodality review of its 11 complications. Br J Radiol 2021; 94: 20200106 [PMID: 33852347 DOI: 10.1259/bjr.20200106]
- Hakeem A, Chen J, Iype S, Clatworthy MR, Watson CJE, Godfrey EM, Upponi S, Saeb-Parsy K. Pancreatic allograft thrombosis: Suggestion 12 for a CT grading system and management algorithm. Am J Transplant 2018; 18: 163-179 [PMID: 28719059 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.14433]
- Doherty DT, Khambalia HA, Summers A, Moinuddin Z, Yiannoullou P, Krishnan A, Augustine T, Naish JH, van Dellen D. Future imaging 13 modalities for the assessment of pancreas allografts a scan of the horizon. Transplant Rev (Orlando) 2022; 36: 100692 [PMID: 35364360 DOI: 10.1016/j.trre.2022.100692]
- Fananapazir G, Troppmann C, Corwin MT, Nikpour AM, Naderi S, Lamba R. Incidences of acute kidney injury, dialysis, and graft loss 14 following intravenous administration of low-osmolality iodinated contrast in patients with kidney transplants. Abdom Radiol (NY) 2016; 41: 2182-2186 [PMID: 27377897 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-016-0827-3]
- Cheungpasitporn W, Thongprayoon C, Mao MA, Mao SA, D'Costa MR, Kittanamongkolchai W, Kashani KB. Contrast-induced acute kidney 15 injury in kidney transplant recipients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. World J Transplant 2017; 7: 81-87 [PMID: 28280699 DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v7.i1.81]
- McDonald JS, Katzberg RW, McDonald RJ, Williamson EE, Kallmes DF. Is the Presence of a Solitary Kidney an Independent Risk Factor for 16 Acute Kidney Injury after Contrast-enhanced CT? Radiology 2016; 278: 74-81 [PMID: 26523492 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2015142676]
- Isaka Y, Hayashi H, Aonuma K, Horio M, Terada Y, Doi K, Fujigaki Y, Yasuda H, Sato T, Fujikura T, Kuwatsuru R, Toei H, Murakami R, 17 Saito Y, Hirayama A, Murohara T, Sato A, Ishii H, Takayama T, Watanabe M, Awai K, Oda S, Murakami T, Yagyu Y, Joki N, Komatsu Y, Miyauchi T, Ito Y, Miyazawa R, Kanno Y, Ogawa T, Koshi E, Kosugi T, Yasuda Y; Japanese Society of Nephrology, Japan Radiological Society, and Japanese Circulation Society Joint Working Group. Guideline on the use of iodinated contrast media in patients with kidney disease 2018. Clin Exp Nephrol 2020; 24: 1-44 [PMID: 31709463 DOI: 10.1007/s10157-019-01750-5]
- van der Molen AJ, Reimer P, Dekkers IA, Bongartz G, Bellin MF, Bertolotto M, Clement O, Heinz-Peer G, Stacul F, Webb JAW, Thomsen 18 HS. Post-contrast acute kidney injury. Part 2: risk stratification, role of hydration and other prophylactic measures, patients taking metformin and chronic dialysis patients : Recommendations for updated ESUR Contrast Medium Safety Committee guidelines. Eur Radiol 2018; 28: 2856-2869 [PMID: 29417249 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-017-5247-4]



- 19 European Society of Urogenital Radiology. ESUR Guidelines on Contrast Agents V.10.0 Mar 2018. [cited 21 Oct 2023]. Available from: https://www.esur.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/ESUR-Guidelines-10 0-Final-Version.pdf
- 20 Nghiem DD. Revascularization of the gastroepiploic artery in pancreas transplant. *Transpl Int* 2008; **21**: 774-777 [PMID: 18482176 DOI: 10.1111/j.1432-2277.2008.00683.x]
- 21 **Diem P**, Abid M, Redmon JB, Sutherland DE, Robertson RP. Systemic venous drainage of pancreas allografts as independent cause of hyperinsulinemia in type I diabetic recipients. *Diabetes* 1990; **39**: 534-540 [PMID: 2185105 DOI: 10.2337/diabetes.39.5.534]
- Stratta RJ, Shokouh-Amiri MH, Egidi MF, Grewal HP, Kizilisik AT, Nezakatgoo N, Gaber LW, Gaber AO. A prospective comparison of simultaneous kidney-pancreas transplantation with systemic-enteric versus portal-enteric drainage. *Ann Surg* 2001; 233: 740-751 [PMID: 11371732 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-200106000-00003]
- 23 Boggi U, Amorese G, Marchetti P. Surgical techniques for pancreas transplantation. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2010; 15: 102-111 [PMID: 20010103 DOI: 10.1097/MOT.0b013e32833553de]
- 24 Stratta RJ, Gaber AO, Shokouh-Amiri MH, Reddy KS, Egidi MF, Grewal HP, Gaber LW. A prospective comparison of systemic-bladder versus portal-enteric drainage in vascularized pancreas transplantation. *Surgery* 2000; 127: 217-226 [PMID: 10686988 DOI: 10.1067/msy.2000.103160]
- 25 Grewal HP, Garland L, Novak K, Gaber L, Tolley EA, Gaber AO. Risk factors for postimplantation pancreatitis and pancreatic thrombosis in pancreas transplant recipients. *Transplantation* 1993; 56: 609-612 [PMID: 8212156 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-199309000-00021]
- 26 Sindhi R, Stratta RJ, Lowell JA, Sudan D, Cushing KA, Castaldo P, Jerius JT. Experience with enteric conversion after pancreatic transplantation with bladder drainage. J Am Coll Surg 1997; 184: 281-289 [PMID: 9060926]
- 27 Gallego Ferrero P, Crespo Del Pozo J. Imaging in pancreas transplantation complications: Temporal classification. *J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol* 2018 [PMID: 29808575 DOI: 10.1111/1754-9485.12750]
- Ventura-Aguiar P, Cabello M, Beneyto I, Navarro Cabello D, Tabernero G, Alonso A, Ruiz JC, Llorente S; EFISPAN group. Patient and graft survival in pancreas transplant recipients: The EFISPAN study. *Nefrologia (Engl Ed)* 2023; 43: 133-143 [PMID: 36494288 DOI: 10.1016/j.nefroe.2022.11.019]
- 29 Kopp WH, van Leeuwen CAT, Lam HD, Huurman VAL, de Fijter JW, Schaapherder AF, Baranski AG, Braat AE. Retrospective study on detection, treatment, and clinical outcome of graft thrombosis following pancreas transplantation. *Transpl Int* 2019; **32**: 410-417 [PMID: 30525250 DOI: 10.1111/tri.13384]
- 30 Haider M, Yessayan L, Venkat KK, Goggins M, Patel A, Karthikeyan V. Incidence of contrast-induced nephropathy in kidney transplant recipients. *Transplant Proc* 2015; 47: 379-383 [PMID: 25769577 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2015.01.008]
- 31 Blundell J, Shahrestani S, Lendzion R, Pleass HJ, Hawthorne WJ. Risk Factors for Early Pancreatic Allograft Thrombosis Following Simultaneous Pancreas-Kidney Transplantation: A Systematic Review. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost* 2020; 26: 1076029620942589 [PMID: 33052066 DOI: 10.1177/1076029620942589]
- 32 Yadav K, Young S, Finger EB, Kandaswamy R, Sutherland DER, Golzarian J, Dunn TB. Significant arterial complications after pancreas transplantation-A single-center experience and review of literature. *Clin Transplant* 2017; 31 [PMID: 28787529 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.13070]
- 33 Barrufet M, Burrel M, Angeles García-Criado M, Montañà X, Real MI, Ferrer J, Fernández-Cruz L, Gilabert R. Pancreas transplants venous graft thrombosis: endovascular thrombolysis for graft rescue. *Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol* 2014; 37: 1226-1234 [PMID: 24305984 DOI: 10.1007/s00270-013-0799-4]
- 34 Cornejo-Carrasco CE, Fernández-Cruz L. Re-operation in pancreas transplantation. *Transplant Proc* 2014; **46**: 3050-3053 [PMID: 25420820 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2014.06.058]
- 35 van Dellen D, Summers A, Trevelyan S, Tavakoli A, Augustine T, Pararajasingam R. Incidence and Histologic Features of Transplant Graft Pancreatitis: A Single Center Experience. *Exp Clin Transplant* 2015; 13: 449-452 [PMID: 26450468]
- 36 Nadalin S, Girotti P, Königsrainer A. Risk factors for and management of graft pancreatitis. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2013; 18: 89-96 [PMID: 23254701 DOI: 10.1097/MOT.0b013e32835c6f0f]
- 37 **Thoeni RF**. The revised Atlanta classification of acute pancreatitis: its importance for the radiologist and its effect on treatment. *Radiology* 2012; **262**: 751-764 [PMID: 22357880 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.11110947]
- 38 Ozturk M, Ozkan O, Laeseke P, Kleedehn MG. Peripancreatic Fluid Collections After Pancreas Transplant: Safety and Efficacy of Percutaneous Drainage. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2021; 217: 404-410 [PMID: 34036810 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.20.23059]
- 39 Singh RP, Vrakas G, Hayek S, Anam S, Aqueel M, Olsburgh J, Calder F, Mamode N, Callaghan C, Kessaris N, Pattison J, Hilton R, Koffman G, Taylor JD, Drage MW. Clinically significant peripancreatic fluid collections after simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation. *Transplantation* 2013; 95: 1263-1269 [PMID: 23507700 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e318289c978]
- 40 Khubutia MS, Pinchuk AV, Dmitriev IV, Balkarov AG, Storozhev RV, Anisimov YA. Surgical complications after simultaneous pancreaskidney transplantation: A single-center experience. *Asian J Surg* 2016; **39**: 232-237 [PMID: 26857852 DOI: 10.1016/j.asjsur.2015.11.003]
- 41 Fleetwood VA, Falls C, Ohman J, Aziz A, Stalter L, Leverson G, Welch B, Kaufman DB, Al-Adra DP, Odorico JS. Post-pancreatic transplant enteric leaks: The role of the salvage operation. *Am J Transplant* 2022; 22: 2052-2063 [PMID: 35593379 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.17094]
- 42 Nath DS, Gruessner A, Kandaswamy R, Gruessner RW, Sutherland DE, Humar A. Late anastomotic leaks in pancreas transplant recipients clinical characteristics and predisposing factors. *Clin Transplant* 2005; 19: 220-224 [PMID: 15740558 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-0012.2005.00322.x]
- 43 Young SJ, Bergren L, Dunn T, Shrestha P, Yadav K, Frank N, Kandaswamy R, Golzarian J. Outcomes of Endovascular Management of Late Vascular Hemorrhage After Pancreatic Transplant. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 2018; 210: 201-206 [PMID: 29045177 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.17.18171]
- 44 Surowiecka-Pastewka A, Matejak-Górska M, Frączek M, Sklinda K, Walecki J, Durlik M. Endovascular Interventions in Vascular Complications After Simultaneous Pancreas and Kidney Transplantations: A Single-Center Experience. Ann Transplant 2019; 24: 199-207 [PMID: 30975974 DOI: 10.12659/AOT.912005]
- 45 Bratton CF, Hamid A, Selby JB, Baliga PK. Case report: gastrointestinal hemorrhage caused by a pancreas transplant arteriovenous fistula with large psuedoanuerysm 9 years after transplantation. *Transplant Proc* 2011; 43: 4039-4043 [PMID: 22172898 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2011.09.071]
- 46 Choudhary D, Vijayvergiya R, Sharma A, Lal A, Rajan P, Kasinadhuni G, Singh S, Kenwar DB. Salvage of Graft Pancreas in a Simultaneous Pancreas-kidney Transplant Recipient With Splenic Artery Thrombosis, Infected Walled-off Necrosis, and Stenting of Y Arterial Graft Stenosis. *Transplant Direct* 2022; 8: e1363 [PMID: 36313128 DOI: 10.1097/TXD.00000000001363]

Zaishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

WJG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 December 14; 29(46): 6060-6075

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6060

Basic Study

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Exosome-mediated transfer of circRNA563 promoting hepatocellular carcinoma by targeting the microRNA148a-3p/metal-regulatory transcription factor-1 pathway

Zhuo-Zhen Lyu, Meng Li, Ming-Yu Yang, Mei-Hong Han, Zhen Yang

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Jeyaraman M, India; Shalaby MN, Egypt

Received: September 29, 2023 Peer-review started: September 29, 2023 First decision: October 16, 2023

Revised: October 24, 2023 Accepted: November 17, 2023 Article in press: November 17, 2023 Published online: December 14, 2023



Zhuo-Zhen Lyu, Meng Li, Ming-Yu Yang, Mei-Hong Han, Zhen Yang, Department of Infectious Diseases, Shandong Provincial Hospital Affiliated to Shandong First Medical University, Jinan 250021, Shandong Province, China

Corresponding author: Zhen Yang, MD, PhD, Doctor, Professor, Department of Infectious Diseases, Shandong Provincial Hospital Affiliated to Shandong First Medical University, No. 324 Jingwu Road, Jinan 250021, Shandong Province, China. yangzhen@sdfmu.edu.cn

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) exert anti-oncogenic effects via exosomes containing non-coding RNA (ncRNA), which play important roles in tumor biology. Our preliminary study identified the interaction of the ncRNA hsa_circ_0000563 (circ563) and the circ563-associated miR-148a-3p in exosomes, as miR-148a-3p and its target metal-regulatory transcription factor-1 (MTF-1) are implicated in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) progression.

AIM

To identify the clinical significance, functional implications, and mechanisms of circ563 in HCC.

METHODS

The expression levels of miR-148a-3p and MTF-1 in exosomes derived from MSC and HCC cells were compared, and their effects on HCC cells were assessed. Using a dual-luciferase reporter assay, miR-148a-3p was identified as an associated microRNA of circ563, whose role in HCC regulation was assessed in vitro and in vivo.

RESULTS

The silencing of circ563 blocked the HCC cell proliferation and invasion and induced apoptosis. Co-culturing of HCC cells with MSC-derived exosomes following circ563 overexpression promoted cell proliferation and metastasis and elicited changes in miR-148a-3p and MTF-1 expression. The tumor-promoting effects of circ563 were partially suppressed by miR-148a-3p overexpression or MTF-1 depletion. Xenograft experiments performed in nude mice confirmed that circ563-enriched exosomes facilitated tumor growth by upregulating the ex-



pression of MTF-1. In HCC tissues, circ563 expression was negatively correlated with miR-148a-3p expression but positively correlated with MTF-1 levels.

CONCLUSION

MSCs may exhibit anti-HCC activity through the exosomal circ563/miR-148a-3p/MTF-1 pathway, while exosomes can transmit circ563 to promote oncogenic behavior by competitively binding to miR-148a-3p to activate MTF-1.

Key Words: Exosome; Cell communication; Noncoding RNA; Metal-regulatory transcription factor-1; Mesenchymal stem cells

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: We identified the functional implications and mechanisms of exosomal hsa circ 0000563 (circ563) in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Mesenchymal stem cells suppressed HCC proliferation and invasion via their exosomes. The circ563 interacts with miR-148a-3p, a molecule involved in HCC progression, and both are identified at different levels in exosomes. The tumor-promoting effects of circ563 were partially suppressed by miR-148a-3p overexpression or depletion of metal-regulatory transcription factor-1 (MTF-1). Xenograft experiments performed in nude mice confirmed that circ563enriched exosomes facilitated tumor growth via MTF-1 upregulation. Our findings provide new insights into circ563/miR-148a-3p/MTF-1 signaling as a potential therapeutic target for HCC.

Citation: Lyu ZZ, Li M, Yang MY, Han MH, Yang Z. Exosome-mediated transfer of circRNA563 promoting hepatocellular carcinoma by targeting the microRNA148a-3p/metal-regulatory transcription factor-1 pathway. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(46): 6060-6075

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i46/6060.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6060

INTRODUCTION

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is a fatal disease and the most common form of primary liver cancer. Although novel chemotherapeutic agents and treatment modalities have been clinically implemented, the survival rate of patients with HCC has not yet improved[1]. Therefore, a deeper understanding of the mechanisms facilitating HCC progression is paramount for the development of more effective therapeutic strategies.

The tumor microenvironment (TME) has been an important aspect of tumor research. Recent studies indicate that mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are essential stromal cells in the TME and exert their effects via exosomes, as demonstrated by multiple studies[2,3]. Furthermore, the efficacy of therapeutic MSC transplantation has been reported in both experimental and clinical research [4-6]. As a result, MSC-derived exosomes have attracted significant attention due to their implications in intercellular communication.

Exosomes are small extracellular vesicles approximately 30-150 nm in diameter that are formed by cells through a series of regulatory processes. These vesicles are enriched in bioactive molecules like non-coding RNA (ncRNA) with crucial biological functions, whose delivery to recipient cells is involved in various physiological and pathological processes, including carcinogenesis and metastasis[7,8]. Circular RNA (circRNA) is a new class of endogenous ncRNA, which has selectively conserved microRNA (miRNA) target sites and exerts regulatory effects in cancer biology by regulating miRNA gene expression[9,10]. Such interactions between circRNA and miRNA are known as the competitive endogenous RNA theory[11]. miRNAs represent the ncRNA of 20-25 nucleotides, which mediate post-transcriptional gene silencing by binding to the 3'-untranslated regions of target mRNAs. Exosomal circRNA and miRNA are involved in tumor initiation and progression [7,8,12,13]; however, their expression profiles, functions, and dysregulation in HCC require further clarification.

This study found that MSCs suppressed HCC proliferation and invasion via their exosomes. The ncRNA circ563 interacts with miR-148a-3p, and both are identified at different levels in exosomes. Metal-regulatory transcription factor-1 (MTF-1) as the direct target of miR-148a-3p is implicated in HCC progression. Therefore, further studies should be performed to determine the possible role and significance of circ563/miR-148a-3p/MTF-1 axis in the development of HCC.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell lines and culture

The human HCC cell lines Hep3B (RRID: CVCL_0326, iCell Bioscience, Shanghai, China) and SNU387 (RRID: CVCL_0250, Procell, Wuhan, China), MSC (Procell, Wuhan, China), and the human embryonic kidney cell line HEK 293T (RRID: CVCL_0045, Cell Research, Shanghai, China) were cultured according to the manufacturer's instructions. The cell



lines used in this study were authenticated, and no cellular cross-contamination or mycoplasma infection was detected.

Isolation and characterization of exosomes

The exosomes were isolated as previously described[14], and their morphology was observed under a transmission electron microscope. The size distribution of exosomes was analyzed using the NanoSight LM10 system (NanoSight, Amesbury, United Kingdom) equipped with fast video capture and particle-tracking software.

Exosome internalization assay

MSCs were modified to express fused CD63-eGFP *via* lentiviral transduction following the manufacturer's instructions. The HCC cells were seeded on glass coverslips coated with poly-L-lysine (Sigma, Shanghai, China). MSC-derived exosomes were co-cultured with HCC cells for 24 h at 37 °C before washing and fixation at room temperature. The uptake of labeled exosomes by recipient cells was observed under a fluorescence microscope (Leica TCS SP8 X, Leica, Shanghai, China).

Western blotting

Exosomes were harvested for protein extraction. Equal amounts of protein were subjected to sodium dodecyl-sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and then electroblotted onto a polyvinylidene difluoride membrane (Merck, Nantong, Jiangsu, China) followed by western immunoblotting. Membranes were incubated with primary antibodies overnight at 4 °C, followed by incubation with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (ZSGB-BIO, Beijing, China). The bands were visualized using a Tanon 5200 Chemiluminescent imaging system (Molecular Devices, Beijing, China) and analyzed using ImageJ software (version 1.52, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, United States). The following primary antibodies were used: Anti-TSG101, anti-CD9, and anti-CD81 (Abcam, Shanghai, China).

Real-time polymerase chain reaction

Total RNA was extracted using the Ultrapure RNA Kit (CoWin Biotech, Beijing, China) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Equal amounts of the samples were amplified, and real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) was performed as previously described[14]. The following primer pairs were used: MiR-148a-3p, forward: 5'-CTCAGTGCAC-TACAGAACTTTGT-3', reverse: 5'-ATCCAGTGCAGGGTCCGAGG-3'; MTF-1, forward: 5'-GAAAAGCCATTTCG-GTGCGA-3', reverse: 5'-CAGCCATTACTGGGGGCAGAA-3' (DingGuo Biotechnology, Beijing, China); hsa_circRNA_0000562 (circ562), forward: 5'-TTTAGTACACAGCATGGCTCA-3', reverse: 5'-ATTAGCACCCAT-TTCTTCAGT-3'; hsa_circRNA_0000563 (circ563), forward: 5'-TTGGAATTTAACATGCTTGC-3', reverse: 5'-GCATTAGCACCCATTTCTT-3'; hsa_circRNA_00001110 (circ1110), forward: 5'-TCACTTGGGTTCATTCTATTCA-3', reverse: 5'-GCTTGTCTTTTCTTGTTTCC-3'; U6, forward: 5'-GCTCGCTTCGGCAGCACA-3', reverse: 5'-GAACGCTTCACGAATTTGCGTG-3'; glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), forward: 5'-CCCTATAAAAC-CCAGCGGCG-3', reverse: 5'-AGGGGCCAATCCACAGTCTTC-3'; and actin, forward: 5'-CCCTATAAAAC-CCAGCGGCG-3', reverse: 5'-TCGTCGCCCACATAGGAATC-3' (Tsingke Biotechnology, Qingdao, China). Data were analyzed using the comparative CT method, and the 2^{-ΔΔCt} method showed the difference between treatment and control conditions.

Transfection assay

Overexpression plasmids of miR-148a-3p, knockdown plasmids of MTF-1, and control empty vectors were obtained from GenePharma (Shanghai, China). Small interfering RNA targeting circ562 (sense: 5'-GGCUCAGCAAAAUG-GAUGAAAdTdT-3'; antisense: 5'-UUUCAUCCAUUUUGCUGAGCCdTdT-3'), circ563 (sense: 5'-GCUU-GCACAAGAAAUGGAUGAdTdT-3'; antisense: 5'-UCAUCCAUUUCUUGUGCAAGCdTdT-3'), and circ1110 (sense: 5'-GGUUCAUUCUAUUCAGUGACUdTdT-3'; antisense: 5'-AGUCACUGAAUAGAAUGAACCdTdT-3') were synthesized by Hippobio (Zhejiang, China). The cells with stable overexpression of miR-148a-3p (5'-UCAG-UGCACUACAGAA-CUUUGU-3') or circ563 or with stable knockdown of MTF-1 (5'-GCGGTACCAATGTACCTTTGA-3') were transfected with lentiviral vectors for *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies. The cells in 6-well plates were transfected using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen, Shanghai, China), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Cell viability assay

Cell viability was determined using the 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay. The cells were seeded into 96-well plates (approximately 1500 cells/well) before treatment. At the end of each treatment, the MTT reagent was added to the medium. The cells were incubated for an additional 4 h, and the absorbance of the samples was measured at 490 nm using a plate reader (Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, United States). Experiments were performed in triplicate, and data were expressed as the mean optical density ± SD.

Colony formation assay

The cells (approximately 1000 cells/well) were seeded into six-well plates with different treatments, either simultaneously or subsequently. After 14 d, the cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and stained with 0.5% crystal violet, and the individual clones (> 50 cells/clone) were counted. Each treatment was performed in triplicate. Data were expressed as the mean \pm SD.

Zaishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Transwell assays

Transwell assays were performed to assess cell invasion and migration abilities in 24-well plates with BD chambers (8mm pores; BD Biosciences, Shanghai, China). Approximately 1 × 10⁵ cells/well were seeded into the upper chambers and cultured in a serum-free medium. The medium containing 30% serum was placed in the lower chambers. After migration through the Transwell membrane, the cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and stained with crystal violet (Solarbio, Beijing, China). Compared with the invasion assay, the Transwell chambers for the migration assay were not coated with Matrigel. All Transwell treatments were conducted in triplicate.

Flow cytometry

Following different treatments, cell apoptosis was detected using the phycoerythrin (PE) Annexin V Apoptosis Detection Kit I (BD Pharmingen, China) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The cells were harvested after trypsin digestion, centrifuged, and washed with annexin V binding buffer three times. The cells were then stained with PE annexin V and 7-amino-actinomycin D at room temperature for 15 min and analyzed using flow cytometry (BD FACSAria II, Shanghai, China), and the results were analyzed using FlowJo software (version 10; Ashland, OR, United States).

Luciferase reporter assay

A wild-type (wt) or mutant circ563 fragment was constructed and cloned into plasmids containing luciferase. The recombinant circ563-wt/mt plasmids were co-transfected into HEK 293T cells with either a negative control or a miR-148a-3p mimic using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen Inc., CA, United States). After 48 h, the luciferase activity was measured using the Dual-Luciferase Reporter 1000 Assay System (Promega, Madison, WI, United States). The firefly luciferase enzyme activity was normalized to the Renilla luciferase activity, and the ratio of firefly to Renilla luciferase activity was evaluated. The experiments were independently performed in triplicate.

Patients and specimens

Human HCC tissues and paired tumor-adjacent noncancerous liver tissues were obtained from 14 patients with HCC who underwent tumor resection at the Shandong Provincial Hospital, China. None of the patients had undergone radioor chemotherapy before surgery. Informed consent was obtained from each participant and approved by the Institutional Review Board. The study was approved by the Institutional Medical Ethics Committee of Shandong Provincial Hospital. Patients aged \geq 18 years and diagnosed with HCC without any local or systemic treatment were included in the study. By contrast, patients with other types of cancers, liver failure, and taking medications that affect liver function were excluded.

HCC tumor-xenograft mouse model

The animal study was approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of Shandong Provincial Hospital. The animal protocol was designed to minimize pain or discomfort during the experiments. The animals were acclimatized to laboratory conditions (23 °C, 12 h/12 h light/dark, 50% humidity, ad libitum access to food and water) for 2 wk before experimentation. Five-week-old BALB/c nude mice (Provincial Laboratory Animal Center, Jinan, China) were used for this study. Following different treatments, the Hep3B cells were prepared at $3 \times 10^{\circ}$ cells/100 µL. Initially, the HCC-bearing nude mice were prepared to develop subcutaneous tumors. After four weeks, circ563-enriched exosomes (approximately 10°) were injected intratumorally into the tumor mass twice a week for two weeks. The tumor size was measured weekly, and the tumor volume was calculated using the following formula: Volume (mm^3) = tumor length × width²/2. After six weeks, all mice were sacrificed to compare the tumor volumes and weights. The tumors were fixed in 10% formalin and embedded in paraffin for subsequent immunohistochemical examination.

Immunohistochemistry and scoring

The sections were stained with an anti-MTF-1 sary antibody (Zhongshan Biotechnology Co., Beijing, China). The slides were imaged and analyzed using Aipathwell software (Servicebio, Wuhan, China). The staining intensity was characterized as not present (0), weak but detectable above control (1), moderate (2), and very strong (3). The H-scores were calculated as follows: H-score = \sum (pi × i) = (percentage of weak intensity cells × 1) + (percentage of moderate intensity cells \times 2) + (percentage of strong intensity cells \times 3). Data were presented as the mean \pm SD.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 21.0 software. Data were presented in bar plots as the mean ± SD of at least three independent experiments. A P value of < 0.05 (two-tailed) was considered significant. Student's t-test was performed to determine whether the two groups were significantly different. Pearson's correlation analysis was used to assess the correlations between circ563, miR-148a-3p, and MTF-1.

WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

RESULTS

MSCs and MSC-derived exosomes exhibiting tumor-suppressive effects on HCC with corresponding changes in miR-148a-3p and MTF-1 levels

HCC cell proliferation was inhibited by co-culturing with MSCs, which was consistent with the reduced cell viability, migration, and invasion observed under these conditions (Figures 1A-G and Supplementary Figures 1A-G). However, as shown in Figure 1H and Supplementary Figure 1H, apoptosis was induced in HCC cells. To further verify the regulatory role of MSC-derived exosomes in HCC, the exosomes were isolated and characterized by specific marker expression (Figure 1I) and particle size analysis (Figure 1J). In addition, we observed and verified the uptake of labeled exosomes in HCC cells (Figure 1K and Supplementary Figure 1I). MSC-derived exosomes also exerted substantial anti-oncogenic effects in HCC cells by blocking cell proliferation, migration, and invasion while inducing apoptosis (Figures 1L-S and Supplementary Figures 1J-Q). Therefore, MSCs inhibit HCC proliferation and metastasis *via* their exosomes.

A previous study from our laboratory demonstrated that exosomal miR-148a-3p functions as a tumor suppressor in HCC progression, with MTF-1 being its direct target[14]. In the present study, MSC-derived exosomes displayed increased miR-148a-3p and decreased MTF-1 expression levels compared with HCC-derived exosomes (Figure 1T and Supplementary Figure 1R). Co-culturing HCC cells with either MSCs or MSC-derived exosomes led to the corresponding changes in miR-148a-3p and MTF-1 expression levels (Figure 1U and Supplementary Figure 1S). This finding indicates that exosomes contain bioactive materials involved in the regulation of miR-148a-3p and MTF-1 expression in HCC cells.

Characterization of circ563 and its expression in clinical HCC

A search of the CircInteractome databases (https://circinteractome.nia.nih.gov/) yielded three potential circRNAs [circ563, hsa_circRNA_0000562 (circ562), and hsa_circRNA_00001110 (circ1110)] that are most likely to bind to miR-148a-3p based on potential complementary sequences. Further analysis was performed using dual-luciferase reporter assays and RT-PCR. The RT-PCR analyses showed that circRNA was positively correlated with MTF-1 but negatively correlated with miR-148a-3p (Figure 2A). The overexpression of miR-148a-3p considerably inhibited the luciferase activity of circ563-wt. However, the luciferase activity of circ563-mutant-type (mt) cells transfected with miR-148a-3p mimics remained unaffected, thus indicating that miR-148a-3p is a target miRNA of circ563 (Figure 2B). Subsequently, knockdown experiments were performed to investigate whether circ563 affects the biological processes of HCC cells. si-circ563 was transfected into Hep3B and SNU387 cells, both strongly expressing circ563, and the knockdown efficiency was determined by RT-PCR (Figure 2C and Supplementary Figure 2A). Exosomal circ563 (exo-circ563) expression levels were also compared with those of MSCs (Figure 2D and Supplementary Figure 2B). Silencing of circ563 expression blocked the proliferation and invasion of HCC cells and increased their apoptosis rate (Figures 2E-I and Supplementary Figures 2C-G).

Next, circ563 expression was analyzed in human HCC tissues, which showed higher circ563 levels with downregulated miR-148a-3p and upregulated MTF-1 expression levels compared with tumor-adjacent tissues (Figures 3A-C). Correlation analyses further revealed the relationships between circ563, miR-148a-3p, and MTF-1 levels in HCC (Figures 3D-F). These findings suggest that circ563 may be involved in potentiating HCC cell growth and metastasis, considering the observed correlation with miR-148a-3p and MTF-1.

Exo-circ563 potentiating HCC progression by sequestering miR-148a-3p that regulates MTF-1

To further explore whether exo-circ563 exerts an oncogenic role, we suppressed the expression of circ563 in HCC cells and detected a reduction in exo-circ563 levels using RT-PCR (Figure 4A). The HCC cells co-treated with exosomes containing downregulated circ563 levels led to a marked reduction in cell proliferation and invasion and enhanced apoptosis (Figures 4B-I and Supplementary Figures 3A-H).

Consistent with previous results, exo-circ563 overexpression facilitated HCC cell progression. The exo-circ563 overexpression efficiency and upregulation were ascertained through RT-PCR (Figures 4J and K). We co-cultured HCC cells with MSC-derived exosomes following the circ563 overexpression and observed an increase in HCC cell proliferation and metastasis and a suppression of apoptosis (Figures 4L-S and Supplementary Figures 3I-P). These effects were partially prevented by the overexpression of miR-148a-3p or depletion of MTF-1 (Figure 5 and Supplementary Figure 4). These data indicate the involvement of a circ563-dependent mechanism in regulating miR-148a-3p expression as described by the competitive endogenous RNA theory.

circ563 accelerating HCC tumorigenesis in vivo

To further confirm the significance of exo-circ563 in HCC tumorigenesis and progression, *in vivo* experiments were performed. The upregulation of circ563 dramatically accelerated tumor growth in nude mice as evidenced by the detection of larger tumors. This effect could be reversed by miR-148a-3p overexpression or MTF-1 depletion (Figures 6A-C). Therefore, the effects of circ563, by facilitating HCC progression *via* miR-148a-3p and MTF-1 regulation, were also present *in vivo*. Correspondingly, the expression of MTF-1 in murine tumor tissues had changed similarly to tumor growth (Figures 6D and E). All these results show that circ563 accelerates HCC progression by sponging miR-148a-3p to elicit MTF-1-dependent oncogenic effects *via* the circ563/miR-148a-3p/MTF-1 axis (Figure 7).

Zaishideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com





WJG https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Effects of mesenchymal stem cells or mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosome co-incubation on Hep3B cells. A-C: The proliferation of Hep3B cells was measured using 3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide and colony formation assays; D-G: Invasion and metastasis were determined using the Transwell assay. Scale bar = 500 μ m; H: Cell apoptotic rates were detected after co-incubation using flow cytometry; I: Exosomes were isolated, and specific exosome markers were identified using western blotting; J: The particle size analyzer showed that the average diameter of the vesicles was within the diameter range of exosomes; K: The uptake of labeled exosomes was observed and verified; L-S: Hep3B cell viability and metastasis were both suppressed after exposure to mesenchymal stem cell (MSC)-derived exosomes, and apoptosis was enhanced; T: Comparison of miR-148a-3p and metal-regulatory transcription factor-1 (MTF-1) expression levels in MSC- and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC)-derived exosomes. Quantitative data from three independent experiments are shown as the mean \pm SD (error bars). ^a*P* < 0.05, ^b*P* < 0.01, ^c*P* < 0.001. HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; miRNA: MicroRNA; MSC: Mesenchymal stem cell; MTF-1: Metal-regulatory transcription factor-1; PBS: Phosphate buffered saline.

DISCUSSION

Liver cancer remains a global health challenge, and its incidence is expected to reach over 1 million cases by 2025[15]. HCC is the most common primary liver cancer. It is characterized by aggressive progression, broad metastasis, frequent recurrence, and high mortality. Therefore, a better understanding of the processes involved in HCC tumorigenesis and metastasis is urgently needed to discover new treatment strategies and improve patient prognosis.

Recent studies have established a comprehensive role of TME in disease development, making it one of the most promising areas of oncological research[16,17]. Moreover, HCC cells can alter their surrounding microenvironment to promote their growth and metastasis[18,19]. The crosstalk between tumor cells and their microenvironment is important for MSC recruitment to HCC tissues, which has also been observed in HCC animal models[19,20]. Although MSCs were initially considered as oncological delivery vehicles due to their migratory and homing capacity toward tumors[21], increasing evidence suggests that they can modulate tumorigenesis *via* the exosomes[2,3]. In the present study, co-incubation with MSCs inhibited the proliferation and invasion of HCC cells but enhanced their apoptotic capabilities. Further investigation on the mediating role of MSC-derived exosomes in the regulation of HCC cells also led to the discovery of their anti-oncogenic potential by blocking the development of HCC cells. Based on our findings, an exosome-based adjuvant intervention could offer a novel therapeutic approach to HCC by delivering the protected "cargo" directly to the tumor site.



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6060 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Identification of hsa_circRNA_0000563. A: Three circular RNAs (circRNAs) (circ562, circ563, and circ1110) were predicted to most likely bind to miR-148a-3p, and the miR-148a-3p and metal-regulatory transcription factor-1 (MTF-1) levels in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) cells transfected with the predicted circRNA were detected by quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR); B: A dual-luciferase reporter assay was performed to confirm the direct binding between circ563 and miR-148a-3p based on their complementary sequences; C: The knockdown efficiency was verified by RT-PCR; D: The expression levels of circ563 in exosomes were assessed by RT-PCR; E and F: 3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide and colony-forming assay results showed that circ563 silencing suppressed cell proliferation and reduced the number of colonies; G: Knockdown of circ563 enhanced Hep3B cell apoptosis as determined by flow cytometry; H and I: Transwell assays revealed that reducing the levels of circ563 impaired the migratory potential and invasiveness of HCC cells. ^a*P* < 0.05, ^b*P* < 0.01, ^c*P* < 0.001. circRNA: Circular RNA; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; Exo: Exosome.



Figure 3 Clinical relevance of circ563 in hepatocellular carcinoma. To further delineate the role of circ563, hepatocellular carcinoma and paired tumoradjacent tissues were subjected to real-time polymerase chain reaction. A-C: Enhanced circ563 expression in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) tissue was detected compared with that in tumor-adjacent tissues, in line with miR-148a-3p downregulation and metal-regulatory transcription factor-1 (MTF-1) upregulation; D-F: Correlation analyses indicated the relationships between circ563, miR-148a-3p, and MTF-1 expression in HCC. °P < 0.001. circRNA: Circular RNA; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; MTF-1: Metal-regulatory transcription factor-1.



Raishideng® W

WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 4 Exosomal circ563 facilitating hepatocellular carcinoma progression. A: First, a knockdown experiment was conducted in Hep3B cells, and the circ563 levels in Hep3B-derived exosomes were quantified by polymerase chain reaction. Hep3B cell function was assessed after co-treatment with exosomes isolated from the culture medium of circ563-knockdown Hep3B cells; B-D: Downregulation of exosomal circ563 (exo-circ563) reduced Hep3B cell proliferation and the number of colonies formed; E-H: Decreased exo-circ563 levels suppressed the migratory activity and invasiveness of the Hep3B cells; I: The downregulation of exo-circ563 was correlated with apoptosis induction; J: The efficiency of circ563 overexpression in the mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) was determined by quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction; K: The upregulation of circ563 in MSC-derived exosomes was confirmed; L-R: The hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) cell proliferation, metastasis, and apoptosis rates were assessed following exosome treatment. Exo-circ563 significantly induced HCC cell proliferation, migration, and invasion; S: Flow cytometry analysis showed that the percentage of apoptotic cells was significantly decreased. ^a*P* < 0.05, ^b*P* < 0.01, ^c*P* < 0.001. exo-circ563: Exosomel circ563; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; MSC: Mesenchymal stem cell; Exo: Exosome.

In addition, the exosomes from MSCs have shown tumor-homing capabilities in xenograft mouse models[22]. The uptake of labeled exosomes from MSCs into HCC cells was also reported in the present study. Interestingly, the exosome function most likely depends on the biological materials they encapsulate[23,24]. Mounting evidence suggests that exosomal ncRNAs (miRNA, lncRNA, and circRNA) are actively involved in the initiation and progression of various diseases by regulating cellular proliferation, differentiation, angiogenesis, and immune response[25-27].



WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Baishideng®



Figure 5 Oncogenic effect of exosomal circ563 prevented by either miR-148a-3p upregulation or metal-regulatory transcription factor-1 knockdown. A-P: Exosomal circ563 promoted Hep3B cell proliferation and invasion, which were reversed by miR-148a-3p overexpression or metal-regulatory transcription factor-1 depletion. Group 1: Co-culturing Hep3B cells with mesenchymal stem cell (MSC)-derived exosomes; Group 2: Co-culturing Hep3B cells with exosomes derived from circ563-overexpressing MSCs; Group 3: Co-culturing Hep3B cells after miR-148a-3p upregulation with exosomes derived from circ563-overexpressing MSCs; and Group 4: Co-culturing Hep3B cells after metal-regulatory transcription factor-1 knockdown with exosomes derived from circ563-overexpressing MSCs; and Group 4: Co-culturing Hep3B cells after metal-regulatory transcription factor-1 knockdown with exosomes derived from circ563-overexpressing MSCs. ^aP < 0.05, ^bP < 0.01, ^cP < 0.001.

circRNAs, a subset of ncRNA that is enriched and more stable in exosomes[28], were differentially expressed in tumor tissues than in normal tissues, suggesting their involvement in tumorigenesis and disease development[29]. *In vitro* and *in vivo* experiments revealed that circRNA commonly sponges miRNA, a major class of small ncRNA closely associated with HCC[30,31], and mediates post-transcriptional gene silencing by binding to the 3'-untranslated region or open reading frames of target mRNA. Previously, our data revealed that exosomal miR-148a-3p functions as a tumor suppressor in HCC with MTF-1 as its direct target. MTF-1 maintains metal homeostasis to protect cells against injury by excess metals and exerts oncogenic potential by manipulating metal or redox homeostasis, enhancing angiogenesis, and inducing tumor development in HCC. The current findings confirmed an increase in miR-148a-3p and a decrease in MTF-1 expression levels in MSC-derived exosomes compared with HCC-derived exosomes. Following HCC cell co-culture with MSC or MSC-derived exosomes may contain specific bioactive materials involved in regulating the expression of miR-148a-3p and MTF-1.

Considering this, we searched the CircInteractome databases and identified hsa_circ_0000563 (circ563) as the specific target that competitively binds to or sponges miR-148a-3p. Circ563 has been implicated in the changes in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis with significantly lower expression in patients with coronary artery disease than in those assigned as controls. However, the significance and mechanistic function of circ563 in carcinoma, especially in HCC, are yet to be studied[32]. In the current study, the loss-of-function of circ563 in HCC alters cell proliferation, invasion, and apoptosis, as well as miR-148a-3p and MTF-1 expression. Elevated levels of circ563 were correlated with more aggressive tumor behavior, highlighting its oncogenic role in HCC, leading to the conclusion that circ563 activation might be a global event during hepatocarcinogenesis. Intracellularly, circ563 competitively binds to miR-148a-3p, resulting in the activation of MTF-1 in a pattern opposite to that of miR-148a-3p alone. In addition, circ563 enrichment was identified in HCC-derived exosomes with the corresponding changes in the levels of miR-148a-3p and MTF-1. This observation suggests that: (1) Circ563 originating from cells can be delivered by exosomes into the peripheral circulation and recipient cells; and (2) Circ563 affects cell function and accelerates HCC development, given its possible correlation with miR-148a-3p and MTF-1 expression.

Furthermore, rescue experiments demonstrated that the potentiating effects of exo-circ563 could be partially blocked by miR-148a-3p upregulation or MTF-1 knockdown. The oncogenic role of circ563 was verified *in vivo*, as exosomes enriched with circ563 facilitated HCC cell growth in nude mice. Additionally, we assessed the expression patterns of circ563, miR-148a-3p, and MTF-1 in HCC tissues and compared them with those in tumor-adjacent tissues; the trends were consistent with those in HCC cells and exosomes. Collectively, the relative stability, high abundance, and conserved nature of exosomal circRNA across species make them promising candidates as oncogenic biomarkers; a better

WJG https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 6 Circ563 promoting hepatocellular carcinoma tumor growth *in vivo*. Mouse xenografts were generated to verify the role of circ563 *in vivo*. Hepatocellular carcinoma cells stably transfected with miR-148a-3p overexpression, metal-regulatory transcription factor-1 knockdown, or control vectors were implanted into the subcutaneous tumors of mice. The xenografts were treated with exosomes after four weeks. A-C: Accelerated growth of circ563-overexpressing Hep3B-derived xenografts is shown with increased tumor volume and weight compared with the control group. Both miR-148a-3p overexpression and metal-regulatory transcription factor-1 (MTF-1) depletion partially reversed the increase in tumor volume and weight; D and E: MTF-1 staining reveals a similar trend with cell growth. ^a*P* < 0.05, ^b*P* < 0.01, ^c*P* < 0.001. exo-circ563: Exosomal circ563; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; MSC: Mesenchymal stem cell; Exo: Exosome; MTF-1: Metal-regulatory transcription factor-1.

Baisbideng® WJG https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6060 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 7 The schematic model of circ 563/miR-148a-3p/metal-regulatory transcription factor-1 in hepatocellular carcinoma. MTF-1: Metalregulatory transcription factor-1; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; MSCs: Mesenchymal stem cells.

understanding of the exo-circ563-mediated intercellular network could facilitate the development of therapeutic strategies for patients with HCC.

CONCLUSION

We clarified the regulatory mechanisms of circ563, which can sponge miR-148a-3p to elicit MTF-1-dependent oncogenic effects, eventually acting as a tumor-potentiating factor in HCC. Thus, the ncRNA circ563 could be a promising therapeutic target, and liquid biopsy of serum exosomes targeting circ563 can help diagnose HCC and predict the prognosis of affected patients.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) exert anti-oncogenic effects via exosomes containing non-coding RNA (ncRNA), and the efficacy of MSC-derived exosome therapies has been demonstrated. Our preliminary study identified the interaction of the ncRNA hsa_circ_0000563 (circ563) and the circ563-associated miR-148a-3p which are both enclosed in exosomes, as miR-148a-3p and its target metal-regulatory transcription factor-1 (MTF-1) are implicated in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) progression.

Research motivation

This study is to identify the clinical significance, functional implications, and mechanisms of circ563 in HCC.

Research objectives

This study aims to investigate the role of circ563 in modulating HCC functions.

Research methods

The expression levels of miR-148a-3p and MTF-1 in exosomes derived from MSC and HCC cells were compared, and their effects on HCC cells were assessed. Using a dual-luciferase reporter assay, miR-148a-3p was identified as an associated miRNA of circ563, whose role in HCC regulation was assessed in vitro and in vivo.

Research results

Circ563 silencing blocked the HCC cell proliferation and invasion and induced apoptosis. Co-culturing of HCC cells with MSC-derived exosomes following circ563 overexpression contributed to cell proliferation and metastasis and elicited changes in miR-148a-3p and MTF-1 expression. The tumor-promoting effects of circ563 were partially suppressed by miR-148a-3p overexpression or MTF-1 depletion. Xenograft experiments confirmed that circ563-enriched exosomes facilitated tumor growth by upregulating the expression of MTF-1. In HCC tissues, circ563 expression was negatively



Lyu ZZ et al. Exosome-mediated transfer of circRNA563 promoting HCC

correlated with miR-148a-3p expression but positively correlated with MTF-1 levels.

Research conclusions

Our findings suggested MSCs may exhibit anti-HCC activity through the exosomal circ563/miR-148a-3p/MTF-1 pathway.

Research perspectives

The study presents a new dataset related to HCC. We clarified the regulatory mechanisms of circ563, which can sponge miR-148a-3p to elicit MTF-1-dependent oncogenic effects in HCC. Thus, the ncRNA circ563 could be a potential therapeutic target, and liquid biopsy of serum exosomes targeting circ563 may help predict the prognosis of patients with HCC.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Yang Z designed and coordinated the study, and wrote the manuscript; Lyu ZZ, Li M, Yang MY, and Han MH performed the experiments; Lyu ZZ, Li M, Han MH, and Yang Z acquired and analyzed the data; Lyu ZZ, Han MH, and Yang Z interpreted the data; and all authors approved the final version of the article.

Supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 81972606 and 82271774.

Institutional review board statement: The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Institutional Medical Ethics Committee of Shandong Provincial Hospital (protocol code NSFC: NO.2019-012; date of approval: 02/19/2019).

Institutional animal care and use committee statement: The animal study was approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of Shandong Provincial Hospital (protocol code NSFC: NO.2019-021; approval date: 02/19/2019).

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: The datasets used and/or analyzed during the present study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

ARRIVE guidelines statement: The authors have read the ARRIVE guidelines, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the ARRIVE guidelines.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Zhuo-Zhen Lyu 0000-0002-3257-4127; Meng Li 0000-0002-7489-4081; Ming-Yu Yang 0000-0001-9863-2265; Mei-Hong Han 0000-0002-9834-0956; Zhen Yang 0000-0003-2199-7789.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Xu ZH

REFERENCES

1 Ingle PV, Samsudin SZ, Chan PQ, Ng MK, Heng LX, Yap SC, Chai AS, Wong AS. Development and novel therapeutics in hepatocellular carcinoma: a review. Ther Clin Risk Manag 2016; 12: 445-455 [PMID: 27042086 DOI: 10.2147/TCRM.S92377]

2 Atiya H, Frisbie L, Pressimone C, Coffman L. Mesenchymal Stem Cells in the Tumor Microenvironment. Adv Exp Med Biol 2020; 1234: 31-42 [PMID: 32040853 DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-37184-5_3]

- 3 Li H, Li F. Exosomes from BM-MSCs increase the population of CSCs via transfer of miR-142-3p. Br J Cancer 2018; 119: 744-755 [PMID: 30220706 DOI: 10.1038/s41416-018-0254-z]
- Lou G, Chen Z, Zheng M, Liu Y. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes as a new therapeutic strategy for liver diseases. Exp Mol Med 4 2017; 49: e346 [PMID: 28620221 DOI: 10.1038/emm.2017.63]
- Dabrowska S, Andrzejewska A, Lukomska B, Janowski M. Neuroinflammation as a target for treatment of stroke using mesenchymal stem 5 cells and extracellular vesicles. J Neuroinflammation 2019; 16: 178 [PMID: 31514749 DOI: 10.1186/s12974-019-1571-8]
- Li A, Guo F, Pan Q, Chen S, Chen J, Liu HF. Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy: Hope for Patients With Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Front 6 Immunol 2021; 12: 728190 [PMID: 34659214 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.728190]
- 7 Xu Z, Chen Y, Ma L, Liu J, Guo Y, Yu T, Zhang L, Zhu L, Shu Y. Role of exosomal non-coding RNAs from tumor cells and tumor-associated



macrophages in the tumor microenvironment. Mol Ther 2022; 30: 3133-3154 [PMID: 35405312 DOI: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2022.01.046]

- 8 Lin H, Yu J, Gu X, Ge S, Fan X. Novel insights into exosomal circular RNAs: Redefining intercellular communication in cancer biology. *Clin Transl Med* 2021; 11: e636 [PMID: 34898043 DOI: 10.1002/ctm2.636]
- 9 Fan HN, Chen ZY, Chen XY, Chen M, Yi YC, Zhu JS, Zhang J. METTL14-mediated m(6)A modification of circORC5 suppresses gastric cancer progression by regulating miR-30c-2-3p/AKT1S1 axis. *Mol Cancer* 2022; 21: 51 [PMID: 35164771 DOI: 10.1186/s12943-022-01521-z]
- 10 Wang Y, Liu J, Ma J, Sun T, Zhou Q, Wang W, Wang G, Wu P, Wang H, Jiang L, Yuan W, Sun Z, Ming L. Exosomal circRNAs: biogenesis, effect and application in human diseases. *Mol Cancer* 2019; **18**: 116 [PMID: 31277663 DOI: 10.1186/s12943-019-1041-z]
- 11 Li LJ, Zhao W, Tao SS, Leng RX, Fan YG, Pan HF, Ye DQ. Competitive endogenous RNA network: potential implication for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Expert Opin Ther Targets* 2017; 21: 639-648 [PMID: 28406715 DOI: 10.1080/14728222.2017.1319938]
- 12 Xie M, Yu T, Jing X, Ma L, Fan Y, Yang F, Ma P, Jiang H, Wu X, Shu Y, Xu T. Exosomal circSHKBP1 promotes gastric cancer progression via regulating the miR-582-3p/HUR/VEGF axis and suppressing HSP90 degradation. *Mol Cancer* 2020; 19: 112 [PMID: 32600329 DOI: 10.1186/s12943-020-01208-3]
- 13 Shi L, Zhu W, Huang Y, Zhuo L, Wang S, Chen S, Zhang B, Ke B. Cancer-associated fibroblast-derived exosomal microRNA-20a suppresses the PTEN/PI3K-AKT pathway to promote the progression and chemoresistance of non-small cell lung cancer. *Clin Transl Med* 2022; 12: e989 [PMID: 35857905 DOI: 10.1002/ctm2.989]
- 14Lyu Z, Yang M, Yang T, Ma M, Yang Z. Metal-Regulatory Transcription Factor-1 Targeted by miR-148a-3p Is Implicated in Human
Hepatocellular Carcinoma Progression. Front Oncol 2021; 11: 700649 [PMID: 34660270 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2021.700649]
- 15 Hepatocellular carcinoma. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2021; 7: 7 [PMID: 33479233 DOI: 10.1038/s41572-021-00245-6]
- 16 Romano V, Belviso I, Venuta A, Ruocco MR, Masone S, Aliotta F, Fiume G, Montagnani S, Avagliano A, Arcucci A. Influence of Tumor Microenvironment and Fibroblast Population Plasticity on Melanoma Growth, Therapy Resistance and Immunoescape. Int J Mol Sci 2021; 22 [PMID: 34067929 DOI: 10.3390/ijms22105283]
- 17 Ruocco MR, Lamberti A, Serrano MJ, Fiume G, Arcucci A. Editorial: Tumor Microenvironment and Cancer Cell Interactions in Solid Tumor Growth and Therapy Resistance. Front Cell Dev Biol 2022; 10: 896194 [PMID: 35465328 DOI: 10.3389/fcell.2022.896194]
- 18 Urtasun R, Latasa MU, Demartis MI, Balzani S, Goñi S, Garcia-Irigoyen O, Elizalde M, Azcona M, Pascale RM, Feo F, Bioulac-Sage P, Balabaud C, Muntané J, Prieto J, Berasain C, Avila MA. Connective tissue growth factor autocriny in human hepatocellular carcinoma: oncogenic role and regulation by epidermal growth factor receptor/yes-associated protein-mediated activation. *Hepatology* 2011; 54: 2149-2158 [PMID: 21800344 DOI: 10.1002/hep.24587]
- 19 Bayo J, Marrodán M, Aquino JB, Silva M, García MG, Mazzolini G. The therapeutic potential of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells on hepatocellular carcinoma. *Liver Int* 2014; 34: 330-342 [PMID: 24112437 DOI: 10.1111/liv.12338]
- 20 Niess H, Bao Q, Conrad C, Zischek C, Notohamiprodjo M, Schwab F, Schwarz B, Huss R, Jauch KW, Nelson PJ, Bruns CJ. Selective targeting of genetically engineered mesenchymal stem cells to tumor stroma microenvironments using tissue-specific suicide gene expression suppresses growth of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Ann Surg* 2011; 254: 767-74; discussion 774 [PMID: 22042469 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3182368c4f]
- 21 Studeny M, Marini FC, Dembinski JL, Zompetta C, Cabreira-Hansen M, Bekele BN, Champlin RE, Andreeff M. Mesenchymal stem cells: potential precursors for tumor stroma and targeted-delivery vehicles for anticancer agents. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2004; 96: 1593-1603 [PMID: 15523088 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djh299]
- 22 Zhou Y, Zhou W, Chen X, Wang Q, Li C, Chen Q, Zhang Y, Lu Y, Ding X, Jiang C. Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes for penetrating and targeted chemotherapy of pancreatic cancer. *Acta Pharm Sin B* 2020; 10: 1563-1575 [PMID: 32963950 DOI: 10.1016/j.apsb.2019.11.013]
- 23 Jeppesen DK, Fenix AM, Franklin JL, Higginbotham JN, Zhang Q, Zimmerman LJ, Liebler DC, Ping J, Liu Q, Evans R, Fissell WH, Patton JG, Rome LH, Burnette DT, Coffey RJ. Reassessment of Exosome Composition. *Cell* 2019; 177: 428-445.e18 [PMID: 30951670 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.02.029]
- 24 Liu Y, Gu Y, Cao X. The exosomes in tumor immunity. *Oncoimmunology* 2015; 4: e1027472 [PMID: 26405598 DOI: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1027472]
- 25 Couzin J. Cell biology: The ins and outs of exosomes. *Science* 2005; **308**: 1862-1863 [PMID: 15976285 DOI: 10.1126/science.308.5730.1862]
- 26 Ni YQ, Lin X, Zhan JK, Liu YS. Roles and Functions of Exosomal Non-coding RNAs in Vascular Aging. Aging Dis 2020; 11: 164-178 [PMID: 32010490 DOI: 10.14336/AD.2019.0402]
- 27 **Dolati S**, Shakouri SK, Dolatkhah N, Yousefi M, Jadidi-Niaragh F, Sanaie S. The role of exosomal non-coding RNAs in aging-related diseases. *Biofactors* 2021; **47**: 292-310 [PMID: 33621363 DOI: 10.1002/biof.1715]
- 28 Bao C, Lyu D, Huang S. Circular RNA expands its territory. *Mol Cell Oncol* 2016; 3: e1084443 [PMID: 27308606 DOI: 10.1080/23723556.2015.1084443]
- 29 Li C, Ni YQ, Xu H, Xiang QY, Zhao Y, Zhan JK, He JY, Li S, Liu YS. Roles and mechanisms of exosomal non-coding RNAs in human health and diseases. *Signal Transduct Target Ther* 2021; 6: 383 [PMID: 34753929 DOI: 10.1038/s41392-021-00779-x]
- 30 Fang T, Lv H, Lv G, Li T, Wang C, Han Q, Yu L, Su B, Guo L, Huang S, Cao D, Tang L, Tang S, Wu M, Yang W, Wang H. Tumor-derived exosomal miR-1247-3p induces cancer-associated fibroblast activation to foster lung metastasis of liver cancer. *Nat Commun* 2018; 9: 191 [PMID: 29335551 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-017-02583-0]
- 31 Lin XJ, Fang JH, Yang XJ, Zhang C, Yuan Y, Zheng L, Zhuang SM. Hepatocellular Carcinoma Cell-Secreted Exosomal MicroRNA-210 Promotes Angiogenesis In Vitro and In Vivo. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids* 2018; 11: 243-252 [PMID: 29858059 DOI: 10.1016/j.omtn.2018.02.014]
- 32 Zhou H, Gan X, He S, Wang Y, Zhang S, Chen J, Zhou Y, Hou C, Hua L, Zhang Q, Jia E. Identification of circular RNA BTBD7_hsa_circ_0000563 as a novel biomarker for coronary artery disease and the functional discovery of BTBD7_hsa_circ_0000563 based on peripheral blood mononuclear cells: a case control study. *Clin Proteomics* 2022; **19**: 37 [PMID: 36329387 DOI: 10.1186/s12014-022-09374-w]

Raisbideng® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

WJG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 December 14; 29(46): 6076-6088

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6076

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

SCIENTOMETRICS

Hotspots and frontiers of the relationship between gastric cancer and depression: A bibliometric study

Jia-Yu Liu, Ji-Qi Zheng, Cheng-Liang Yin, Wen-Pei Tang, Jian-Ning Zhang

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Alkhatib AJ, Jordan; Tanabe S, Japan

Received: September 1, 2023 Peer-review started: September 1, 2023

First decision: October 23, 2023 Revised: November 2, 2023 Accepted: December 2, 2023 Article in press: December 2, 2023 Published online: December 14, 2023



Jia-Yu Liu, Jian-Ning Zhang, Department of Neurosurgery, The First Medical Centre, Chinese PLA General Hospital, Beijing 100853, China

Ji-Qi Zheng, Wen-Pei Tang, School of Health Humanities, Peking University, Beijing 100191, China

Cheng-Liang Yin, Medical Big Data Research Center, Medical Innovation Research Division of Chinese PLA General Hospital, Beijing 100853, China

Cheng-Liang Yin, National Engineering Research Center for Medical Big Data Application Technology, Chinese PLA General Hospital, Beijing 100853, China

Corresponding author: Jian-Ning Zhang, PhD, Chief Doctor, Chief Physician, Neurosurgeon, Professor, Department of Neurosurgery, the First Medical Centre, Chinese PLA General Hospital, No. 28 Fuxing Road, Haidian District, Beijing 100853, China. jnzhang2018@163. com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

A significant relationship between gastric cancer (GC) and depression has been found in the last 20 years. However, there is no comprehensive information that helps researchers find popular and potential research directions on GC and depression.

AIM

To determine the research status and hotspots by bibliometric analysis of relevant publications on the relationship between GC and depression.

METHODS

We used the Web of Science Core Collection to search and collate the literature on GC and depression from 2000 to 2022 on 31 May, 2023. Then, visualization analysis was performed using VOSviewer software (version 1.6.19) and the Bibliometrix package in R software.

RESULTS

We retrieved 153 pertinent publications from 2000 to 2022. The annual publication count showed an overall upward trend. China had the most prominent publications and significant contributions to this field (n = 64, 41.83%). Before 2020, most studies focused on "the effect of GC on the development and progression of



WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

depression in patients." The latest research trends indicate that "the effect of depression on the occurrence and development of GC and its mechanism" will receive more attention in the future.

CONCLUSION

The study of "the effect of depression on the occurrence and development of GC and its mechanism" has emerged as a novel research theme over the past two years, which may become a research hotspot in this field. This study provides new insights into the hotpots and frontiers of the relationship between GC and depression, potentially guiding researchers toward hot research topics in the future.

Key Words: Gastric cancer; Depression; Bibliometric analysis; Visualization; Web of Science

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Gastric cancer (GC), the most common malignant tumour in the digestive system, has the third-highest mortality rate and the fifth-highest morbidity rate among all cancers. In recent years, some researchers have paid attention to the impact of depression on the occurrence and development of GC and tried to explore the interaction mechanism, which has become an emerging research trend in GC and depression. Bibliometric analysis is a popular and rigorous method for quantitative analysis of large volumes of scientific literature data. It is necessary to investigate the relationship between GC and depression. However, as far as we know, there is no bibliometric study on GC and depression. This study shows the hotspots and frontiers of GC and depression on a global level.

Citation: Liu JY, Zheng JQ, Yin CL, Tang WP, Zhang JN. Hotspots and frontiers of the relationship between gastric cancer and depression: A bibliometric study. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(46): 6076-6088 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i46/6076.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6076

INTRODUCTION

Gastric cancer (GC), the most common malignant tumour in the digestive system, has the third-highest mortality rate and the fifth-highest morbidity rate among all cancers[1]. As the most common mental disorder, depression is particularly prevalent in cancer patients in recent studies[2-4]. At present, the discussion on the pathogenesis of depression is quite rich, mainly including miRNAs that disorderly expressed[5], receptors and their gene abnormality[6], cerebral structural and functional changes[7]. On the one hand, cancer patients often experience painful emotional reactions, some of which can manifest as depression. On the other hand, depression affects the attitude of cancer patients toward cancer and adherence to drug treatment and the endocrine and immune function, which in turn affects cancer progression[8]. There is increasing evidence that mental disorders such as depression are associated with the incidence and progression of cancer[8-11].

The current research status on the relationship between cancer and depression is still unknown. Studies have focused on research topics such as breast cancer and depression[11,12], lung cancer and depression[13], and colorectal cancer and depression[14]. In recent years, some researchers have paid attention to the impact of depression on the occurrence and development of GC and tried to explore the interaction mechanism, which has become an emerging research trend in GC and depression.

Bibliometric analysis is a popular and rigorous method for quantitatively analyzing large volumes of scientific literature data. Based on the databases of academic publications, such as Pubmed, Web of Science, and Scoups, can reveal the status, hotspots, and emerging trends in a particular research field [15]. It can provide comprehensive information that helps researchers find popular and potential research directions in specific disciplines.

It is necessary to investigate the relationship between GC and depression. However, as far as we know, there is no bibliometric study on GC and depression. Therefore, this study aims to provide an overview of the research status on the relationship between GC and depression by bibliometric analysis. Furthermore, we tried to propose the hotspots, evolution trends, and future research advancement patterns in this field. In addition, future research patterns are forecast based on evaluating bibliometric results in this field.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data sources

We selected the Web of Science Core Collection (WOSCC) for the literature collection. WOSCC is the world's leading citation database. It contains records of articles from the highest-impact journals worldwide, including open-access journals, conference proceedings, and books. Notably, the coverage of specific titles extends back to the year 1900[16,17].



This comprehensive and extensive database provides a robust foundation for our bibliometric analysis.

Search strategies

We focused on the WOSCC, collecting the literature on "GC and depression". Then, we searched and exported the relevant articles to the WOSCC on 31 May, 2023. Our search strategy was as follows: Topic = (stomach neoplasm OR stomach cancer OR stomach tumour stomach carcinoma OR gastric carcinoma OR gastric carcinoma or gastric cancer OR gastric neoplasm OR gastric tumour AND TS = depression OR depressive disorder OR depressive symptom. The retrieval time range was from 1 January, 2000 to 31 December, 2022. We included only articles, reviews, and systematic reviews to facilitate further literature content analysis, excluding irrelevant publications.

Bibliometric analysis

We used an Excel spreadsheet to collect bibliometric indicators: The total number of publications, the year of publication, the top ten countries, the Journal Citation Reports (JCR) Quartile rankings of the source journals, the top 5 citations, and the research types.

In addition, we utilized the Bibliometrix package of R-studio software to analyze the included literature data and Biblioshiny for data visualization. In this study, we examined the top ten countries contributing to the field of GC and depression and the annual publication trend for each country.

Visualized analysis

We used VOSviewer software (Version 1.6.19) for keyword co-occurrence analysis to visualize networks of keywords. The network focuses on understanding a particular field's knowledge composition and structure by studying the links between keywords in the article. By drawing the keywords co-occurrence visualization maps, we can identify the hotspots and frontiers in "GC and depression".

Classification of publications

For the classification of publications, we divided the research on the correlation and interaction mechanism between GC and depression into two groups: "GC to depression" and "depression to GC." Based on the above grouping, we used the 2022 JCR Quartile rankings to classify the publications within the two groups. The journal sources not existing in the JCR Quartile rankings were excluded. Additionally, we classified the two research groups according to the classification standard of medical studies[18], which is based on research methodologies.

RESULTS

Analysis of annual publications

In the WOSCC, we retrieved 153 publications on "GC and depression". The number of publications on this topic has generally increased from 2000 to 2022, indicating a growing interest in this field among researchers. A more rapid growth in the number of publications was observed from 2019 to 2021, with 2021 recording the highest annual number of articles (n = 29) (Figure 1).

Top active countries

Over the past 22 years, at least 21 countries have published relevant papers on "GC and depression". The top ten countries issued 140 articles, accounting for 90.32% of the total publications in this field (Figure 2A). The most significant number of publications was from China (n = 64), the total number of publications is 7287986, followed by South Korea (n= 28), the total number of publications is 1368778, and the third was the United States (n = 16), the total number of publications is 210673. From the trend of annual publications of the top ten countries, China has the most significant increase and the fastest growth rate, followed by South Korea and the United States (Figure 2B).

Hotspots and frontiers

We imported the publication related to "GC and depression" in the WOSCC into VOSviewer (version 1.6.19) software, selected all keywords (including author keywords and keywords plus) that occurred more than five times, and divided these keywords into five clusters with a different color (Figure 3). The five cluster are "effect of treatments on GC patients with mental disorders" (cluster 1, red), "epidemiological researches on GC and depression" (cluster 2, green) "diagnosis of GC causing mental disorders and the interaction mechanism" (cluster 3, blue) "outcomes of GC patients" (cluster 4, yellow) and "social support of mental disorders in GC patients" (cluster 5, purple).

In cluster 1, the high-frequency keywords are quantity of life, depression scale, gastrectomy, and chemotherapy. In cluster 2, the high-frequency keywords are risk, prevalence, epidemiology, and mortality. In cluster 3, the high-frequency keywords are diagnosis, anxiety, expression, and apoptosis. In cluster 4, the high-frequency keywords are survivors, symptoms, association, and outcomes. In cluster 5, the high-frequency keywords are adjustment and social support. These results indicate that "GC and depression" included five research directions from 2000 to 2022.

Overlay visualization is shown in Figure 4. The keywords colored purple mean the average year of the appearance of the keyword is earlier than other colors. Keywords colored yellow means the average year of the appearance of the keyword is later. Before 2012, the hospital anxiety and depression scale of patients with GC was the most concerned topic (purple). Then, researchers gradually turned to the psychological adjustment, quality of life, and diagnosis of patients



WJG https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 The number of publications from the Web of Science containing gastric cancer and depression per year from 2000 to 2022.



Figure 2 Top active countries with the most publications on gastric cancer and depression. A: The top 10 most published countries; B: Annual publication trends for the top 5 most published countries.

with GC (green). In recent years, researchers have paid more and more attention to the association between GC and depression, the mechanism of interaction between the two, and the risk factors (yellow) (Figure 4).

Baseline characteristics of publications on the relationship between GC and depression

From 2000 to 2022, the number of publications on "GC to depression" and "depression to GC" showed an increased trend. Compared with the first research on "depression to GC" published in 2004, the research on "GC to depression" published earlier, was published in 2001. In addition, the number of publications of "GC to depression" was higher than "depression to GC" before 2020 and was lower after 2020 (Figure 5).

From 2000 to 2022, the number of publications on "GC to depression" is 48, and "depression to GC" is 27. China is the most active country in both groups, followed by South Korea. Furthermore, China has a higher proportion of publications in "depression to GC" than other countries (n = 17, 63%) (Figure 6).

JCR Quartile rankings and top-cited publications on the relationship between GC and depression

We analyzed the JCR Quartile rankings results for the two groups. The JCR Quartile rankings of publications on "GC to depression" were distributed as follows: Q1 (26%), Q2 (43%), Q3 (17%), and Q4 (14%). However, the JCR Quartile rankings of publications on "depression to GC" were Q1 (43%), Q2 (28%), Q3 (24%), and Q4 (5%). Compared with "GC to depression", there were more publications on "depression to GC" in Q1. Furthermore, publications on "depression to GC" in Q4 only accounted for 5%, which was less than "GC to depression" (Figure 7).

We summarized the top five most frequently cited publications in "GC to depression" and "depression to GC", respectively. Brintzenhofe-Szoc *et al*[19], published in *Psychosomatics* in 2009, had the most cited frequency in "depression to GC" (frequency of cited = 226). Lee *et al*[20], published in the *Journal of Neurogastroenterology and Motility* in 2015, had the most cited frequency in "depression to GC" (frequency of cited = 84) (Tables 1 and 2).

Study types of publications on the relationship between GC and depression analysis

Our analysis revealed that the most prevalent research method in "GC to depression" was the epidemiological research method, among which cross-sectional studies accounted for 40%, followed by cohort studies. In "depression to GC", the most used is the basic research method, including cell, gene, animal, and biochemical research methods (Figure 8).

WJG https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Top cited list of the top 5 highly cited papers related to "gastric cancer to depression" from 2001 to 2020

Ranking	Authors	Title	Journal	Time cited
1	Brintzenhofe-Szoc <i>et al</i> [19]	Mixed Anxiety/Depression Symptoms in a Large Cancer Cohort: Prevalence by Cancer Type	Psychosomatics	226
2	Nordin <i>et al</i> [36]	Predicting anxiety and depression among cancer patients: a clinical model	European Journal of Cancer	121
3	Hong and Tian[37]	Prevalence of anxiety and depression and their risk factors in Chinese cancer patients	Supportive Care in Cancer	118
4	Tavoli <i>et al</i> [54]	Anxiety and depression in patients with gastrointestinal cancer: does knowledge of cancer diagnosis matter?	BMC Gastroenterology	98
5	Kim et al[40]	Prevalence and prognostic implications of psychological distress in patients with gastric cancer	BMC Cancer	68

Table 2 Top cited list of the top 5 highly cited papers related to "depression to gastric cancer" from 2001 to 2020

Ranking	Authors	Title	Journal	Time cited
1	Lee <i>et al</i> [20]	The Effect of Emotional Stress and Depression on the Prevalence of Digestive Diseases	Journal of Neurogastroenterology and Motility	84
2	Shi et al[<mark>38</mark>]	Catecholamine up-regulates MMP-7 expression by activating AP-1 and STAT3 in gastric cancer	Molecular Cancer	72
3	Bica et al[<mark>39</mark>]	Depression as a Risk Factor of Organic Diseases: An International Integrative Review	Journal of Nursing Scholarship	38
4	Nan <i>et al</i> [55]	Effects of depression on parameters of cell-mediated immunity in patients with digestive tract cancers	World Journal of Gastroenterology	23
5	Huang et al [44]	Depression accelerates the development of gastric cancer through reactive oxygen species-activated ABL1 (Review)	Oncology Reports	21

DISCUSSION

General status, hotspots, and frontiers in the relationship between GC and depression

This study is the first bibliometric analysis of the relationship between GC and depression, providing a potential opportunity to explore the interaction mechanism further. This study analyzed the global publications on GC and depression from 2000 to 2022. The results showed an increasing trend in the annual number of publications in this field. In addition, we could conclude that China and South Korea are the most productive countries in GC and depression. According to the global statistics of GC in 2020, the incidence of GC in China and South Korea is among the top five, and the disease burden is heavy[21]. Therefore, there is more research on GC in China and South Korea than in other countries, and the increase in annual publication volume is relatively significant.

The keyword co-occurrence analysis of the research on GC and depression revealed the distribution of research topics in this field from 2000 to 2022. Combining the overlay visualization, we could present the research hotspots and frontiers in the field. Most researchers focus on which cancer patients are often accompanied by depression and the incidence of depression in GC patients. Kouhestani et al^[22] estimated the prevalence of depression in GC patients globally based on WHO region classification. They found that 37% of GC patients were accompanied by depression. Regionally, the Eastern Mediterranean region has the highest prevalence of depression in GC patients among all WHO regions. The results suggested that depression is high among GC patients.

Depression could affect the overall health of GC patients. GC patients with depression might significantly impact their quality of life, prognosis, and survival rate[23]. Therefore, researchers have also shown significant interest in the quality of life of GC patients with depression and its improvement. The diagnosis and treatment of GC might impact the psychological condition of patients^[24]. Some interventions, such as proper social support^[25] and multidisciplinary cooperative continuous nursing^[26], could relieve the depression of GC patients.

The research on the interaction mechanism between GC and depression from the perspective of epidemiological[27, 28], cellular[29,30], and genetic[30,31]levels became an emerging research topic. This trend might be due to the many kinds of research on hot topics published during this period, revealing innovative explanations emerging from new research fields. For example, the gut-brain axis theory established bidirectional interactions among the brain, the gut, and the gut microbiome[32,33]. Furthermore, many prospective epidemiological studies have shown that depression is a risk factor for cancer^[12,34]. In addition, some studies have confirmed that depression is a risk factor for digestive carcinoma and proposed a mechanism for it[35]. These innovative explanations provided new ideas for exploring the interaction mechanism of GC and depression.



WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 The network visualization map of keywords co-occurrence in gastric cancer and depression during 2000-2022 based on VOSviewer.

The difference in publications between the two groups

This study indicated that in "GC to depression", the top five most highly cited publications are epidemiological studies, such as the prevalence, mortality, and risk factors of GC patients with depression. This result was also consistent with cluster 2 in the keyword co-occurrence analysis (Figure 3, green). The publication most frequently cited was Brintzenhofe-Szoc et al[19], entitled "Mixed Anxiety/Depression Symptoms in a Large Cancer Cohort: Prevalence by Cancer Type", published in *Psychosomatics* in 2009. This study found that mixed anxiety/depression has a high incidence of gastric, pancreatic, head and neck, and lung cancer. The second most cited publication was by Nordin et al[36] from the European Journal of Cancer. This study indicated that levels of anxiety and depression at diagnosis predict a similar status 6 mo later, and the hospital anxiety and depression scale, combined with a single question about social support, maybe a suitable screening tool for clinical use. The third most cited publication was by Hong and Tian[37] from Supportive Care in Cancer. This study showed that depression level was high among Chinese cancer patients. Patients with lung, esophagus, cervix, liver, and stomach cancers were the high-risk groups for depression.

In "depression to GC", researchers mainly focus on the mechanism. The most highly cited was by Lee et al[20], entitled "The Effect of Emotional Stress and Depression on the Prevalence of Digestive Diseases", published in the Journal of Neurogastroenterology and Motility in 2015. This study showed depression was associated with peptic ulcer disease, adenoma/colon cancer, and GC. Depression was an independent risk factor for gastric adenoma/GC and might be a cause of GC. The second cited publication was by Shi et al[38] from Molecular Cancer. This study found that up-regulation of matrix metalloproteinase-7 expression through beta 2-adrenergic receptors (AR)-mediated signaling pathway is involved in the invasion and metastasis of GC. The third cited publication was by Bica et al[39] from the Journal of Nursing Scholarship. This study indicated that mechanisms connecting depression to physical illness appear to involve alterations in the hypothalamic-pituitary axis, unhealthy lifestyle, chronic or acute stressors including posttraumatic stress, an increase in C-reactive protein in men, taking antidepressant medication, and social and emotional loneliness.

We further analyzed the publications on "GC to depression" and "depression to GC". We found that the number of publications in China ranked first in both groups, especially in "depression to GC". Compared with other countries, China focused on the impact of depression on GC patients and the mechanism of it earlier. In addition, we found that research on "depression to GC" was mainly published in Q1 journals, indicating that this research topic might become an exciting research direction in the future.

The difference in research types between the two groups

In "GC to depression", the most research type was epidemiological study, among which 40% were cross-sectional studies. For example, Kim *et al*[40] designed a cross-sectional study and found that depression is common in patients with all stages of GC and is associated with worse outcomes. Kwon et al[27] designed a case-control study and identified a



WJG https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 4 The overlay visualization map of keywords co-occurrence in gastric cancer and depression during 2000-2022 based on VOSviewer.



Figure 5 Comparison of the annually published papers on "gastric cancer to depression" and "depression to gastric cancer".

significant relationship between GC and depression among South Korean adults, especially among female patients between 60 and 69 years old of high income and living in metropolitan regions. In addition, Liu and Wang *et al*[41] conducted a prospective cohort study and found that postoperative depression gradually worsened, relating to poor prognosis, and the degree of malignancy in GC patients is positively correlated with the severity of depression.

In "depression to GC" was mainly basic studies. In recent years, there has been a significantly increased number of publications on the mechanism of depression to GC. This trend might be due to recent epidemiological evidence indicating that mental disorder is a risk factor for GC, but the mechanism is still unclear[20,42,43]. There are four basic study types in "depression to GC": cell study, genetic study, biochemistry, and animal study. This result showed that researchers mainly focused on how depression affects the occurrence and development of GC and conducted research based on animal, cell, gene, and biochemistry levels.

As mentioned above, Shi *et al*[38] confirmed the effect of depression on GC at the genetic level in 2010. Other researchers have found that oxidative stress (OS) is related to GC and depression. Huang *et al*[44] found that high levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) can activate ABL1 in response to OS. That triggered ABL1 subsequently contributed to the development of GC *via* interactions with the downstream targets and corresponding signaling pathways. Based on this study, they further explored the mechanism and found that ROS-activated ABL1 mediates inflammation by



Figure 6 Comparison of the number of publications on "gastric cancer to depression" and "depression to gastric cancer" in different countries. A: "Gastric cancer (GC) to depression"; B: "Depression to GC".



Figure 7 Published journal sources for "gastric cancer to depression" and "depression to gastric cancer" studies Journal Citation Report divisional statistics. JCR: Journal Citation Report.

regulating NF-kappa B1 and STAT3, which subsequently leads to the development of GC and GC-related depression[45]. In addition, Pan *et al*[46], based on the study by Shi *et al*[38], found that catecholamine-induced neuroendocrine phenotypes of GC cells led to depression-accelerated GC invasion and metastasis *via* the beta(2)-AR/metastasis-associated with colon cancer 1 (MACC1) axis, while beta(2)-AR antagonist or MACC1 silencing could reverse it, showing promising potential therapeutic strategies for improving the outcome of GC patients with comorbid depression. These studies built a foundation for future research on the mechanism of "depression to GC".

Research prospection

The causal relationship between depression and GC merits deeper investigation, which could yield valuable insights into the mechanisms at play. As mentioned above, there have already been population, individual, cellular, molecular, and genetic studies, and some researchers have established animal models. However, there is still a lack of interaction mechanism research on GC and depression at a systematic level. We noticed that depression belongs to the abnormalities of the central nervous system, and GC belongs to the diseases of the digestive system. However, there is still a lack of research on the mechanism of "depression to GC" at the systemic level. As mentioned above, researchers have focused on the association between the central nervous system and other system diseases. For example, Guida *et al*[31] found that changes in gut bacterial composition might cause altered responses in affective behaviors *via* several concurring cellular and molecular mechanisms. Their findings offered the first step towards new insights into microbiota's obscure role in central nervous system functioning. Extricating these pathways may lead to new therapeutic approaches in pathologies



DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6076 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 8 Classification of "gastric cancer to depression" and "depression to gastric cancer" study types. A: "Gastric cancer (GC) to depression"; B: "Depression to GC".

showing comorbidity between gastrointestinal disorders and psychiatric illness. Van Kessel *et al*[32] found that an abundance of bacterial tyrosine decarboxylase in the proximal small intestine could explain the increased dosage regimen of levodopa treatment in Parkinson's patients. This study suggested that there was an association between the central nervous system and the digestive system. In addition, Mediavilla[47] also found that the importance of gut-brain communication in health and disease, especially the orexin/hypocretin system, bidirectional crosstalk, plays a significant role in various gastrointestinal disorders.

In addition, the nervous system is essential in regulating immune responses to various diseases[48]. Reiche *et al*[49] proposed that stress and depression impair the immune response and might promote the initiation and progression of some types of cancer. Therefore, studying the bidirectional communication between the neuroendocrine and immune systems could contribute to new clinical strategies. Kuol *et al*[50] presented three approaches to the neuro-immune interaction in cancer progression: lymphoid organs innervation, neurotransmitters, and immune cells in cancer, tumorassociated immune cells, and the nervous system. Cortese *et al*[51] indicated that the interaction between nerves and immune cells is critical to cancer growth. There is an interaction between cancer progression and the nervous system[52]. Martyn *et al*[53] showed that Schwann cells, which are the most prevalent neuroglia within the peripheral nervous system, could attract different subsets of immune regulators and augment their ability to suppress the effector T cells and up-regulate invasiveness of tumor cells. These studies provided a new perspective for further exploration[54,55].

Based on this, we speculate that the researcher can also explore the mechanism of depression affecting GC from the perspective of the association between the central nervous and other systems in the future. Furthermore, providing nuanced insights into the severity of depression could enrich the study's findings. Given that depression spans a spectrum ranging from mild to severe, it would be advantageous to elucidate the varying degrees of depression and their potential correlation with the incidence of GC.

Saishidena® WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

CONCLUSION

This study shows the hotspots and frontiers of GC and depression on a global level. According to the increased trend of publications, the number of publications in the future might continue to increase. Between 2000 and 2022, China and South Korea contributed the most to the relationship between GC and depression. The "effect of treatments on GC patients with mental disorders" and "epidemiological research on GC and depression" have always been the research hotspots in the field. The "interaction mechanism between GC and depression" has emerged as a research frontier in recent years, which can be divided into two groups: "GC to depression" and "depression to GC".

The primary research type of "GC to depression" was epidemiological study represented by cross-sectional studies. In contrast, the primary research type of "depression to GC" was basic study, which focused on the mechanism, and it has shown a significantly increased trend in the past two years. "The mechanism of depression effect on the occurrence and development of GC" will be a frontier in the research field of GC and depression in the future. This study is also the starting point for further discussion. At the same time, since its mechanism was still unclear, it shows the necessity of further analysis.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Depression is particularly prevalent in cancer patients in recent studies, and gastric cancer (GC) is the most common malignant tumour in the digestive system. There is increasing evidence that mental disorders such as depression are associated with the incidence and progression of cancer. Some researchers have paid attention to the impact of depression on the occurrence and development of GC, which has become an emerging research trend in GC and depression.

Research motivation

Present the research status and explore the hotspots for frontier studies using bibliometric analysis of relevant publications on the relationship between GC and depression.

Research objectives

We focused on the Web of Science Core Collection, collecting 153 pieces of literature on "GC and depression". The retrieval time range was from 1 January, 2000 to 31 December, 2022. We included only articles, reviews, and systematic reviews.

Research methods

We used an Excel spreadsheet to collect bibliometric indicators. In addition, we utilized the Bibliometrix package of Rstudio software to analyze the included literature data and Biblioshiny for data visualization.

Research results

The annual publication count showed an overall upward trend. China had the most prominent publications and significant contributions to this field. The effect of depression on the occurrence and development of GC and its mechanism will receive more attention in the future.

Research conclusions

The effect of depression on the occurrence and development of GC and its mechanism may become a research hotspot. This study provides new insights into the hotpots and frontiers of the relationship between GC and depression.

Research perspectives

This study shows the number of publications on GC and depression in the future might continue to increase. This study is the starting point for further research on the mechanism of depression's effect on the occurrence and development of GC. Since the mechanism was still unclear, it shows the necessity of further analysis.

FOOTNOTES

Co-first authors: Jia-Yu Liu and Ji-Qi Zheng.

Co-corresponding authors: Jian-Ning Zhang and Wen-Pei Tang.

Author contributions: Liu JY and Zheng JQ were responsible for literature search, study design, data collection, data interpretation, and writing; Zhang JN, Tang WP and Yin CL were responsible for study design and provided feedback on all manuscript texts. Liu JY and Zheng JQ contributed equally to this work as co-first authors; Zhang JN and Tang WP contributed equally to this work as cocorresponding authors. The reasons for designating Liu JY and Zheng JQ as co-first authors, and Zhang JN and Tang WP as cocorresponding authors are threefold. First, the research was performed as a collaborative effort, and the designation of co-corresponding authorship accurately reflects the distribution of responsibilities and burdens associated with the time and effort required to complete



WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Liu JY et al. Gastric cancer and depression

the study and the resultant paper. This also ensures effective communication and management of post-submission matters, ultimately enhancing the paper's quality and reliability. Second, the overall research team encompassed authors with a variety of expertise and skills from different fields, and the designation of co-corresponding authors best reflects this diversity. This also promotes the most comprehensive and in-depth examination of the research topic, ultimately enriching readers' understanding by offering various expert perspectives. Third, Liu JY and Zheng JQ contributed efforts of equal substance throughout the research process. The choice of these researchers as co-corresponding authors acknowledges and respects this equal contribution, while recognizing the spirit of teamwork and collaboration of this study. In summary, we believe that designating Zhang JN and Tang WP as co-corresponding authors of is fitting for our manuscript as it accurately reflects our team's collaborative spirit, equal contributions, and diversity.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Dr. Zhang has nothing to disclose.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Jia-Yu Liu 0000-0001-6976-4568; Ji-Qi Zheng 0009-0001-9070-9894; Cheng-Liang Yin 0000-0001-8262-5749; Jian-Ning Zhang 0000-0003-1943-7045.

S-Editor: Lin C L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY

REFERENCES

- 1 Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2018; 68: 394-424 [PMID: 30207593 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21492] 2
- Freeman M. The World Mental Health Report: transforming mental health for all. World Psychiatry 2022; 21: 391-392 [PMID: 36073688 DOI: 10.1002/wps.21018]
- Stein DJ, Benjet C, Gureje O, Lund C, Scott KM, Poznyak V, van Ommeren M. Integrating mental health with other non-communicable 3 diseases. BMJ 2019; 364: 1295 [PMID: 30692081 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.1295]
- Caruso R, GiuliaNanni M, Riba MB, Sabato S, Grassi L. Depressive Spectrum Disorders in Cancer: Diagnostic Issues and Intervention. A 4 Critical Review. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2017; 19: 33 [PMID: 28488207 DOI: 10.1007/s11920-017-0785-7]
- 5 Miao C, Chang J. The important roles of microRNAs in depression: new research progress and future prospects. J Mol Med (Berl) 2021; 99: 619-636 [PMID: 33641067 DOI: 10.1007/s00109-021-02052-8]
- Wang HQ, Wang ZZ, Chen NH. The receptor hypothesis and the pathogenesis of depression: Genetic bases and biological correlates. 6 Pharmacol Res 2021; 167: 105542 [PMID: 33711432 DOI: 10.1016/j.phrs.2021.105542]
- Choudary PV, Molnar M, Evans SJ, Tomita H, Li JZ, Vawter MP, Myers RM, Bunney WE Jr, Akil H, Watson SJ, Jones EG. Altered cortical 7 glutamatergic and GABAergic signal transmission with glial involvement in depression. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005; 102: 15653-15658 [PMID: 16230605 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0507901102]
- Spiegel D, Giese-Davis J. Depression and cancer: mechanisms and disease progression. Biol Psychiatry 2003; 54: 269-282 [PMID: 12893103 8 DOI: 10.1016/s0006-3223(03)00566-3]
- 9 Sotelo JL, Musselman D, Nemeroff C. The biology of depression in cancer and the relationship between depression and cancer progression. Int *Rev Psychiatry* 2014; 26: 16-30 [PMID: 24716498 DOI: 10.3109/09540261.2013.875891]
- Jia Y, Li F, Liu YF, Zhao JP, Leng MM, Chen L. Depression and cancer risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Public Health 2017; 149: 10 138-148 [PMID: 28641155 DOI: 10.1016/j.puhe.2017.04.026]
- Wang X, Wang N, Zhong L, Wang S, Zheng Y, Yang B, Zhang J, Lin Y, Wang Z. Prognostic value of depression and anxiety on breast cancer 11 recurrence and mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 282,203 patients. Mol Psychiatry 2020; 25: 3186-3197 [PMID: 32820237 DOI: 10.1038/s41380-020-00865-61
- 12 Pössel P, Adams E, Valentine JC. Depression as a risk factor for breast cancer: investigating methodological limitations in the literature. Cancer Causes Control 2012; 23: 1223-1229 [PMID: 22706674 DOI: 10.1007/s10552-012-0014-y]
- 13 Trudel-Fitzgerald C, Zevon ES, Kawachi I, Tucker-Seeley RD, Kubzansky LD. Depression, smoking, and lung cancer risk over 24 years among women. Psychol Med 2022; 52: 2510-2519 [PMID: 33267930 DOI: 10.1017/S0033291720004390]
- 14 Trudel-Fitzgerald C, Tworoger SS, Zhang X, Giovannucci EL, Meyerhardt JA, Kubzansky LD. Anxiety, Depression, and Colorectal Cancer Survival: Results from Two Prospective Cohorts. J Clin Med 2020; 9 [PMID: 33007946 DOI: 10.3390/jcm9103174]
- Donthu N, Kumar S, Mukherjee D, Pandey N, Lim WM. How to conduct a bibliometric analysis: An overview and guidelines. Journal of 15 Business Research 2021; 133: 285-296 [DOI: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.04.070]
- Birkle C, Pendlebury DA, Schnell J, Adams J. Web of Science as a data source for research on scientific and scholarly activity. Quantitative 16 Science Studies 2020; 1: 363-376 [DOI: 10.1162/qss_a_00018]
- 17 Jiang S, Liu Y, Zheng H, Zhang L, Zhao H, Sang X, Xu Y, Lu X. Evolutionary patterns and research frontiers in neoadjuvant immunotherapy: a bibliometric analysis. Int J Surg 2023; 109: 2774-2783 [PMID: 37216225 DOI: 10.1097/JS9.00000000000492]
- 18 Röhrig B, du Prel JB, Wachtlin D, Blettner M. Types of study in medical research: part 3 of a series on evaluation of scientific publications.



Dtsch Arztebl Int 2009; 106: 262-268 [PMID: 19547627 DOI: 10.3238/arztebl.2009.0262]

- Brintzenhofe-Szoc KM, Levin TT, Li Y, Kissane DW, Zabora JR. Mixed anxiety/depression symptoms in a large cancer cohort: prevalence 19 by cancer type. Psychosomatics 2009; 50: 383-391 [PMID: 19687179 DOI: 10.1176/appi.psy.50.4.383]
- Lee SP, Sung IK, Kim JH, Lee SY, Park HS, Shim CS. The effect of emotional stress and depression on the prevalence of digestive diseases. J 20 Neurogastroenterol Motil 2015; 21: 273-282 [PMID: 25779692 DOI: 10.5056/jnm14116]
- 21 Morgan E, Arnold M, Camargo MC, Gini A, Kunzmann AT, Matsuda T, Meheus F, Verhoeven RHA, Vignat J, Laversanne M, Ferlay J, 21 Soerjomataram I. The current and future incidence and mortality of gastric cancer in 185 countries, 2020-40: A population-based modelling study. EClinicalMedicine 2022; 47: 101404 [PMID: 35497064 DOI: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2022.101404]
- Kouhestani M, Ahmadi Gharaei H, Fararouei M, Hosienpour Ghahremanloo H, Ghaiasvand R, Dianatinasab M. Global and regional 22 geographical prevalence of depression in gastric cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Support Palliat Care 2022; 12: e526-e536 [PMID: 32434923 DOI: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2019-002050]
- 23 Rupp SK, Stengel A. Influencing Factors and Effects of Treatment on Quality of Life in Patients With Gastric Cancer-A Systematic Review. Front Psychiatry 2021; 12: 656929 [PMID: 34276435 DOI: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.656929]
- 24 Shim EJ, Ha H, Suh YS, Kong SH, Lee HJ, Yang HK, Hahm BJ. Network analyses of associations between cancer-related physical and psychological symptoms and quality of life in gastric cancer patients. Psychooncology 2021; 30: 946-953 [PMID: 33760355 DOI: 10.1002/pon.5681]
- Jeong A, An JY. The moderating role of social support on depression and anxiety for gastric cancer patients and their family caregivers. PLoS 25 One 2017; 12: e0189808 [PMID: 29284033 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0189808]
- 26 Cui X, Shan T, Qiao L. Effect of Self-Transcendence Theory Combined with Comprehensive Nursing Intervention under Tumor Nutrition Education on Symptom Improvement, Nutritional Status, and Positive Psychology of Elderly Patients with Gastric Cancer. Contrast Media Mol Imaging 2022; 2022: 6084732 [PMID: 35935319 DOI: 10.1155/2022/6084732]
- 27 Kwon S, Kim J, Kim T, Jeong W, Park EC. Association between gastric cancer and the risk of depression among South Korean adults. BMC *Psychiatry* 2022; 22: 207 [PMID: 35313847 DOI: 10.1186/s12888-022-03847-w]
- Kommuru S, Ibrahim Y, Ashara YP, Singh K, Shah MP, Shah SD, Saha T. Sex Differences in All-Cause Inpatient Mortality Risk in Gastric 28 Cancer: Nationwide Inpatient Population-Based Study. Cureus 2022; 14: e28602 [PMID: 36185836 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.28602]
- Zhou Y, Yu K. Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells and their corresponding cytokines are associated with anxiety, depression, and cognitive impairment 29 in elderly gastric cancer patients. Front Surg 2022; 9: 996680 [PMID: 36386524 DOI: 10.3389/fsurg.2022.996680]
- Liu Y, Hao Y, Zhao H, Zhang Y, Cheng D, Zhao L, Peng Y, Lu Y, Li Y. PlexinA1 activation induced by β2-AR promotes epithelial-30 mesenchymal transition through JAK-STAT3 signaling in human gastric cancer cells. J Cancer 2022; 13: 2258-2270 [PMID: 35517411 DOI: 10.7150/jca.70000]
- Kang JI, Chung HC, Jeung HC, Kim SJ, An SK, Namkoong K. FKBP5 polymorphisms as vulnerability to anxiety and depression in patients 31 with advanced gastric cancer: a controlled and prospective study. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2012; 37: 1569-1576 [PMID: 22459275 DOI: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.02.017]
- 32 Guida F, Turco F, Iannotta M, De Gregorio D, Palumbo I, Sarnelli G, Furiano A, Napolitano F, Boccella S, Luongo L, Mazzitelli M, Usiello A, De Filippis F, Iannotti FA, Piscitelli F, Ercolini D, de Novellis V, Di Marzo V, Cuomo R, Maione S. Antibiotic-induced microbiota perturbation causes gut endocannabinoidome changes, hippocampal neuroglial reorganization and depression in mice. Brain Behav Immun 2018; 67: 230-245 [PMID: 28890155 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbj.2017.09.001]
- van Kessel SP, Frye AK, El-Gendy AO, Castejon M, Keshavarzian A, van Dijk G, El Aidy S. Gut bacterial tyrosine decarboxylases restrict 33 levels of levodopa in the treatment of Parkinson's disease. Nat Commun 2019; 10: 310 [PMID: 30659181 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-019-08294-y]
- Huang T, Poole EM, Okereke OI, Kubzansky LD, Eliassen AH, Sood AK, Wang M, Tworoger SS. Depression and risk of epithelial ovarian 34 cancer: Results from two large prospective cohort studies. Gynecol Oncol 2015; 139: 481-486 [PMID: 26449316 DOI: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2015.10.004]
- Chen Y, Zhang J, Liu M, Zou Z, Wang F, Hu H, Sun B, Zhang S. Risk of Developing Hepatocellular Carcinoma following Depressive 35 Disorder Based on the Expression Level of Oatp2a1 and Oatp2b1. Biomed Res Int 2019; 2019: 3617129 [PMID: 31467884 DOI: 10.1155/2019/3617129
- Nordin K, Berglund G, Glimelius B, Sjödén PO. Predicting anxiety and depression among cancer patients: a clinical model. Eur J Cancer 36 2001; **37**: 376-384 [PMID: 11239760 DOI: 10.1016/s0959-8049(00)00398-1]
- Hong JS, Tian J. Prevalence of anxiety and depression and their risk factors in Chinese cancer patients. Support Care Cancer 2014; 22: 453-37 459 [PMID: 24091720 DOI: 10.1007/s00520-013-1997-y]
- Shi M, Liu D, Duan H, Han C, Wei B, Qian L, Chen C, Guo L, Hu M, Yu M, Song L, Shen B, Guo N. Catecholamine up-regulates MMP-7 38 expression by activating AP-1 and STAT3 in gastric cancer. Mol Cancer 2010; 9: 269 [PMID: 20939893 DOI: 10.1186/1476-4598-9-269]
- Bica T, Castelló R, Toussaint LL, Montesó-Curto P. Depression as a Risk Factor of Organic Diseases: An International Integrative Review. J 39 Nurs Scholarsh 2017; 49: 389-399 [PMID: 28692781 DOI: 10.1111/jnu.12303]
- Kim GM, Kim SJ, Song SK, Kim HR, Kang BD, Noh SH, Chung HC, Kim KR, Rha SY. Prevalence and prognostic implications of 40 psychological distress in patients with gastric cancer. BMC Cancer 2017; 17: 283 [PMID: 28427439 DOI: 10.1186/s12885-017-3260-2]
- 41 Liu P, Wang Z. Postoperative anxiety and depression in surgical gastric cancer patients: their longitudinal change, risk factors, and correlation with survival. Medicine (Baltimore) 2022; 101 [PMID: 35356898 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000028765]
- Jansson C, Johansson AL, Jeding K, Dickman PW, Nyrén O, Lagergren J. Psychosocial working conditions and the risk of esophageal and 42 gastric cardia cancers. Eur J Epidemiol 2004; 19: 631-641 [PMID: 15461194 DOI: 10.1023/b:ejep.0000036806.51918.40]
- Zhang YH, Ma N, Duan FJ, Yin JJ, He G, Wang KY, Wang L, Song CH, Wang KJ. Depression and the occurrence of gastric cancer: a meta-43 analysis based on their relationship and epidemiological evaluation. J Public Health-Heidelberg 2022; 30: 1533-1543 [DOI: 10.1007/s10389-020-01469-8]
- 44 Huang T, Zhou F, Wang-Johanning F, Nan K, Wei Y. Depression accelerates the development of gastric cancer through reactive oxygen speciesactivated ABL1 (Review). Oncol Rep 2016; 36: 2435-2443 [PMID: 27666407 DOI: 10.3892/or.2016.5127]
- Huang T, Zhou F, Yuan X, Yang T, Liang X, Wang Y, Tu H, Chang J, Nan K, Wei Y. Reactive Oxygen Species Are Involved in the 45 Development of Gastric Cancer and Gastric Cancer-Related Depression through ABL1-Mediated Inflammation Signaling Pathway. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2019; 2019: 5813985 [PMID: 31396300 DOI: 10.1155/2019/5813985]
- Pan C, Wu J, Zheng S, Sun H, Fang Y, Huang Z, Shi M, Liang L, Bin J, Liao Y, Chen J, Liao W. Depression accelerates gastric cancer 46 invasion and metastasis by inducing a neuroendocrine phenotype via the catecholamine/ $\beta(2)$ -AR/MACC1 axis. Cancer Commun (Lond) 2021;



41: 1049-1070 [PMID: 34288568 DOI: 10.1002/cac2.12198]

- Mediavilla C. Bidirectional gut-brain communication: A role for orexin-A. Neurochem Int 2020; 141: 104882 [PMID: 33068686 DOI: 47 10.1016/j.neuint.2020.104882]
- Mancino M, Ametller E, Gascón P, Almendro V. The neuronal influence on tumor progression. Biochim Biophys Acta 2011; 1816: 105-118 48 [PMID: 21616127 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2011.04.005]
- Reiche EM, Nunes SO, Morimoto HK. Stress, depression, the immune system, and cancer. Lancet Oncol 2004; 5: 617-625 [PMID: 15465465 49 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(04)01597-9]
- Kuol N, Stojanovska L, Apostolopoulos V, Nurgali K. Crosstalk between cancer and the neuro-immune system. J Neuroimmunol 2018; 315: 50 15-23 [PMID: 29306400 DOI: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2017.12.016]
- Cortese N, Rigamonti A, Mantovani A, Marchesi F. The neuro-immune axis in cancer: Relevance of the peripheral nervous system to the 51 disease. Immunol Lett 2020; 227: 60-65 [PMID: 32827634 DOI: 10.1016/j.imlet.2020.07.010]
- 52 Zahalka AH, Frenette PS. Nerves in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2020; 20: 143-157 [PMID: 31974491 DOI: 10.1038/s41568-019-0237-2]
- Martyn GV, Shurin GV, Keskinov AA, Bunimovich YL, Shurin MR. Schwann cells shape the neuro-immune environs and control cancer 53 progression. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2019; 68: 1819-1829 [PMID: 30607548 DOI: 10.1007/s00262-018-02296-3]
- 54 Tavoli A, Mohagheghi MA, Montazeri A, Roshan R, Tavoli Z, Omidvari S. Anxiety and depression in patients with gastrointestinal cancer: does knowledge of cancer diagnosis matter? BMC Gastroenterol 2007; 7: 28 [PMID: 17629928 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230X-7-28]
- Nan KJ, Wei YC, Zhou FL, Li CL, Sui CG, Hui LY, Gao CG. Effects of depression on parameters of cell-mediated immunity in patients with 55 digestive tract cancers. World J Gastroenterol 2004; 10: 268-272 [PMID: 14716837 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v10.i2.268]



WŨ

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 December 14; 29(46): 6089-6091

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6089

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

Albumin-bilirubin score in non-malignant liver diseases should be properly validated

Andrea Pasta, Francesco Calabrese, Maria Corina Plaz Torres, Giorgia Bodini, Manuele Furnari, Edoardo Vincenzo Savarino, Vincenzo Savarino, Edoardo Giovanni Giannini, Elisa Marabotto

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Pham TTT, Viet Nam; Singh SA, India; Wang K, China

Received: September 20, 2023 Peer-review started: September 20, 2023 First decision: October 12, 2023 Revised: October 25, 2023 Accepted: November 17, 2023 Article in press: November 17, 2023 Published online: December 14, 2023



Andrea Pasta, Francesco Calabrese, Maria Corina Plaz Torres, Giorgia Bodini, Manuele Furnari, Vincenzo Savarino, Edoardo Giovanni Giannini, Elisa Marabotto, Gastroenterology Unit, Department of Internal Medicine, University of Genoa, IRCCS-Ospedale Policlinico San Martino, Genoa 16132, Italy

Edoardo Vincenzo Savarino, Department of Surgery, Oncology and Gastroenterology, University Hospital of Padua, Padua 35128, Italy

Corresponding author: Elisa Marabotto, MD, PhD, Academic Research, Doctor, Professor, Researcher, Gastroenterology Unit, Department of Internal Medicine, University of Genoa, IRCCS-Ospedale Policlinico San Martino, Viale Benedetto XV, 6, Genoa 16132, Italy. elisa.marabotto@unige.it

Abstract

The albumin-bilirubin (ALBI) score to assess the risk of decompensation in patients with initially compensated cirrhosis may improve their prognostic evaluation. This letter critically evaluates the research, which utilizes the ALBI score to forecast decompensation in cirrhosis patients over a three-year period. This score was initially developed to assess liver function in hepatocellular carcinoma, its prognostic utility for non-malignant liver diseases has now been explored, recognizing decompensation as a pivotal event that significantly affects patient's survival. Some concerns regarding the methodology of this research may be raised, particularly the exclusive use of radiological diagnosis, potentially including patients without definite cirrhosis and thus skewing the decompensation risk assessment. The reported predominance of variceal bleeding as a decompensating event conflicts with established literature, that often reports ascites as the initial decompensation manifestation. The letter highlights the absence of details on esophageal varices and their management, which could introduce bias in evaluating the ALBI score's predictive power. Furthermore, the letter points out the small sample size of patients with high-risk ALBI grades, potentially compromising the score's validity in this context. We suggest prospective future research to investigate the dynamic changes in the ALBI score over time to reinforce the validity of the ALBI score as a predictor of decompensation in non-malignant liver disease.

Key Words: Albumin-bilirubin score; Decompensated cirrhosis; Liver disease; Non-



malignant liver disease; Portal hypertension

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The albumin-bilirubin (ALBI) score was initially proposed to evaluate liver function in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. It proposed to validate the ALBI score to assess the risk of decompensation in patients with compensated cirrhosis. We provide a comment to highlight the preliminary nature of the evidence reported by the authors. Further studies are needed to validate the ALBI score to predict decompensation in patients with cirrhosis.

Citation: Pasta A, Calabrese F, Plaz Torres MC, Bodini G, Furnari M, Savarino EV, Savarino V, Giannini EG, Marabotto E. Albuminbilirubin score in non-malignant liver diseases should be properly validated. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29(46): 6089-6091 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i46/6089.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6089

TO THE EDITOR

We read with great interest the study by Navadurong *et al*[1], who identified the albumin-bilirubin (ALBI) score for predicting decompensation in patients with initially compensated cirrhosis in a 3-year period.

The ALBI grade was initially proposed by Johnson et al^[2] to assess liver function in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma; subsequently, it has been proposed as a prognostic tool in patients with non-malignant liver diseases. Here, the occurrence of decompensation in patients with cirrhosis is important in the prognostic assessment because after the first episode of decompensation, the patients' survival significantly declines compared to patients with compensated cirrhosis, with a median survival of 19 and 107 mo in patients with decompensated and compensated diseases, respectively[3].

We would like to commend the authors for the effort. However, we believe that some methodological issues may have limited the strength of the study's conclusion. First, relying solely on radiological tools to diagnose cirrhosis overlooks the comprehensive assessment of this complex condition, which should include clinical, laboratory, and histological data for a more accurate diagnosis and treatment plan. Hence, patients without definite cirrhosis, in whom the decompensation risk is inconsistent, may have been included.

Second, the study reports variceal bleeding as the main cause of decompensation. This result is somehow conflicting with the literature, as ascites is most frequently reported as the first decompensating event[4,5]. We observed that the inclusion criteria did not consider the presence and characteristics of esophageal varices, such as their size, presence of red marks, and prophylactic measures for first bleeding (beta-blockers, elastic band ligation). Hence, it is impossible to ascertain whether the association of ALBI grade with decompensation risk remains independent from these potential biases. As some studies previously suggested that the ALBI grade is correlated with hepatic venous pressure gradient, we believe that future studies aimed at assessing more on this correlation and clinical outcomes could be an area of interest **[6**].

Lastly, as reported by the authors, the number of patients with high-risk ALBI grade and occurrence rate of decompensating events were few. This limitation could have decreased the validity of the score in this setting. Therefore, it might have been of interest to assess whether longitudinal modifications of the ALBI score, as previously reported for other well-established prognostic indexes, could have gauged its prognostic relevance[7].

We believe that using the ALBI grade as proposed by the authors is fascinating; however, the study conclusions may be regarded as preliminary, and we concur with the authors' suggestion that the role of the ALBI grade in non-malignant liver disease as a predictor of decompensation should be confirmed in prospective, larger studies before being considered a validated tool.

FOOTNOTES

Co-first authors: Andrea Pasta and Francesco Calabrese.

Author contributions: Pasta A and Calabrese F contributed equally to the manuscript; Pasta A and Calabrese F designed and performed research; Pasta A and Calabrese F wrote the letter; Plaz Torres MC, Bodini G, Furnari M, Savarino V, Giannini EG, Savarino EV and Marabotto E revised the letter.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the



WJG https://www.wjgnet.com
original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

ORCID number: Andrea Pasta 0000-0003-1791-4506; Manuele Furnari 0000-0001-6424-079X; Edoardo Vincenzo Savarino 0000-0002-3187-2894; Vincenzo Savarino 0000-0001-6803-1952; Edoardo Giovanni Giannini 0000-0001-8526-837X; Elisa Marabotto 0000-0003-4507-8605.

S-Editor: Li L L-Editor: A P-Editor: Xu ZH

REFERENCES

- Navadurong H, Thanapirom K, Wejnaruemarn S, Prasoppokakorn T, Chaiteerakij R, Komolmit P, Treeprasertsuk S. Validation of the 1 albumin-bilirubin score for identifying decompensation risk in patients with compensated cirrhosis. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29: 4873-4882 [PMID: 37701131 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i32.4873]
- Toyoda H, Johnson PJ. The ALBI score: From liver function in patients with HCC to a general measure of liver function. JHEP Rep 2022; 4: 2 100557 [PMID: 36124124 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhepr.2022.100557]
- Ginés P, Quintero E, Arroyo V, Terés J, Bruguera M, Rimola A, Caballería J, Rodés J, Rozman C. Compensated cirrhosis: natural history and 3 prognostic factors. Hepatology 1987; 7: 122-128 [PMID: 3804191 DOI: 10.1002/hep.1840070124]
- Angeli P, Bernardi M, Villanueva C, Francoz C, Mookerjee RP, Trebicka J, Krag A, Laleman W, Gines P; European Association for the Study 4 of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines for the management of patients with decompensated cirrhosis. J Hepatol 2018; 69: 406-460 [PMID: 29653741 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.03.024]
- de Franchis R, Bosch J, Garcia-Tsao G, Reiberger T, Ripoll C; Baveno VII Faculty. Baveno VII Renewing consensus in portal hypertension. 5 J Hepatol 2022; 76: 959-974 [PMID: 35120736 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.12.022]
- Miyamoto Y, Enomoto H, Nishikawa H, Nishimura T, Iwata Y, Nishiguchi S, Iijima H. Association of the Modified ALBI Grade With 6 Endoscopic Findings of Gastroesophageal Varices. In Vivo 2021; 35: 1163-1168 [PMID: 33622916 DOI: 10.21873/invivo.12364]
- 7 Giannini EG, Risso D, Caglieris S, Testa R. Longitudinal modifications of the MELD score have prognostic meaning in patients with liver cirrhosis. J Clin Gastroenterol 2005; 39: 912-914 [PMID: 16208118 DOI: 10.1097/01.mcg.0000180640.98671.7f]



WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

WJG

World Journal of Gastroenterology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2023 December 14; 29(46): 6092-6094

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6092

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

Paying attention to the value of thrombelastography and the impact of postreperfusion syndrome on outcomes of liver transplantation

Yu-Li Wu, Lu Che, Yi-Qi Weng

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Sholkamy A, Egypt; Singh SA, India

Received: October 13, 2023 Peer-review started: October 13, 2023 First decision: October 31, 2023 Revised: November 8, 2023

Accepted: November 17, 2023 Article in press: November 17, 2023 Published online: December 14, 2023



Yu-Li Wu, Lu Che, Yi-Qi Weng, Department of Anesthesiology, Tianjin First Central Hospital, Tianjin 300192, China

Corresponding author: Yi-Qi Weng, Doctor, PhD, Chief Physician, Professor, Department of Anesthesiology, Tianjin First Central Hospital, No. 24 Fukang Road, Nankai District, Tianjin 300192, China. wyq2023@nankai.edu.cn

Abstract

Only limited information is available about the connection between massive blood transfusion and postoperative survival rates in pediatric liver transplantation. The aim of Gordon's study was to examine the potential impact of perioperative transfusion on postoperative complications and death in young children receiving pediatric living-donor liver transplantation (PLDLT). The authors concluded that transfusion of a red blood cell volume higher than 27.5 mL/kg during the perioperative period is associated with a significant increase in short- and long-term postoperative morbidity and mortality after PLDLT. However, viscoelastic coagulation monitoring was not utilized in the study; instead, only conventional coagulation monitoring was conducted. Overall, the choice of blood coagulation monitoring method during blood transfusion can have a significant impact on patient prognosis. Several studies have shown that the viscoelastic coagulation testing such as thrombelastography (TEG) is highly sensitive and accurate for diagnosing coagulation dysfunction. Indeed, a TEG-guided blood transfusion strategy can improve prognosis. Moreover, postreperfusion syndrome is one of the most common complications of liver transplantation and an important factor affecting the prognosis of patients and should also be included in regression analysis.

Key Words: Liver transplantation; Child; Blood transfusion; Thrombelastography; Reperfusion Injury; Prognosis

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Core Tip: The influence of blood transfusion strategies based on different coagulation testing methods on the outcomes of pediatric liver transplantation cannot be ignored. Additionally, postreperfusion syndrome during liver transplantation can have an important impact on the prognosis of pediatric patients and should be accounted for when studying risk factors for postoperative mortality.

Citation: Wu YL, Che L, Weng YQ. Paying attention to the value of thrombelastography and the impact of postreperfusion syndrome on outcomes of liver transplantation. *World J Gastroenterol* 2023; 29(46): 6092-6094 **URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v29/i46/6092.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v29.i46.6092

TO THE EDITOR

We read with interest the recent article by Gordon *et al*[1] titled "Perioperative blood transfusion decreases long-term survival in pediatric living donor liver transplantation (LDLT)". The original study sought to ascertain whether blood transfusions are related to early and late postoperative complications and mortality in children undergoing LDLT. The authors concluded that in pediatric LDLT, perioperative red blood cell transfusions exceeding 27.5 mL/kg are a direct cause of reduced patient and graft survival as well as an independent risk factor for death. We are grateful for the contribution of the authors, who performed a long-term postoperative follow-up and collected a large amount of data, providing important information that avoiding or reducing blood transfusions improves postoperative survival in children with liver transplantation, which can help to inform clinical decision-making. However, we believe that the following aspects need to be discussed.

In the study, viscoelastic coagulation monitoring was not used, and only conventional coagulation monitoring was carried out, and we think that this may have a certain impact on the results. The conventional coagulation test (CCT) includes the international normalized ratio (INR), prothrombin time, activated partial prothrombin time, thrombin time, and platelet count, among others. The viscoelastic coagulation test is used to measure and analyze the viscoelastic properties of blood clot formation. It involves measuring and converting the viscoelasticity produced by the interaction between fibrin strands and platelets during the blood coagulation process into digital data, which are then graphically plotted for analysis. Currently, there are two types of equipment available for conducting viscoelastic coagulation tests: classical thrombelastography (TEG) and rotational thromboelastometry. The coagulation system is responsible for maintaining the balance between clot formation and dissolution in the blood, and monitoring the coagulation process during a blood transfusion is crucial to ensure proper blood clotting and minimize the risk of complications such as bleeding or clotting disorders. Studies have shown that TEG during liver transplantation can effectively monitor the hypercoagulable state of patients and the subsequent risk of embolism; in contrast, the ability of the INR to monitor the hypercoagulable state and predict the risk of embolism is poor[2]. A randomized controlled trial showed that in patients with liver cirrhosis and severe coagulation dysfunction before invasive surgery, the TEG-guided transfusion strategy significantly reduced the use of blood products and did not increase bleeding complications compared with the standard strategy (blood transfusion guided by the INR and platelet count)[3]. In another randomized clinical trial, Bonnet et al[4] found that a transfusion algorithm based on thromboelastometry coagulation assessment reduced the total number of blood product units transfused during liver transplantation, especially the amount of fresh frozen plasma transfused. Therefore, the value of the CCT in liver transplantation is questionable; it is time-consuming and cannot fully reflect the complex changes in coagulation in patients with liver disease over time. Viscoelastic coagulation tests can provide comprehensive information from coagulation initiation to fibrinolysis, clot strength, and stability; they are more sensitive and accurate than the CCT in the diagnosis of coagulation disorders and can help to prevent complications and improve patient outcomes.

Like any other test, TEG has certain limitations. It measures blood coagulation outside the body, rather than the coagulation of blood while it is flowing within the vasculature; therefore, TEG does not reflect the function of the endothelium in coagulation[5]. In addition, the TEG testing equipment is costly and requires more professional training for operators to use it effectively. The factors mentioned above may limit the prevalence of TEG usage. However, the viscoelastic coagulation assay was recommended in the recent clinical guidelines by the European Society of Anesthesiology to reduce the rate of blood product transfusion during liver transplantation[6]. This guideline pointed out that the preoperative viscoelastic coagulation assay might help to predict blood loss and blood transfusion during liver transplantation[6].

In addition, the Gordon *et al*[1] study did not include all events that had an impact on prognosis in regression analysis, such as postreperfusion syndrome (PRS). PRS is defined as a significant decrease of over 30% in the mean arterial pressure compared with that at the end of the anhepatic phase, and this decrease has to last at least 1 minute and occur in the first 5 min after liver graft reperfusion[7]. Decreased body temperature in children before reperfusion and prolonged graft cold ischemia time are independent risk factors for PRS in pediatric liver transplantation[7]. Metabolic acidosis, hyperkalemia, hypocalcemia, and the release of many proinflammatory cytokines into the systemic circulation by the transplanted liver releasing after reperfusion are possible mechanisms for PRS[8]. PRS is one of the most common complications during liver transplantation and can lead to delayed recovery of graft function, prolonged hospitalization, and increased mortality and seriously affect quality of life in the postoperative period[7,9]. Therefore, we believe that PRS

WJG | https://www.wjgnet.com

Wu YL et al. Blood transfusion strategies of PLDLT

may have an important impact on the prognosis of children and should be included in regression analysis.

In summary, considering the advantages of viscoelastic coagulation monitoring, we should pay attention to the value of using TEG in liver transplantation. Additionally, PRS can have an important impact on the prognosis of pediatric patients who undergo liver transplantation and should be considered when exploring risk factors for postoperative mortality.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Wu YL and Che L wrote this letter; Weng YQ revised the letter; All authors have read and agreed to the publication of the manuscript.

Supported by Tianjin Anesthesia Research Development Program of Bethune Charitable Foundation, No. TJMZ2022-005; Science Technology Foundation of Tianjin Health Bureau, No. ZC20052.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no conflict of interest for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Yu-Li Wu 0000-0002-5724-9443; Lu Che 0000-0002-8582-3561; Yi-Qi Weng 0009-0004-8059-7923.

S-Editor: Ou XL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Qu XL

REFERENCES

- 1 Gordon K, Figueira ERR, Rocha-Filho JA, Mondadori LA, Joaquim EHG, Seda-Neto J, da Fonseca EA, Pugliese RPS, Vintimilla AM, Auler JOC Jr, Carmona MJC, D'Alburquerque LAC. Perioperative blood transfusion decreases long-term survival in pediatric living donor liver transplantation. World J Gastroenterol 2021; 27: 1161-1181 [PMID: 33828392 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v27.i12.1161]
- 2 Krzanicki D, Sugavanam A, Mallett S. Intraoperative hypercoagulability during liver transplantation as demonstrated by thromboelastography. Liver Transpl 2013; 19: 852-861 [PMID: 23696318 DOI: 10.1002/lt.23668]
- 3 De Pietri L, Bianchini M, Montalti R, De Maria N, Di Maira T, Begliomini B, Gerunda GE, di Benedetto F, Garcia-Tsao G, Villa E. Thrombelastography-guided blood product use before invasive procedures in cirrhosis with severe coagulopathy: A randomized, controlled trial. Hepatology 2016; 63: 566-573 [PMID: 26340411 DOI: 10.1002/hep.28148]
- Bonnet A, Gilquin N, Steer N, Gazon M, Quattrone D, Pradat P, Maynard M, Mabrut JY, Aubrun F. The use of a thromboelastometry-based 4 algorithm reduces the need for blood product transfusion during orthotopic liver transplantation: A randomised controlled study. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2019; 36: 825-833 [PMID: 31567574 DOI: 10.1097/EJA.0000000000001084]
- Kataria S, Juneja D, Singh O. Approach to thromboelastography-based transfusion in cirrhosis: An alternative perspective on coagulation 5 disorders. World J Gastroenterol 2023; 29: 1460-1474 [PMID: 36998429 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v29.i9.1460]
- Kietaibl S, Ahmed A, Afshari A, Albaladejo P, Aldecoa C, Barauskas G, De Robertis E, Faraoni D, Filipescu DC, Fries D, Godier A, Haas T, 6 Jacob M, Lancé MD, Llau JV, Meier J, Molnar Z, Mora L, Rahe-Meyer N, Samama CM, Scarlatescu E, Schlimp C, Wikkelsø AJ, Zacharowski K. Management of severe peri-operative bleeding: Guidelines from the European Society of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care: Second update 2022. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2023; 40: 226-304 [PMID: 36855941 DOI: 10.1097/EJA.000000000001803]
- Li T, Wu Y, Gong X, Che L, Sheng M, Jia L, Li H, Yu W, Weng Y. Risk factors for postreperfusion syndrome during living donor liver 7 transplantation in paediatric patients with biliary atresia: a retrospective analysis. BMJ Paediatr Open 2023; 7 [PMID: 37407250 DOI: 10.1136/bmjpo-2023-001934]
- Jeong SM. Postreperfusion syndrome during liver transplantation. Korean J Anesthesiol 2015; 68: 527-539 [PMID: 26634075 DOI: 8 10.4097/kjae.2015.68.6.527]
- Bukowicka B, Akar RA, Olszewska A, Smoter P, Krawczyk M. The occurrence of postreperfusion syndrome in orthotopic liver 9 transplantation and its significance in terms of complications and short-term survival. Ann Transplant 2011; 16: 26-30 [PMID: 21716182 DOI: 10.12659/aot.881861]



WJG https://www.wjgnet.com



Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

